
 

AGENDA FOR 
 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

 

 
Contact:: Phil Llewellyn 

Direct Line: 0161 253 7751 
E-mail: phil.llewellyn@bury.gov.uk 
Web Site:  www.bury.gov.uk 

 
 
To: All Members of Health and Wellbeing Board 
 

 

 
Dear Member/Colleague 

 
Health and Wellbeing Board 

 

You are invited to attend a meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board 
which will be held as follows:- 
 

Date: Tuesday, 12 November 2024 

Place:  Microsoft Teams meeting 

Time: 4.30 pm 

Briefing 

Facilities: 

If Opposition Members and Co-opted Members require 

briefing on any particular item on the Agenda, the 
appropriate Director/Senior Officer originating the related 

report should be contacted. 

Notes:  



AGENDA 

 

 

1   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

 

2   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are asked to consider whether they 
have an interest in any of the matters on the Agenda, and if so, to formally declare 
that interest. 
 

3   PUBLIC QUESTION TIME   
 
Questions are invited from members of the public present at the meeting on any 
matters for which the Board is responsible. 
 
Approximately 30 minutes will be set aside for Public Question Time, if required.  

 

4   MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  (Pages 5 - 10) 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 12 September 2024 are attached. 

 

5   MATTERS ARISING   
 

6   WIDER DETERMINANTS OF POPULATION HEALTH   

 

 a  GM POPULATION HEALTH MODEL  (Pages 11 - 12) 

 
Slide summary attached.  

 

7   BEHAVIOUR AND LIFESTYLE DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH   

 

 a  ANTI-POVERTY EVALUATION  (Pages 13 - 26) 
 
Beenish Hanif, Public Health Specialist has submitted the attached PowerPoint 
slides. 

 

 b DRUG AND ALCOHOL RELATED HARM PLANS  (Pages 27 - 38) 
 
Lee Buggie, Public Health Specialist to present the attached PowerPoint slides.  

 

  c UPDATE ON SMOKING LEGISLATION  (Pages 39 - 46) 
 
Jon Hobday, Director of Public Health to present the attached PowerPoint slides.  

 

8   THE EFFECT OF PLACE AND COMMUNITY ON HEALTH AND 
WELLBEING   

 

  a  BURY HOMELESS PARTNERSHIP  (Pages 47 - 74) 

 
Amanda Mullen, Homeless and Housing Manager and Ahmed Ajmi, Strategic Lead 
Integrated Commissioning to present the attached PowerPoint slides. Homelessness 
Strategy 2022-2025 also attached. 



 

9   THE OPERATION OF THE HEALTH AND CARE SYSTEM   

 

 a  BETTER CARE FUND   

 
The Heath & Wellbeing Board will be advised that an update for this item, containing 
Quarter 2 information, will be submitted to the next meeting. 

 

10   GM POPULATION HEALTH BOARD FEEDBACK  (Pages 75 - 152) 

 
Jon Hobday, Director of Public Health to provide a verbal update. Kings Fund report 
also attached. 

 

11   URGENT BUSINESS   

 
Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair agrees may 
be considered as a matter of urgency. 

 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

1 

 

 Minutes of:  Health and Wellbeing Board 
 

 Date of Meeting: 12 September 2024 

 
 Present: Councillor  T Tariq (in the Chair) 

Councillors J Lancaster, L Smith and E FitzGerald 
W Blandamer, J Hobday, C Fines, K Wynne-Jones, H 
Tomlinson, J Richards 

 
 Also in attendance:  L Buggie – Public Health Specialist, S Senior – Public Health 

Consultant, Kelly Barnett – Democratic Services Officer  
 

 Public Attendance: 

 
No members of the public were present at the meeting. 

 Apologies for Absence: 

 
Councillor A Arif, A Crook, L Ridsdale, Passman and 

Councillor J Southworth, K Partridge, K Patel 
 

 
The Chair welcomed all members of the committee to the Health and Wellbeing Board 

and informed them that Councillor Southworth and Councillor Fitzgerald had been co-
opted to the Board for this municipal year.  

 
HWB.41  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
Apologies for absence are noted above. 

 
HWB.42  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
There were no declarations of interest made at the meeting. 

 
HWB.43  PUBLIC QUESTION TIME  

 
There were no public questions asked at the meeting. 

 
HWB.44  MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  

 
It was agreed: 

 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 14 March 2024 be approved as a correct record. 

 
HWB.45  MATTERS ARISING  

 
There were no matters arising. 

 
HWB.46  APPOINTMENT OF CORPORATE PARENTING CHAMPION  

 
It was agreed: 

 
1. Councillor Lancaster be appointed the Corporate Parenting Champion for the Health 

and Wellbeing Board for the municipal year. 

 

HWB.47  REMOTE MEETINGS BRIEFING NOTE  

Page 5 Agenda Item 4



Health and Wellbeing Board, 12 September 2024  

 
 

 

2 

 
The Chair presented the briefing note around remote meetings to the Board. A discussion took 
place around the timings of the Health and Wellbeing Board meetings, and it was agreed that 
it would be best for the Board to meet both virtually and in person.  
 
It was agreed:  

 
1. To alternate meetings between in person and virtual meetings. Schedule items for 

decision at in person meetings.  
2. To explore a suitable time to hold the Health and Wellbeing Board meetings, to enable 

the best possible attendance.  

 
HWB.48  WIDER DETERMINANTS OF POPULATION HEALTH  

 

HWB.49  BURY PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2023-2024  

 
Jon Hobday, Director of Public Health presented the Public Health Annual Report 2023-2024 
to the Board and explained that the report is a statutory duty, which is completed annually. The 
2023-2024 report focused on health and wellbeing through the lens of the cost-of-living crisis. 
Jon Hobday highlighted the positive work which has been completed over the last year to 
support health and wellbeing within the borough, which included gaining a bronze award for 
being a sustainable food place, the work being delivered via the Household Support Fund, 
work being delivered in relation to the food agenda and free school meals. Jon Hobday 
outlined the recommendations within the report which included work around the anti-poverty 
strategy, family hubs, the food strategy and skills and employment.  
 
In response to a member’s question around housing and child poverty, Jon Hobday reported 
that there is an anti-poverty strategy in place to help identify children and young people living 
in poverty and a section within the anti-poverty strategy is specifically around education and 
child poverty. Jon Hobday outlined the work in relation to supporting children in poverty which 
included, identifying cohorts and support being provided to them. Jon Hobday referred to 
utilising the Anti-poverty Summit to ensure all partners can support people in need, as winter 
approaches.  
 
Councillor Tariq referred to the Household Support Fund and explained that it will be 
discussed in the Anti-poverty Summit next week, with a view of recommending using the fund 
for food and fuel vouchers. The Anti-poverty Steering Group would be used to work through 
questions around the Household Support Fund and the Summit would be used to bring 
partners to work together.  
 
It was agreed:  

 
1. To note the report.  

 
a   DRAFT CHILD DEATH OVERVIEW PANEL (CDOP) ANNUAL REPORT 2023-

2024   
 

Steven Senior, Public Health Consultant presented the CDOP Annual Report 2023-2024 to the 
Board. Steven Senior reported that the CDOP process takes place at the end of a child’s 
death process and reviews deaths of children within the Bury, Oldham and Rochdale area. 
Steven Senior reported that the annual report provides an analysis of death across a 3-year 
period and also includes key demographic data on the population of children in Bury, 
Rochdale and Oldham, as well as data in important contributors to child mortality, such as 
rates of premature births, child poverty and homelessness among families with children.  

Page 6



 Health and Wellbeing Board, 12 September 2024 
 
 

 
3 

 
Steven Senior reported that the number of rates of child deaths in Bury have been similar to 
the England average. Children living in areas of higher deprivation continue to be more likely 
to die, as are children from Asian ethnic background. Rates of child poverty and homelessness 
have increased since 2020/21 in all three areas covered by the report and the know modifiable 
risk factors in reviews of child deaths were highlighted.  
 
Steven Senior outlined the recommendations from the report which included, taking note of the 
worsening in measures of child poverty and to ensure that anti-poverty measures address 
increases in childhood poverty; reducing the overall levels of smoking, alcohol and drug 
misuse in pregnancy; that the promotion of safe sleeping arrangements is still required; and to 
raise awareness around the increased risk of death and illnesses faced by children born to 
those parents who are close blood relatives and that genetic counselling and testing services 
are being offered appropriately. 
 
Will Blandamer reported that in reflecting on the recommendations within the report, it feels 
like there is always more to do. There has been good progress made around smoking in 
pregnancy and it would be useful to share the understanding of that process and any further 
work we can do around smoking and substance misuse. Will Blandamer referred to safe 
sleeping arrangements and advised that it would be useful to bring this to a future Health and 
Wellbeing Board.  
 
In response to a member’s question around raising awareness of consanguinity, Steven 
Senior reported that work around this could be brought to a future Health and Wellbeing Board 
meeting for discussion, but firstly he would like to take time to look at what work has worked 
well in other Local Authority areas as well as community engagement.  In relation to congenital 
chromosome abnormalities, Steven Senior advised that some of the deaths outlined within the 
report are not because of parents being related, congenital abnormalities tend to be within 
communities with arranged marriages and explained that Blackburn and Darwin Council had 
completed some work around this. Jon Hobday further advised that work around consanguinity 
would be around helping people be informed but firstly ensuring that the approach is around 
this work is correct. Cathy Fines advised of work done around 10 years ago in Bury, which 
was an information campaign around congeniality, with leaflets around empowering choices 
and this is something the Health and Wellbeing Board may wish to revisit. 
 
Jeanette Richards advised around the positive work being done in relation to safe sleeping 
through Bury’s Integrated Safeguarding Partnership around the whole baby’s environment and 
referred to lifestyle issues that may potentially escalate the risks of safe sleeping. Jeanette 
Richards reported that there is work to do around providing easily accessible advice around 
Early Help and this will be discussed further at the Children’s Strategic Partnership Board, to 
understand where the issues are and how to address them.  
 
Councillor Tariq referred to the report and advised that in Bury, babies are delivered at Bolton 
Hospital as well as North Manchester Hospital and asked how the recommendations from this 
report can be streamlined to ensure that information is being sent to all social workers, health 
visitors and the information is provided across other services. In response, Jon Hobday 
advised that there are good links within the maternity services, and we will continue to build on 
these as well as partnership working.  All front-line services as a system need to work 
collectively to work out what the key things are that need to be addressed and ensure that we 
are confident as a system, it has robust mechanisms to address issues on the front line. 
 
A discussion took place around safe sleeping and the importance of providing as much 
information as possible around the risk of child death. The Board was advised of the safer 
sleeping toolkit, which is a tool for professionals to provide advice in a realistic way.  
 

Page 7



Health and Wellbeing Board, 12 September 2024  

 
 

 

4 

It was agreed: 
 
1. To note the recommendations outlined within the draft CDOP annual report 2023-2024. 
2. To add to the Health and Wellbeing Board forward planner an item around Safe 

Sleeping and consanguinity.  

 
HWB.50  THE OPERATION OF THE HEALTH AND CARE SYSTEM  

 
a   WORKWELL PARTNERSHIP VANGUARD - LOCALITY UPDATE FOR BURY   

 
Jon Hobday, Director of Public Health presented the briefing note to the Board and reported 
that nationally there will be £57m of funding available for this programme and there will be 15 
Workwell Partnership Vanguard sites nationally, with Greater Manchester being one of these. 
The aim of the Workwell programme is around trying to support people who are on the brink of 
falling out of work for health reasons. Workshops have taken place in Bury, with discussions 
focused on agreeing in principle a locality specific cohort.  The programme will start from 1st 
October 2024 and the Live Well Services will support elements of the programme and will be 
working closely with the VCFA.  
 
In response to a member’s question around the delivery of the programme, Jon Hobday 
advised that they are keen to work with all of primary care, keeping the referral process as 
simple as possible. By referring people to this programme, it is hoped that there would be a 
reduction in the demand for sick notes going forward. Jon Hobday reported of the Healthy 
Workforce Charter, which some businesses in the borough are signed up to and the new 
Workwell programme will compliment each other.  
 
In response to a member’s question around Workwell’s location, Jon Hobday reported that 
primarily Workwell is going to be provided at the ‘The Hub’ at the Millgate Centre but there is 
no reason why the programme cannot visit other parts of the borough.  
 
Will Blandamer explained that Tracey Flynn, Service Manager - Business & Investment is well 
connect to the Greater Manchester programme, as is the Locality Board. The connection 
between employment and health has been recognised by the Health and Wellbeing Board on 
a number of occasions. Will Blandamer suggested that an item around inclusive growth should 
be brought to a future Health and Wellbeing Board.  
 
It was agreed:  

 
1. To note the update. 
2. The Board agreed the approach.  
3. To add to the Health and Wellbeing Board forward planner and item around inclusive 

growth. 

 
HWB.51  BETTER CARE FUND REPORTS  

 
Will Blandamer, Executive Director of Adult Social Care presented the Better Care Fund report 
and Better Care Fund quarter 1 reporting template to the Board. The Better Care Fund 
quarterly reports will be brought to future Health and Wellbeing Board’s throughout the year.  
 
It was agreed:  

 
1. Note the contents of the reports.  
2. For the Board to retrospectively sign off the Bury submission to the Better Care Fund 

2024/2025. 

Page 8



 Health and Wellbeing Board, 12 September 2024 
 
 

 
5 

3. For the Board to retrospectively sign off for the Bury quarter 1 reporting template for the 
Better Care Fund 2024/2025. (The deadline for submission to the NHSE Better Care 
Fund Team was 2nd September 2024). 

 

HWB.52  BEHAVIOUR AND LIFESTYLE DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH  

 
There were no items for consideration under this quadrant.  

 

HWB.53  THE EFFECT OF PLACE AND COMMUNITY ON HEALTH AND WELLBEING  

 

a   PSLT WORK AND PLACED BASED PLANS IN PRACTICE   
 

Lee Buggie, Public Health Specialist shared PowerPoint Sides and provided an update on the 
work being done in the Bury West area which included, supporting addiction outreach clinics, 
vaccination pop ups in Bury West, Swap to Stop outreach around smoking, early years activity 
and collaborative working. Lee Buggie advised of future work which will take place which 
included, a joint learning/ training matrix, ensuring the community feeds into the PLST process 
and a focus on associated outcomes such as school readiness, physical activity and healthy 
weight.  
 
A member raised concerns in relation to the supplementary planning document which may 
affect takeaways opening. In response, Lee Buggie reported that in the Reception and Year 6 
measuring programme, children are measuring high and Public Health have completed work 
to pinpoint where young people are having elevated levels of obesity. One in two young 
people who are starting high school are classed as overweight or obese. Lee Buggie 
explained that public health are looking to ensure a policy regarding a 400 meter restriction 
zone around ‘A5 takeaways’ opening around schools and with clauses around opening times. 
Many other Local Authorities have already done this, and it has worked well. An informal 
public health review has taken place which highlights the markers around the supplementary 
planning document, which will be sent to the planning committee.  
 
In response to a question around the Public Service Leadership Teams work, Lee Buggie 
advised that work similar to this is being completed in every town side, each area has different 
profiles. Will Blandamer highlighted the connection between neighbourhood working in each 
town in the borough and that there is an evidence base for delivery of community care 
services within the community.  
 
In response to a member’s question regarding a GM survey around transport and exercising in 
darker nights, Lee Buggie advised that a physical activity re-fresh included a range of 
stakeholders and that colleagues from GMCA and greater sport have produced a range of 
reports around exercising in darker nights. The theme around women’s safety exercising was 
not fed into the re-fresh from stakeholders although the re-fresh speaks to Sports England’s 
overarching priorities. In response to discussions around safety and exercising in the darker 
night, a member advised that there is a need of creating Green Flag Parks around where 
people need them. 
 
In response to a question around who is subsidising the KS2 pilot for school meals, Lee 
Buggie explained that the pilot is being funded via Covid Recovery money and Leeds 
University with help from the procurement team who have brought costs down at the school. 
The pilot will be for one school year for the full term. Lee Buggie to send further details of the 
pilot to Councillor Smith.   
 
It was agreed:  
 

1. Acknowledge and advocate for placed based working with services across all PSLTs. 

Page 9



Health and Wellbeing Board, 12 September 2024  

 
 

 

6 

2. Share information regarding the planning supplementary around A5 takeaways with the 
Board prior to it going to the Planning Committee. 

3. To feedback comments around the Green Flag Park policy to the operations Team.  
4. To add to the forward planner of the Health and Wellbeing Board an item which reflects 

the work to tackle health inequality being completed across the 5 neighbourhoods. 

 
HWB.54  GM POPULATION HEALTH BOARD FEEDBACK  

 
Jon Hobday, Director of Public Health, provided an update from the Greater 
Manchester Population Health Board which included identifying population health 
at a Greater Manchester level, using the Greater Manchester Mayor’s manifesto to 
improve the quality of life and finalising the GM Population Health Board delivery 
plan.  
 
It was agreed: 
 
That the update be noted. 
 

HWB.55  URGENT BUSINESS  

 
There was no urgent business. 

 
HWB.56  BURY INTEGRATED SAFEGUARDING PARTNERSHIP (BISP) ANNUAL REPORT 

2022-2023  

 
The Bury Integrated Safeguarding Partnership Board Annual Report 2022-2023 was attached 
for information.  

 
COUNCILLOR  T TARIQ  

Chair  

 
(Note:  The meeting started at 4.45 pm and ended at 6.30 pm) 

 
 

Page 10



 

P
age 11

A
genda Item

 6a



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Evaluation of Bury’s Cost-of-
Living and Anti-Poverty 
Strategy 

Dr. Beenish Hanif

P
age 13

A
genda Item

 7a



Pre-Pandemic Challenges
Stagnation in life expectancy, the need to improve educational outcomes and persistent pockets of deprivation

. 

COVID-19 Pandemic
Revealed stark inequities. Worsening of existing problem with increase in deprivation and unemployment. Pandemic impact: long-term 

health issues, unemployment, financial loss, and business closures. Response highlighted power of communities and partnerships

Let's Do It! Bury 2030 Community Strategy
Aim: faster economic growth and lower of deprivation compared with the average by 2030. Principles focused on local 

neighbourhoods, enterprise, collaborative delivery, and a strengths-based approach. 7 overarching outcomes : Improved quality of life, 
Improved early years development, Improved educational attainment, Increased adult skill levels and employability, Inclusive 

economic growth, Carbon neutrality by 2038, Improved digital connectivity

Bury Cost of Living Support & Anti-Poverty Strategy
Reviewed anti-poverty strategy in response to crisis. Proactive support, socio-economic exclusion as a protected characteristic. 

Addressed digital inclusion, stigma, and data-driven approach. Key themes: tackling food poverty, wellbeing and poverty, finance and 
debt, adult poverty and education, work and wages, childhood poverty and education, communication and engagement, and housing 

related poverty including fuel poverty. 

Im
pa

ct
Ac

tio
n

P
age 14



Evaluation Aim and Objectives

Evaluation Aim: Examine the design, implementation, and 
outcomes of Bury’s cost of living support & anti-poverty 
strategy.
Objectives
•Assess alignment with best practices from the Resolve 
Poverty document, "Local Anti-Poverty Strategies - Good 
Practice and Effective Approaches."
•Review the strategy’s practical implementation and 
outcomes to date.

P
age 15



 Methods
Mixed-methods evaluation assessing the quality of the strategy, 
implementation, and outcomes to mitigate poverty and improve 
Bury residents' quality of life.
•Three Key Components

•Quality Evaluation: Assessed the strategy using a criterion-based 
framework against best practices, focusing on twelve critical elements 
essential for the success of anti-poverty strategies
•Process Evaluation: Conducted a document review of publicly 
available council records, an action plan review comparing planned 
activities to actual progress, and a partnership survey to assess 
collaboration effectiveness.
•Outcome Evaluation: Measured the strategy’s success using publicly 
available and secondary data, analysing key metrics and incorporating 
case studies to understand the community impact.

P
age 16



Quality Evaluation

Out of the 12 criteria from the criterion-based assessment framework 
derived from the "Local Anti-Poverty Strategies - Good Practice and 
Effective Approaches" document by Greater Manchester Poverty Action:
• 10 criteria were fully implemented, demonstrating strong alignment 

with best practices.
• 2 criteria were partially implemented:

• Prioritisation: The strategy identifies focus areas but lacks explicit 
prioritisation, which could improve resource allocation and decision-making.

• Monitoring & Evaluation: While mechanisms are in place, they require 
more detailed, quantifiable metrics for better precision and accountability.

• Improvement Areas: These partially implemented areas highlight 
opportunities to improve the strategy’s effectiveness by refining 
prioritisation and strengthening monitoring and evaluation processes.

P
age 17



Process Evaluation 
Implementation Successes

• Strong commitment and active governance; prioritised strategy across 
committees.

• Well-communicated with consistent reporting and documentation.
• Progress in reducing food poverty and supporting vulnerable groups, with 

initiatives like food vouchers and community pantries.
Areas for Improvement

• Outcome Tracking: Lacked clear measures for longer-term impact (e.g., 
improvements in food security and financial stability).

• Prioritisation: Absence of prioritisation complicated balancing short-term 
relief with systemic, long-term goals.

Key Challenges
• System Delays: Rollout of the Ascendant system and Money Advice 

Referral Tool delayed due to testing, training, and need for promotion.
• Partnership Gaps: Strong commitment and collaboration, but survey 

indicated need for organisational cultural sensitivity, skill development, and 
better decision-making distribution. Low response rate suggests potential 
engagement and communication barriers.

P
age 18



Outcome Evaluation (Key Themes)
Theme What is Bury Doing Overarching Indicators and Challenges Impact Without 

Intervention

Tackling Food Poverty

- Bury is actively tackling food poverty by distributing 9,040 food 
parcels and supporting 868 households with food aid between 
April 2022 and April 2023.

- Summer 2023 saw 1,636 young people access a variety of 
provisions from 28 providers, promoting food security and 
community support.

- Healthy Start voucher uptake rose significantly from 65% 
(2021) to 80% (2024), helping more families access essential 
nutrition.

- 32% of households in Bury still experience food insecurity, 
slightly better than the Greater Manchester average of 34%.

- 17.6% of residents face very low food security, and 12.8% face 
low food security levels, reflecting ongoing challenges in food 
access.

- Food insecurity levels could rise 
sharply, leading to increased 
hunger, malnutrition, and broader 
health and wellbeing issues 
across the community.

Wellbeing and Poverty

- 31,795 households supported through HSF providing 
essential aid (Apr-Dec 2023)

- Beacon Service reached 3,000+ clients, with 80% reducing 
medical visits and 90% reporting positive life changes (Jan 21-
Mar 24)

- 45 schools participated in Daily Mile initiative (2023)

- There’s a significant drop in low satisfaction and "worthwhile" 
scores, showing improved resident well-being, though high 
anxiety remains, similar to the national trend.

- Obesity rates are rising (67.2% in 2022/23),

- Wellbeing indicators could 
worsen, with potential increases 
in healthcare needs and reduced 
life satisfaction.

Finance and Debt

- 13,360 council tax rebates distributed (2022 data) and 1,020 
calls to cost-of-living helpline (Q1 2023) providing essential 
financial support.

- 60% increase in childcare funding uptake (2023/2024) and 
support to 36 voluntary groups through Cost-of-Living 
resilience payments highlight targeted measures to alleviate 
financial strain.

- Council Tax Support helped 12,433 residents in 2024, the lowest 
rate in Greater Manchester, indicating comparatively better 
financial resilience but also potentially underutilised support.

- Financial distress markers: Bury reported 328 insolvencies (2nd 
lowest in GM), 77 DROs (lowest in GM), and 243 IVAs (2nd 
lowest in GM), showing fewer formal debt solutions but possibly 
hinting at stigma preventing residents from seeking assistance.

- Residents might face deeper 
financial hardship, risking 
increased debt, homelessness, 
and economic instability across 
the community.

Adult Poverty and 
Education

- 1,328 learners attended Bury Adult Learning Service courses 
(2022/23)

- 875 learners progressed to further education (2022/23)
- Suggests effective pathways for adult learning and skill 

development

- 32.31% of Bury residents hold Level 4 qualifications or above, 
slightly lower than Trafford but higher than other nearby areas, 
indicating competitive educational attainment

- However, 18.54% of residents have no formal qualifications 
(2021), highlighting a need for continued education initiatives

- educational gap could widen, 
limiting job prospects and 
economic stability for residents 
with low qualifications.

Work and Wages

- Over 4,000 residents benefited from Bury’s membership in the 
Greater Manchester Good Employment Charter and Real 
Living Wage accreditation (2023)

- 176 learners from Bury Adult Learning Service secured 
employment, self-employment, or voluntary work (2022-2023)

- 126 learners actively seeking employment post-course 
completion (2022-2023) 

- Resident pay averages £610 and workplace pay averages £620, 
showing a minimal gap, indicating competitive local wages 
aligned with resident needs

- Employment rate dropped to 69% in 2023/24, down from a high 
of 81.6%, with unemployment benefits at 5.1% (third lowest in 
GM) potentially indicating stigma around claiming benefits or a 
reliance on informal support instead of formal assistance. 

- Employment outcomes and wage 
competitiveness could worsen, 
leading to increased financial 
instability and reliance on informal 
support networks, which may not 
provide sustainable assistance for 
residents

P
age 19



Theme What is Bury Doing Overarching Indicators and Challenges Impact Without Intervention

Child Poverty and 
Education

- 13,518 households benefited from Free School Meals (FSM) 
during school holidays (April 2023 - December 2023). 

- Healthy Start voucher uptake increased from 65% in June 2021 
to 80% in February 2024, reflecting growing support for young 
families.

- 20.5% of children in absolute low-income families (2022/23), above 
the national average of 15.6%, while FSM eligibility at 23% is better 
than the national average.

- Attainment 8 score at 45.6 shows slight improvement, yet highlights 
the need for stronger educational support for low-income families

- Low NEET rate at 3.9% reflects effective local support, though high 
poverty and limited FSM coverage may impact long-term prospects

- Increased food insecurity, 
educational challenges, and limited 
future opportunities for children in 
low-income families could worsen 
long-term inequalities in the 
community.

Household 
Poverty including 

Fuel Poverty

- 38 households received assistance through the Homeless 
prevention Grant, and 220 residents benefited from 
Discretionary Housing Payments in 2023, helping to prevent 
homelessness.

- 400 Winter Wellbeing Packs were distributed in Winter 2023, 
with 747 households receiving support for energy and water 
costs via the Housing Support Fund from April to December 202

- 462 residents were identified for targeted housing support using 
Ascendant software in Winter 2023/24, showing proactive 
support.

- 240 properties in Chesham benefited from energy efficiency 
upgrades through the Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund, 
continuing through 2025

- 13.1% of households in Bury experience fuel poverty (10,860 
households), a figure similar to the national average, highlighting 
the challenge of rising energy costs.

- Bury has the lowest number of housing benefit claimants in Greater 
Manchester (5,995) and the second-lowest Universal Credit 
housing element claimants (16,195) in 2024, potentially suggesting 
underutilisation of financial support, possibly due to stigma or lack 
of awareness.

- More households could face 
increased risk of homelessness, 
and fuel poverty could deepen, 
leading to health and safety risks, 
especially in colder months.

- Low uptake of available support 
could leave vulnerable residents 
struggling with housing costs, 
exacerbating financial stress and 
reliance on crisis interventions

Communication 
and Engagement 

Including 
Reducing Stigma

- 1,020 residents accessed the Cost-of-Living (COL) support 
number in Quarter 1 of 2023, providing direct support to those 
seeking financial assistance.

- COL-related posts on social media achieved a 1.46% 
engagement rate, with a click-through rate of 0.48%, indicating 
moderate public interaction and interest.

- Emails about COL support had a 19.3% open rate, reflecting 
outreach efforts through digital channels to connect with 
residents.

- While engagement through digital channels is ongoing, low click-
through and open rates suggest potential barriers, such as digital 
literacy gaps, limited online access, or social stigma around seeking 
help.

- Continued stigma around accessing support services may hinder 
some residents from reaching out, especially through visible or 
public channels, affecting overall uptake of available assistance.

- Fewer residents may become 
aware of or access COL support, 
leading to unmet financial needs in 
vulnerable households.

- Continued stigma could deter even 
more individuals from seeking 
assistance, potentially 
exacerbating issues related to 
poverty, financial stress, and 
isolation

Digital Inclusion

- 1,328 learners attended Bury Adult Learning Service courses 
(2022/23)

- 875 learners progressed to further education (2022/23)
- Suggests effective pathways for adult learning and skill 

development

- Digital Exclusion Risk Index (DERI) for Bury's Lower Super Output 
Areas (LSOAs) shows a range from 1.491 (low risk) in Ramsbottom 
to 5.967 (moderate risk) in Holyrood, indicating varied levels of 
digital exclusion across areas. 

- Higher DERI scores in specific locations like Holyrood suggest a 
moderate risk of digital exclusion, highlighting the need for targeted 
interventions in these areas.

- residents in high-risk areas could 
face increased social and 
economic exclusion due to limited 
access to online services and 
digital skills,.

P
age 20



“It m
ay be a dull grey day, but your 

team have brought some sunshine into 

it!”
 (65 Yr old Male, Recipient of Winter 

Wellbeing Pack)

Thank you so much for your generous support during what is a 

very difficult time. It is good to know that when doom mongers 

paint the system as broken, there is a place to go that offers an 

independent, but sympathetic assessment of a person's situation 

and then provides practical solutions.

 (Single parent, 6 children, severe financial hardships, rent arrears due 

to benefit cap, recipient of DHP and HSF)

“The kids really enjoyed it. They gave him a 

massive cheer when he walked in to the Rocky 

music. They asked him some really good 

questions such as ‘what does he do to keep fit?’ 

He is a local sportsman who they can relate to 

and are familiar with, so that’s why we invited 

him in.”

(Collette Howe, Head of School, Guardian Angels 

RC Primary, referring to the Daily Mile launch with 

Scott Quigg. 15-minute walk or run to boost 

students' fitness, concentration, and wellbeing)

“I found the enrolment process very easy and 
straightforward, and I received the help and advice I 
needed to get started. Not only have I improved 
academically, but I now feel a sense of 
accomplishment and pride too.”
(Amber, a young mother of two in her early twenties who 
left high school with no qualifications, enrolled in Bury Adult 
Learning Centre’s Functional Skills programme and 
became an Emergency Medical Dispatcher to build a better 
future for her family)

P
age 21



Conclusion

• Bury’s anti-poverty strategy demonstrates strong leadership and effective 
coordination, addressing immediate, medium, and long-term poverty 
challenges.

• The strategy provides a balanced approach that combines immediate relief, 
such as food, fuel, digital access, and financial aid, with ongoing initiatives in 
employment, health, financial literacy, and housing to build community 
resilience.

• Engagement with the community through events and feedback ensures the 
strategy remains relevant, inclusive, and responsive to residents' needs.

• Collaborative efforts with local businesses, health services, and community 
organisations have strengthened the impact in key areas like food security, 
digital inclusion, health, and housing.

• Moving forward, prioritising clear monitoring frameworks, reducing poverty-
related stigma, strengthening partner alignment, and addressing digital 
inequities will increase the strategy’s effectiveness and accountability.

P
age 22



Recommendations
• Set SMART Indicators: Define clear, measurable goals for all themes, with both 

overarching and initiative-specific metrics for better tracking and data-driven 
decisions.

• Develop a Local Cost-of-Living Dashboard: Create an online dashboard to 
transparently track council resource allocation across areas like food assistance, 
housing support, and mental health initiatives. Regularly update overarching 
indicators and progress in each priority area to build trust and allow for 
responsive adjustments based on community need

• Prioritise with an Evidence-Based Model: Rank initiatives by their impact, 
balancing immediate needs with long-term poverty reduction goals for efficient 
resource allocation.

• Further Strengthen Partnerships: Address challenges in communication, roles, 
and commitment as highlighted in the partnership survey to unify strategy 
objectives.

• Systematise Case Study Collection: Collect diverse case studies to gain 
qualitative insights to improve programme understanding and refinement.

• Improve Data-Driven Targeting for Support Services: Improve data collection 
and analysis to identify specific areas and demographics with the highest needs, 
such as food insecurity, digital exclusion, or housing instability. Use insights from 
local data to prioritise resource allocation, focusing efforts on high-impact areas 
and regularly updating stakeholders on outcomes to ensure transparency and 
responsivenes.

• Expand FSM Outreach and Eligibility Support: Implement targeted outreach 
in schools and community centres to increase awareness and assist families with 
FSM applications

• Reduce Stigma and Promote Access: Implement evidence-based stigma 
reduction campaigns, using a strengths-based approach to normalise support 
access. Collaborate with trusted community spaces and leaders to encourage 
more residents to seek assistance without hesitation.

• Use DERI Scores for Digital Inclusion: Target digital training and device 
distribution where DERI scores indicate high need, partnering with community 
hubs.

• Increase Physical and Mental Wellbeing Programmes: expand community-led 
physical and mental health programmes. Collaborate with local health services 
and community centres to provide affordable access to mental health resources 
and promote healthy lifestyle initiatives tailored to community needs.

• Improve Housing Stability & Address Fuel Poverty: Continue focus on 
energy-efficient upgrades and winter support, ensuring vulnerable residents are 
well-supported.

• Expand Family Hubs: Grow Family Hubs to deliver localised resources, 
supporting child poverty and family stability in neighbourhoods.

• Promote the Money Advice Referral Tool: Increase awareness and training for 
community partners, making the tool a go-to for financial resilience.

• Focus Employment on Fair Wages & Skills: Align job programmes with fair 
wages and skills gaps, offering secure jobs that meet local needs.

• Hold Biannual Partner Reviews: Conduct formal reviews with partners twice a 
year to track progress, resolve challenges, and adjust as needed.

• Consider External Factors in Planning: Integrate economic and health factors 
into strategic reviews for resilience in the face of external changes.

P
age 23



A ship battles on through a fierce storm. Waves crash against it, 
winds tear at its sails, and from the shore, it may seem as if it is 
hardly moving. But every pair of hands, every pull of the ropes, 

and each call from the captain keeps it steady.
It may look like not much is happening, but without the crew’s 
resilience, strong leadership, and everyone working together, 
the ship would be lost at sea. These combined efforts, though 
they might seem modest, are what keep it on course through 

the storm, inching closer to safe waters.

P
age 24



Thank You. Any Questions?

P
age 25



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Substance Misuse  
Bury’s Drug and Alcohol treatment pathway 

Lee Buggie & Aimee Gibson 

Bury Public Health – Healthy Place 
12/11/24

P
age 27

A
genda Item

 7b



Background  
• Drug and alcohol misuse has a profound impact on individuals, families and communities across 

Bury. It directly harms individuals physical and mental health and wellbeing, and indirectly affects 
society through wider impacts, such as crime.

• Bury’s Drug & Alcohol Partnership leads a systematic action plan aligned with the national ‘From 
Harm to Hope’ strategy, published in 2022. Four partners- Public Health, GMP, Achieve and Early 
Break lead on these priority areas. 

• To support the delivery of the national strategy, additional funding has been provided to public 
health teams through an annual uplift known as Supplemental Substance Misuse Treatment & 
Recovery Grant (SSMTRG). 

• Since April 2022, SSMTRG funding has enhanced the quality and capacity of the substance 
misuse offer in Bury. 

• Following a successful joint proposal to OHID with the other LA’s who commission GMMH, Bury 
have received an additional £717k for 2024/25. Currently, this grant expires 31/03/25, we are 
awaiting an update from OHID regarding potential extensions for the 2025/26 financial year.

P
age 28



Bury commissioned services  

• Bury commissions GMMH to deliver its substance misuse treatment service, known locally as 
Achieve Bury. 

• GMMH leads a partnership model and subcontracts the following providers – Early Break, Big 
Life and Intuitive Thinking Skills.

• GMMH deliver the adult substance misuse service and subcontracts Early Break to deliver 
the CYP element. Big Life provides assertive outreach support and criminal justice work, and 
Intuitive Thinking Skills delivers recovery-focused programmes.

• Bury Public Health also commission a range of pharmacies across the four neighbourhoods 
to provide supervised consumption and needle exchange to Bury clients. 

• Great Places provides housing support as part of the substance misuse offer. 
• Also provide Inpatient Detox and Residential Rehabilitation placements which enables 

individuals struggling with substance misuse to access specialist support and aftercare 
planning to promote long term recovery and integration into community services.

P
age 29

Achieve Bury - Substance Misuse - Drugs and Alcohol | The Bury Directory


 Bury - Adults in treatment 

• Latest data shows that 
1,195 adults were in 
treatment for 
substance misuse 
issues between July 
23 – June 24

• An increase of the 
baseline in March 2022 
(946 Bury adults)

P
age 30



Bury - Treatment progress 
• Bury are statistically 

similar to the England 
average (47%) when 
looking at substance 
misuse treatment 
progress 

• 46% of Bury clients 
demonstrated 
substantial progress in 
their recovery journey 
between July 23 – June 
24

P
age 31



Clients in service in paid employment 

• Between July 23 - June 24, 23% of 
Bury clients in substance misuse 
treatment were in paid employment 
(265/1148), an increase of 4% 
compared to March 2022 baseline 
figure

• This is slightly less than the England 
average which sees 25% of clients in 
paid employment during the same 
timeframe.

P
age 32



Bury – Admissions for alcohol specific 
conditions
• Bury is significantly better (532 per 

100,000) than the England average (582 
per 100,000) for admission episodes for 
alcohol-specific conditions for 2022/23.

• This refers to admissions to hospital 
where the primary diagnosis or any of 
the secondary diagnoses are an alcohol-
specific (i.e. wholly attributable to 
alcohol) condition and is a directly age 
standardised rate per 100,000 
population.

P
age 33



Interdependencies and Governance :  Substance Misuse - Addictions • Substance Misuse • Kumu

P
age 34

https://kumu.io/lee16/substance-misuse-addictions#substance-misuse


 Examples of Good Practice Outcomes / Outputs
Bury Drug and Alcohol Partnership The focus is to collaborate and share good practice to strengthen drug and alcohol 

activity across the borough and deliver on the local drug and alcohol action plan.

Hep-C Micro elimination in Bury Over the last three years, Achieve have completed over 1,000 tests for hep C, 
with 99% of all people who are known to have a history of injecting being tested

Bury Recovery Grant Fund Funding agreements have now been signed by the 6 x awardees and funder, GMMH, 
are awaiting promotional material from the projects to add to the Recovery Directory.

Community outreach – targeting inequalities Outreach Cafe (Radcliffe) and Huntley Mount Medical (East)

Bury Alcohol Matrix Next Slide - showcases the model and partner data 

Communities in Charge of Alcohol (CICA) Training 
Course

Bury Adult Learning Centre (BALC) delivered their first session to 5 attendee’s

P
age 35



Alcohol Matrix 

P
age 36



Any questions 

Contacts : 
l.buggie@bury.gov.uk 
a.gibson@bury.gov.uk  

P
age 37

mailto:l.buggie@bury.gov.uk
mailto:a.gibson@bury.gov.uk


T
his page is intentionally left blank



Tobacco control update

Jon Hobday 
Director of Public Health

12/11/24

P
age 39

A
genda Item

 7c



National legislation update  
• The recently introduced Tobacco and Vapes Bill is a very significant piece of public health legislation and 

is presently making its way through its parliamentary stages. The Bill intends to………………

 Make it an offence for anyone born on or after 1 January 2009 to be sold tobacco products.

 Restrict the flavours and descriptions of vapes so that vape flavours are no longer targeted at children.

 Regulate point of sale displays in retail outlets so that vapes are kept out of sight from children and 
away from products that appeal to them, such as sweets.

 Regulate vape packaging and product presentation, ensuring that neither the device nor its packaging 
is targeted to children.

 Ban the sale of disposable vapes from 1st June 2025, linked to the rise in vaping in children.

 Place further restrictions for non-nicotine vapes and other nicotine consumer products such as 
nicotine pouches.

 Introduce a new duty on vaping and increase tobacco duty

 Introduce new powers for local authorities to issue on-the-spot fines (Fixed Penalty Notices) to 
enforce age of sale legislation of tobacco products and vapes.

P
age 40



Bury smoking cessation offer 

• Public Health commissions Bury Live Well service to provide healthy 
lifestyle services which includes stop smoking support

• National OHID Stop Smoking Service Grant has focused on enhancing 
Bury Live Well smoking cessation workforce capacity

• Additional grant funding also provides targeted work on specific cohorts 
who are significantly at higher risk compared to Bury’s general 
adult smoking population, these are 
o Routine and manual workers
o SMI (Severe and Enduring Mental Illness)
o Social housing
o LGBTQ+

• Involved in national OHID swap to stop scheme, encouraging adult 
smokers to quit smoking by receiving a free vape starter quit and 
behavioural support via Bury Live Well service or Adullum Housing

P
age 41



Bury Swap to stop 
• Bury has received an allocation of swap to stop vape starter kits via 

OHID for 24/25.

• Recently changed to a new vape supplier (Evapo) which aims to 
improve the number of successful quits at 4 weeks, the switch has 
increased the starter kit supply kit from 4 weeks to 12 weeks and 
additional e-liquid flavours available to adult smokers.

• Adullam housing provide vape starter kits and support to adult 
smokers. To date, Adullam have engaged with 30+ clients who have 
started their quit journey through the swap to stop scheme.

• We have also co-designed a range of personalised leaflets which 
aim to target different cohorts- examples include health partners, 
housing services, general populations and SMI diagnosed 
individuals.

P
age 42



Targeting health inequalities 

• Bury Live Well Service have utilised some of the 
OHID smoking grant to maintain partnership 
working with Pennine Care to deliver 
stop smoking support and vaping supplies to Bury 
SMI outpatients

• Enhanced community outreach clinics with 
vulnerable populations- Humphrey House clinic 
with Achieve service users

• Working with Black Health Agency (BHA) for 
Equality, who are providing targeted work with 
BAME and LGBTQ+ cohorts across GM.

• 8 community outreach clinics running weekly 
across the 5 neighborhoods

• Looking at commissioning a stop smoking resource 
targeted at LD adults to stop smoking and raise 
awareness of the associated health harms

P
age 43



Future developments 

• NHS GM have created a draft smokefree hospital toolkit – will be circulated to Trust chief 
nurses in early November, followed by Trust Chief Execs later in the month.

• Pennine Care Mental Health trust are looking to roll out the smoke free wards, currently 
introducing vapes and NRT onto inpatient services, with an aim to develop the model and 
use across all wards.

• Public Health team looking to do some local research around other forms of tobacco 
(shisha, waterpipe smoking, snus) and create a health promotion resource to raise 
awareness of associated harms for local populations

P
age 44



Any questions 

Contact: 
J.Hobday@bury.gov.uk

P
age 45

mailto:J.Hobday@bury.gov.uk


T
his page is intentionally left blank



Homelessness and Housing 
Options in Bury

Ahmed Ajmi –Strategic Lead, 
Integrated Commissioning

Amanda Mullen – Manager – 
Homeless and Housing Options 
Service

P
age 47

A
genda Item

 8a



Regional Perspective

Opportunities

• Homelessness profile has been raised

• Housing First

• A Bed Every Night

• Working in neighbourhoods

Department for Communities & 
Wellbeing

P
age 48



Homelessness and Rough 
sleeping statistics
Homelessness Cases

• 1082

Temporary accommodation placements

• 183 cases all together. 66 are in hotels (37 families and 29 singles)

Housing Register applications

• 2865

Rough sleepers 

• 24 confirmed over the month of October 24

Asylum accommodation

• 450 asylum seekers in the borough (not refugees)

• 25 discontinuation notices received in October

• 115 Ukrainian refugees accommodated with hosts under H4U.

P
age 49



P
age 50



Main reasons of increase 
in homelessness

• Cost of Living

• Lack of social housing with high waiting times

• Expensive housing market in Bury and GM

• Breakdown of relationships
• Lack of housing options for young people
• Increase in complex needs (Mental Health, 

Substance misuse and Offending behaviours)

• Non-priority customers
• Migration pressures

P
age 51



Current 
provision

Statutory homelessness/housing options

Temporary accommodation

Housing allocations

Rough Sleeper Outreach service 

Commissioned services (ABEN,RSAP, CAS3)

Neighbourhood Housing Support

Private Rented Sector 

Asylum and Immigration

P
age 52



Bury Homelessness 
Partnership

Our Homelessness Partnership is a forum of multiple organisations 
who deliver services to the homeless community, including partners 
from statutory and the faith and voluntary sectors.

Homelessness is not just a problem for statutory services like our 
council, but for all services and the community.

Partnership pledge
We pledge that we will work to improve outcomes for homeless 
people in Bury by ensuring timely and fair assessments, robust 
pathways, high quality housing provisions, aspirational exit 
strategies and continued wrap around support.

Who attends the Partnership?
Achieve, Mental Health services, Adult Social Care, Public Health, 
Housing services, VCFE organisations, Domestic Abuse, Community 
safety, Commissioned providers, sexual health, GMCA, Migration 
support, GMP,  Commissioning service, Leaving Care Team . 

P
age 53



Homeless and 
Rough sleeping 
Health wrap 
around 
support 

Rough sleeping task and target

Hospital Discharge Protocol 

Prison Pathway Group

Transition pathways

A Bed every night (ABEN)

Migration pathways

P
age 54



What does the 
future look like 

• Neighbourhood Housing Support 
services

• Transition of ALMO into Bury Council

• Increase in temporary 
accommodation stock

• Reviewing of current commissioned 
services 

P
age 55



Questions?

P
age 56



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Bury 
Homelessness 
Strategy 2022 

to 2025 

Making life better in partnership  

Page 57



 

 

Forward 
 

Becoming homeless, or the fear that this could potentially occur, is one of the most 
damaging experiences that can happen to individuals and families. It can pervade 

many aspects of life and leave long lasting damage to prospects, potential, wellbeing 
and health.  

 
In 2020 a new Housing Strategy was agreed for the Borough of Bury which included 
a commitment to end rough sleeping by 2024.  The new Homelessness Strategy and 

Action Plan has been co-produced with the Bury Homelessness Partnership to 
deliver this, by applying the Borough-Wide ‘Lets Do it’ ethos of prevention; early 

intervention and the targeting of public service resources.  
 
Everyone deserves a good quality of life, to be healthy and safe and have somewhere 

they can call home, and this should not be dependent on status. A multi-agency 
approach and working alongside community partners and stakeholders is the only 

way that this can happen effectively and the Homelessness Partnership is vital to 
this.  
 

The strategy builds and expands on the wonderful work that has been done to date. 
Homelessness is an issue which is high on the national agenda. The ‘Everyone In’ 

response to the COVID-19 pandemic has shown what can be achieved in addressing 
rough sleeping with a joined-up response, whilst helping people in transformative 
ways. We need to continue to build on this progress and the commitments in this 

strategy reflect this. 
 
It is important to emphasise that homelessness is a much wider issue than rough 

sleeping, with many people living in precarious or unsuitable homes or in temporary 
or emergency accommodation. All of this must be considered as we work hard at all 

forms of homelessness prevention as well as minimising repeat and long-term cases 
and ensuring sustainable solutions, which focus on individual need and aspiration.  
 

The strategy is a wide-ranging and proactive response to this challenging issue, with 
the community and all stakeholders playing a vital part in helping to deliver. Integral 

to our response is involving those individuals who have lived experience or who have 
been disproportionately affected by homelessness in shaping our services and 
delivery so that they best meet the needs of those people that need them most. 

 
I welcome your support. 

 
Cllr Clare Cummins – Lead Cabinet Member – Housing 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Page 58



 

 

 
 

Content 
 

1. Introduction 
 

2. Strategic Priorities & Legislation 
 

3. Context 
a. National 

b. Regional 
c. Local 

 

4. Preventing Homelessness – Let’s do it! 
a. Prevention 

b. Person 

c. Property 

d. Promote 

e. Purpose 

f. Place 

g. Partnership 

 

5. Resources to deliver 

6. Governance, including Review and reflection 
  
7. Summary 

 
 

  

Page 59



 

 

1. Introduction 
 

In 2020 partners across Bury adopted 'Let's Do It - Bury 2030', the vision and blueprint 

of how the Council and its communities want to see Bury flourish over the next 10 years.  

At the heart of this strategy is a new commitment to prevention, early intervention and the 
co-design of solutions with communities. 

In parallel, the Council led the development of a complementary housing strategy which 

sets out the following key objectives: 

 More good quality, low-carbon and healthy homes in the borough, designed to meet 

our bespoke checklist for great places. 

 Increased affordable housing supply – through new build, leasing and acquisition.  

 A more dynamic housing market – a broader range of housing tenures and more 
tailored support for people to access a suitable home they want under any tenure.  

 Support that enables people to live well in their own community. 

 Intelligent, evidence-driven, targeted investment to improve health through housing. 

  A township housing strategy shaped to support the future of each town centre and 

neighbourhood.  

 To align with Government’s objective to eliminate rough sleeping by 2024 – through 

an evidenced approach to preventing homelessness, increasing supply of affordable 
new homes, supporting accessibility and ‘enabling support’ towards independence.  

The continued Government support, resources and funding will be critical in achieving 
this objective. 

The prevention and management of homelessness and rough sleeping in Bury is 

managed by a multi-agency partnership comprised of community leaders; service users 

and others with lived experience; the Council and Six Town Housing.  This document, 

Bury’s Homelessness Strategy for 2021-2025, has been co-produced by the 

partnership and sets out the vision for how the strategic objective to eliminate rough 

sleeping and prevent homelessness will be achieved and how outcomes for these 

vulnerable people will be secured through a proactive, multi-agency approach. 

 
2.   Strategic Priorities and Legislation 

 
This strategy aims to deliver the agreed objective of eliminating all rough sleeping in the 

Borough of Bury by 2024, by preventing homelessness and providing “enabling support” 
towards independence.  The strategy describes how the Council and its partners will 
discharge duties under the relevant legislation, which includes:- 

 
 Housing Act 1996 – Part VII 

 Homelessness Act 2002 
 Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 

 

These provisions cover people who:  
 

• Want or need general advice about housing options  

Page 60



 

 

• Are at risk of homelessness in the future  
• Are already homeless  

• Are rough sleeping  
• Are staying in supported housing or temporary accommodation  

• Are settling into their new home after becoming homeless 
 

In addition to fulfilling the Council’s statutory duties in relation to people who are homeless 

or at risk of homelessness, the partnership also provides specialist support to other 

potentially vulnerable cohorts including: 

 Victims of domestic abuse (DA). As part of a recent review of DA arrangements 

and the development of a new strategy, the provision of specialist housing for 

singles of both genders and families is being arranged. 

 Council Care Leavers through a long-standing arrangement to provide priority 

support to Looked After Children in order that these children become independent 

at the point of adult hood. As part of the Childrens and Young Persons improvement 

plan, arrangements for care leavers are currently under review. 

 co-ordination and commissioning of services for refugees and asylum seekers 

through Serco, with community support from community groups.  Serco provide 

139 dispersed properties across the private rented sector, accommodating 450+ 

refugees and asylum seekers.  

 Armed Forces covenant obligations and priority around Homelessness and 

Housing support to ex-service personnel.  

 

3.   Context  
 

3a National context 

 
During the last decade, households affected by homelessness have increased across 

England with extreme pressures on statutory services and increased demands on social, 

affordable and appropriate accommodation.  

The introduction of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 (HRA) increased expectations 
around prevention with an expanded Duty to Refer, Personal Housing Plans and greater 
expectations on Local Authorities to provide assistance and support to a larger cohort, at 

the same time as welfare reforms and cuts in public services were made.  

There were 222,580 households nationally who received homelessness assistance in 

2018-19 and whose case had either closed or reached a main duty decision as of March 

2020. 

Main duty acceptances have reduced by 29.3% or 16,560 from 56,600 in 2017-18 to 

40,040 in 2019-20. Although the number of households approaching and receiving help 

from local authorities has increased, the overall fall in main duty acceptances is due to the 

number of households who are prevented from becoming homeless or have 

homelessness relieved under the new HRA duties. The reduction in main duty 

acceptances has been larger for households with children than for households without 

Page 61



 

 

children. This is likely to reflect an increase in access to homelessness services for single 

households brought about through the requirements of the HRA. 

There has been no notable change in the number of households who are owed a 

prevention duty at first assessment from 2018-19 to 2019-20. However, there has been 

18,170 households or a 14.9% increase in households owed the relief duty and 71.0% of 

this increase is attributed to single adult households, which indicates that the overall 

increase in those who are recorded as homeless and owed a relief duty, is driven by more 

single adults coming forward for and receiving help. 

Most households with children have their homelessness application taken at the 

prevention stage, whereas most single adult households are applying for assistance at 

the relief stage, when they are actually homeless. Households with children are more likely 

to be owed a prevention duty at initial assessment (63,650 households) than a relief duty 

(33,530 households), which suggests that more families are receiving help earlier. 

Of the households that were owed a duty in 2019-20, those that were owed a prevention 

duty were more likely (58.5%) to have an accommodation secured outcome than 

households owed an initial relief duty (40.0%). 

Between 1 April and 30 June 2020, 63,650 households were owed a homelessness duty 

which has decreased by 11% from the same time in 2019. The ‘Everyone In’ scheme has 

had positive effects. By the end of September 2020, nearly 30,000 people in England had 

been moved from the streets or out of unsafe accommodation. 

Single adult households are the largest group of households owed a prevention or relief 

duty, representing 60.1% of all households who had a duty accepted. Single adult 

households are more likely to access support when they are already homeless than when 

they are threatened with homelessness, 99,910 or 57.6% of single adults are initially 

accepted under the relief duty 

However, changes in the housing market and economic conditions in England, will mean 

a greater need to ensures prevention services are working for the community, in an 

efficient and targeted way.  

The COVID-19 pandemic has absolutely changed the landscape of homelessness, 

partnership working and the economic climate.  

This demand has contributed to the already difficult climate of rents in the private-rented 

sector increasing, and demand for social affordable housing outstripping supply. 

Recent announcements by Government have reinforced their commitment to ending 

rough sleeping but also wider homelessness with increased funding of circa £639m by 

2024/25. We will need to maximise these future funding opportunities for the benefit of 

Bury.  

3b  Regional context 

The Greater Manchester (GM) Combined Authority co-ordinates the partnership of all 10 

GM Local Authorities to maximise expertise, knowledge and cascade good practice for 

the benefit of our customers and to end Homelessness in the region. 

Page 62



 

 

Recently and over the past several years the following main strategy and projects have 

been developed and delivered collectively.  This includes:  

GM homeless prevention strategy (2021 to 2026) 

The Greater Manchester Homeless Prevention strategy has 5 defined missions:-  

 Everyone can access and sustain a home that is safe, decent, accessible and affordable            

 Everyone leaves our places of care with a safe place to go.  

 Everyone can access quality advice, advocacy and support to prevent homelessness.  

 People experiencing homelessness have respite, recovery and re-connection support.  

 Homelessness is never an entrenched or repeat experience. 

The GM strategic objectives are integrated within the Bury’s local housing and homeless 

strategies.  Through this overarching alignment the Bury team is able to access regional 

expertise and funding. 

Youth Homelessness Prevention Pathfinder (2021) 

The objective of the GM Youth Homelessness Prevention programme is to identify young 

people in transient and persistent forms of homelessness and associated risks. This 

programme is an outcomes based contract (Social Impact Bond) for 1,500 young people 

across GM including Bury, using £5m of funding across the region to deliver:- 

 personalised support plans and follow ups 

 Homelessness prevention via suitable new or maintained accommodation, sustained for 

6 months 

 Self-determined personal outcomes. 

The pathfinder will run from January 2022 – December 2024 and is integrated into the 

Local Housing Options statutory homeless prevention offer.  

ABEN (A Bed for Every Night) 

A Bed Every Night (ABEN) is a Greater Manchester-wide response, which provides 

accommodation and support for people experiencing rough sleeping, or at imminent risk, 

who have no statutory accommodation options open to them. ABEN is now in its 4 year 

of delivery. 

Initially developed as an additional service in the winter months, ABEN has grown to 

deliver an essential accommodation option for people experiencing rough sleeping, all 

year round.   

Funding has been secured for the next 3 years from April 2022 to March 2025.  This allows 

Bury to commission 25 individual self-contained units with support for our rough sleepers 

and to develop pathways into longer term permanent, affordable and sustained 

accommodation to help break the cycle of homelessness. 

 

Page 63



 

 

 

Housing First 

Housing First is an evidence-based approach, which uses housing as a platform to enable 

individuals with multiple and complex needs to begin recovery and move away from 

homelessness. 

The Greater Manchester Housing First (GMHF) pilot was commissioned for three years 

by the Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) with funding from Ministry of 

Homes, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG). 

The Pilot launched in April 2019 with the aim of rehousing more than 300 people, over the 

three years, who are homeless or at the risk of being homeless across all 10 Greater 

Manchester Boroughs. Further funding has been agreed and the current specification is 

currently being developed. 

GMHF is a partnership between 12 organisations across Greater Manchester. 

Delivery is split into 4 zones with Bury in Zone B with Bolton and Rochdale.  

Housing first focuses on the most entrenched rough sleepers to provide wrap around 

support to ensure accommodation is sustained. 

Since 2019 we have referred 18 entrenched rough sleeper into this programme. 

 

3c Local Context & Demands  

Over the past decade Bury has seen a gradual increase in homeless cases within the 

Borough but data shows greater increases over the past 3 years. This increase is consistent 

with national and regional trends and is mainly due to: 

 the increasing expectation on Local Authorities through Homeless Reduction Act 

2017 to prevent homelessness but also provide greater support and advice 

 The outbreak of Covid 19 since March 2020.  In particular, through the ‘Everyone in’ 

and then ‘Keep them off the streets’ initiatives, non-statutory emergency homeless 

accommodation for rough sleepers has increased by 455% over the past year alone, 

with a similar requirement to source the equivalent additional move on properties.  

A further key issue within Bury is limited access to affordable housing and the small and 

high-cost private rented sector. Housing supply issues constrain both move-on options for 

people in emergency accommodation and the opportunities for people to access and 

maintain independent affordable housing. 

The impact of these issues on statutory and non-statutory homelessness demand in Bury 

is described below. 

Rough sleeping – (non-statutory demand) 

Local intelligence suggests that historically (prior to 2018) Bury has had around 10 rough 

sleepers at any one time living in the Borough. 

Page 64



 

 

The Council introduced a Rough Sleeping outreach service in March 2020 dedicating 

assistance to those rough sleeping. On 27th March 2020 the national ‘Everyone In’ 

initiative was implemented, which required all rough sleepers to be accommodated during 

the COVID-19 pandemic.  In response, an additional 10 bed spaces were commissioned 

in addition to the existing ABEN provision described above.  

During 2020-21, collectively 316 rough sleepers were supported by the service and 79 

individually. The Council has now commissioned 40 individual and supported bed spaces 

and the service is always at capacity.  

 

 
 

Statutory Homelessness cases  

The number of statutory Homeless cases which require support has increased by 230% 

over the last 2 years.  Recent volumes further increased when the eviction embargo and 

wider social restrictions which were implemented during the pandemic were lifted.  

10 12 12 15
6 3

20 21 21
32

45 43 43 39 41
48 44 47 49

67 68

50

71

Number of rough sleepers being 

supported

10
15

30

40

NOV 18 APR 20 JUNE 20 JULY 21

Number of supported bedspaces 

commissioned for rough sleepers

Page 65



 

 

 

The number of new cases has risen over the last 18 months and is now on average 300 

a month.  The increase is due to the numbers of people who are homeless or threatened 

with homelessness because of the effects of COVID-19 and the fact that cases remain 

open longer whilst officers work to find a solution. 

 
 

 
The number of households in temporary accommodation has almost doubled in the last 

12 months. The Council manages a mix of 90 dispersed houses, maisonettes and flats to 

meet this demand. This portfolio provides a total of 320 bed spaces when at full capacity 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

A
p
r-

1
7

Ju
n
-1

7

A
u
g-

1
7

O
ct

-1
7

D
e
c-

1
7

F
eb

-1
8

A
p
r-

1
8

Ju
n
-1

8

A
u
g-

1
8

O
ct

-1
8

D
e
c-

1
8

F
eb

-1
9

A
p
r-

1
9

Ju
n
-1

9

A
u
g-

1
9

O
ct

-1
9

D
e
c-

1
9

F
eb

-2
0

A
p
r-

2
0

Ju
n
-2

0

A
u
g-

2
0

O
ct

-2
0

D
e
c-

2
0

F
eb

-2
1

A
p
r-

2
1

Ju
n
-2

1

A
u
g-

2
1

New cases  opened

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

Cases open on last day of month

Page 66



 

 

 
 Number not available for April 18 due to crossing over to a new system 

 

Between April and June 2020, Bury’s choice-based lettings systems was placed on hold 
due to COVID-19. Properties that were ready to let were allocated to households in 

temporary accommodation, to help the Council relieve the pressure on those in temporary 
housing. The number coming into temporary accommodation significantly dropped during 
this period to assist with capacity and future demand once Covid restrictions ended.   

 

 
 

 
 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

A
p
r-

1
7

Ju
n
-1

7

A
u
g-

1
7

O
ct

-1
7

D
e
c-

1
7

F
eb

-1
8

A
p
r-

1
8

Ju
n
-1

8

A
u
g-

1
8

O
ct

-1
8

D
e
c-

1
8

F
eb

-1
9

A
p
r-

1
9

Ju
n
-1

9

A
u
g-

1
9

O
ct

-1
9

D
e
c-

1
9

F
eb

-2
0

A
p
r-

2
0

Ju
n
-2

0

A
u
g-

2
0

O
ct

-2
0

D
e
c-

2
0

F
eb

-2
1

A
p
r-

2
1

Ju
n
-2

1

A
u
g-

2
1

Number in temp on last day of month

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

A
p
r-

1
7

Ju
n
-1

7

A
u
g-

1
7

O
ct

-1
7

D
e
c-

1
7

F
eb

-1
8

A
p
r-

1
8

Ju
n
-1

8

A
u
g-

1
8

O
ct

-1
8

D
e
c-

1
8

F
eb

-1
9

A
p
r-

1
9

Ju
n
-1

9

A
u
g-

1
9

O
ct

-1
9

D
e
c-

1
9

F
eb

-2
0

A
p
r-

2
0

Ju
n
-2

0

A
u
g-

2
0

O
ct

-2
0

D
e
c-

2
0

F
eb

-2
1

A
p
r-

2
1

Ju
n
-2

1

A
u
g-

2
1

Households coming into temp

Numbers coming into temp

0
5

10
15
20
25
30

A
p
r-

1
7

Ju
n
-1

7

A
u
g-

1
7

O
ct

-1
7

D
e
c-

1
7

F
eb

-1
8

A
p
r-

1
8

Ju
n
-1

8

A
u
g-

1
8

O
ct

-1
8

D
e
c-

1
8

F
eb

-1
9

A
p
r-

1
9

Ju
n
-1

9

A
u
g-

1
9

O
ct

-1
9

D
e
c-

1
9

F
eb

-2
0

A
p
r-

2
0

Ju
n
-2

0

A
u
g-

2
0

O
ct

-2
0

D
e
c-

2
0

F
eb

-2
1

A
p
r-

2
1

Ju
n
-2

1

A
u
g-

2
1

Households leaving temp

Numbers moving on from temp

Page 67



 

 

Household size is having an impact on households remaining in temp due to the lack of 
larger family homes for move on. There are currently 77 households in temporary 

accommodation, 60 families with a total of 118 children and 17 single people. 
 

 
Demand for social housing  

Social housing demands far exceeds supply. General Housing demand in the Borough 

has increased by 19% in applicants on the waiting list over the past year with average wait 

of 421 days. This does not factor the increasing homeless demands on social housing.  

 
Number of 

applicants 

Average waiting time 

(days) 

1 Bed 783 361 

2 Bed 402 426 

3 Bed 319 532 

4 Bed 70 679 

5 Bed 11 824 

 

Asylum & Immigration   

Greater Manchester is the largest asylum dispersal conurbation in the UK.  Bury is currently 

supporting a number of schemes designed to improve outcomes for refugees, including: 

 a local response to the Afghan asylum crisis with partners and stakeholders.   Bury 

has pledged 10 properties, housing 30-40 people, for this community 

 Contributing to a Greater-Manchester led programme RTOF (Refugee transitions 

Outcomes fund), which is seeking to improve outcomes for refugee individuals and 

families in relation to housing and employment in particular.  The programme is a 

keyworker-based approach to develop a better understanding of new people and 

communities and ensure appropriate referrals into substantive services including 

housing, employment, education and health 

 Long standing support to unaccompanied children seeking asylum, to ensure they 

are supported as Looked After Children and access the education system through 

the virtual School or ESOL courses at a local college; access to an enhanced health 

screening assessment and a suitable housing offer in line with the Care Leaver offer.  

Bury has always supported this scheme on a voluntary basis but the requirement 

has now become law through the National Transfer Scheme. 

  

Page 68



 

 

4.  Preventing Homelessness – Let’s do it! 

The Homeless Reduction Act 2017 requires local authorities to take a preventative 

approach to managing homelessness. Homeless prevention and meaningful response can 

only be achieved on a system-wide, multi-agency basis.  The Homeless partnership has 

therefore worked as a collective to agree the following seven key themes to drive its work:- 

 Prevention 

 Person 

 Property 

 Promotion 

 Purpose 

 Place 

 Partnership 

 

4a    Prevention  

Preventing and stopping both statutory and non-statutory Homelessness, through 

early and targeted intervention in the known risk factors associated with 

homelessness.  

Priorities within this strategy to achieve this include: 

 Act faster to prevent people losing their homes 

 Specific awareness raising for young people around homelessness 

 Promote in schools and colleges life skills and managing debt.  

 Earlier and ongoing tenancy sustainment for people at risk of homelessness, through 

new networks of public services and community groups 

 Performance measured correctly for local needs, as well as national and regional.  

 Prevent people being discharged from hospital before housing option in place. 

 Resolutions to the challenges created by welfare reform.   

 Strengthen Private Rented Sector (PRS) landlord support, advice and assistance to 

avoid S21 notices and evictions.   

 A clear plan to be ready for people - ‘in-reach”’ prevention work (how to manage a 

tenancy) with prisons / prison liaison 

 Training offers for all frontline staff to address barriers to housing, including debt 

management.  

 Ensure Asylum and Refugee community are given early housing options. 

 Maximise funding opportunities to create capacity and new initiatives. 

 

4b    Person 

Identifying and then providing person-centred support with wrap around provision. 

Priorities within this strategy to achieve this include: 

 Complex needs of all homeless people to be identified and be met including bespoke 

offers for care leavers; asylum seekers and refugees 

 “Keyworker” ie One Worker approach  

Page 69



 

 

 Whole family approach to support households at risk 

 Encourage co-writing of support plans and packages 

 Greater awareness and access of services available for homeless 

 Peer support delivered by people with lived experience 

 Produce and provide easy to read housing advice in different formats.  

 Health / employment & training opportunities 

 Act faster and sensitively to prevent homelessness 

 Reducing impact of homelessness on LGBT+ community 

 Joined up public service approach with a neighbourhood-based offer for 

homelessness aligned to ‘Lets Do it’. 

 

4c     Property 

Increasing access to permanent and temporary affordable, sustainable housing 

provision and support when required.  Move on accommodation that maximises all 

opportunities in both the social and private sectors. 

Priorities within this strategy to achieve this include: 

 Influence investments for what is needed in Bury for social housing and 

accommodation 

 Develop the Private Rented Sector (PRS) in the borough 

 Range of accessible housing for people at all stages of the housing market and on all 

incomes, including the provision of supported accommodation 

 Develop different models of temporary accommodation 

 Maximise opportunities from Housing strategy delivery of social and affordable 

housing delivery with timescales 

 Development of the Ethical Lettings Agency offer 

 Production of a tenancy sustainment strategy that applies across the Borough 

 

4d    Promotion 

Proactive promotion and awareness of Homeless provision and services across the 

Borough including successes and achievements to ensure a culture that Homeless 

is everyone’s responsibility 

Priorities within this strategy to achieve this include: 

 Celebrate good practice and achievements of partners and service users in Bury 

 Promote services to Schools and Colleges 

 Engage business community to recognise challenges of homelessness, sponsorship 

and investment 

 Promote innovation and new ideas 

 Campaign to improve policies, services and attitudes to end homelessness.  

 Awareness building of homelessness challenges and impact 

 

 

 

Page 70



 

 

4e    Purpose 

Giving homeless people a purpose and sense to improve their lives through 

meaningful interventions with a co-design approach. 

Priorities within this strategy to achieve this include: 

 Connect clients at risk to the Community Hub network, to access activities and 

engagement opportunities which will help clients to create a sense of purpose to 

improve their lives and build up inner strength 

 Co-Production opportunities to drive ownership and give a sense of purpose 

 Peer Mentoring and Peer Training programme 

 

4f     Place 

Neighbourhood integration of service delivery. Public services, people, 

communities and businesses coming together based on co-design and 

accountability for shared decision making and a Neighbourhood hub approach. 

Priorities within this strategy to achieve this include: 

 Integration of homeless services into multi-agency neighbourhood hub working 

 Positive sense of identity and belonging to the community 

 Define ‘Place’ in context of homelessness 

 Greater involvement with communities to address homelessness 

 Develop of positive ‘Intentional Communities’, defined by commitments, developing 

community spaces, peer support, giving back, on fundraising and community 

development 

 

4g    Partnership 

To continue to deliver homeless services in partnership across the Borough 

through the Bury-wide “LETS” principles, from the overarching Borough Strategy 

“Let’s do it!”.  This means working Locally; with Enterprise; Together and through 

a Strengths-based approach as follows: 

Priorities within this strategy to achieve this include: 

 Local – Teams working locally in each of the Borough’s neighbourhoods will work to 

sustain tenancies by proactively identifying and seeking to prevent people with chaotic 

and complex lifestyles losing their homes and becoming street homeless. Teams will 

include health, drug and alcohol and training & employment services, as well as housing 

experts. It is anticipated that these teams will support people who are, for example, 

experiencing acute mental health issues; domestic or substance misuse. 

Vulnerable clients will be supported and encouraged to engage socially and develop 

their sense of purpose through the network of Community Hubs which connect people 

with local resources, networks and opportunities. 

 

Page 71



 

 

 Enterprise - A main challenge to tackling homelessness is access to sufficient affordable 

and social rented accommodation, to ensure access to a home for all and both 

emergency and “move on” accommodation for people who need help.  The delivery of 

greater access to affordable housing in the private and social housing sectors, through 

implementation of the Housing Strategy, is a key dependency in achieving the ambition 

to reduce homelessness.  

 Together – Delivery of the homelessness prevention strategy will be a whole team effort 

across the council, community sector, private and social landlords and informed by 

people with lived experience: 

 Partners will work together to bid for opportunities and share information and 

resources 

 Those people that have used services must have a strong voice in shaping future 

responses through the Homeless Partnership co-production and voice for 

change group 

 Current service users will be helped to navigate the system through clear 

communication which drives trust; the production of a directory/resource to assist 

homeless people and mutual accountability through shared decision making. 

 Strengths - A person centred approach will be taken by all agencies which are working 

with people who are homeless or at risk of becoming so. This approach is about doing 

‘with’ not ‘to’ through a “Keyworker” approach which requires all support workers to: 

 provide support and take responsibility to vulnerable clients within their own homes 

by empowering the client with the skills to lead an independent life within the 

community . 

 lead and provide a comprehensive support assessment, a holistic support plan and 

review meetings to clients who come from a variety of challenging client groups  

 lead, take responsibility and facilitate the smooth transition of clients from supported 

accommodation into mainstream society 

 Mapping and development of directory/resource to assist homeless people 

 

5.     Resources to deliver  

The partnership has access to some resources and resilience to meet its ambition through 

national initiatives and funding streams such as: 

 The Homelessness Prevention Grant 

 RSI (Rough Sleeper Initiative) 

 RSAP (Rough sleeper accommodation programme) and  

 the former NSAP (Next Steps Accommodation Programme)  

These new programmes bring an additional circa £1.2 million of additional funding to the 

Borough and new funding opportunities will be continuously pursued. It is also helpful that 

Government has also recently announced increased Homelessness funding post Covid 

and that funding streams will be provided over 3 years, rather than yearly, which supports 

medium term strategic planning 

Page 72



 

 

6. Governance – including plans to review and reflect 

The strategy and action plan will be a living document to reflect the continual challenges 

and changes that homelessness brings. The strategy and action plan will be reviewed 

annually by the Homelessness partnership and outcomes reported to the Council’s 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

Evaluation will be undertaken against the following key measures: 

 Numbers of rough sleepers; statutory homeless cases and demand for asylum and 

immigration support 

 Speed and volume of people supported into move on properties and independence  
both statutory and non-statutory provision. 

 Individuals reporting positive change in when and how they receive support including 
Improved wellbeing, integration and a reduction in social isolation  

 Outcome measures for former homeless clients including employment, stability in 
housing and financial stability 

 

Governance for delivery is summarised as follows:- 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7. Summary 

There is no doubt that homelessness trends will continue to increase in the short-term 

following the impact of covid and until the benefits and outcomes of the Governments new 

funding streams are realised.  Partners must remain focussed around prevention and 

sustainment activity, to ensure the whole system is robustly supporting all homeless 

people from rough sleepers to statutory homeless families and single people.  

This strategy proposes a clear framework for delivery over the next three years including 

priorities for 2022/23 as follows: 

Bury Council 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

 

Bury Homeless 

Partnership 

Action Plan 

steering group – 

delivery  

Accountability  Outcomes 

Review  

Page 73



 

 

 Specific awareness raising for young people around homelessness 

 Promoting life skills and managing debt in schools and colleges 

 Early tenancy sustainment support for people at risk of homelessness 

 Performance and data measured correctly for local needs, as well as national and 

regional insight to align resources.  

 Prevent people being discharged from hospital before housing options in place. 

 Resolutions to the challenges created by welfare reform. 

 Strengthening Private Rented Sector (PRS) landlord support, advice and 

assistance to avoid S21 notices and evictions  

 A clear plan to be ready for people - ‘in-reach”’ prevention work (how to manage a 

tenancy) with prisons / prison liaison 

 Training offers for all frontline staff to address barriers to housing, including debt 

management and mental health.  

 Ensuring that the Asylum and Refugee community are given early housing 

options and support. 

 Partnership approach with all stakeholders to help prevent homelessness and 

improve resources and capacity. 

 

Delivery of these priorities will be managed by all partners within the Homelessness 

Partnership through a detailed delivery plan which will be produced annually and reported 

to Bury Council Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

Page 74



David Buck
Joni Jabbal
Safya Benniche

October 2024

Population health in 
Greater Manchester
The journey so far

Page 75 Agenda Item 10



About this project� i

Population health in Greater Manchester

 5 1  2  3 4  8 6  7

About this project
The Greater Manchester Locality Directors of Public Health and the Greater 
Manchester Integrated Care System (NHS GM) funded this research. It was  
carried out independently and the findings are The King’s Fund’s alone.

Page 76



Population health in Greater Manchester

 5 1  2  3 4  8 6  7

Contents
About this project	 i

Key messages	 4

Introduction	 6

Structure of the rest of this report	 7

Our approach to this research	 8

Key concepts: devolution and population health 	 9

What is devolution?	 9

What is population health?	 11

Devolution and developing a population health  
approach in GM, 2015–19	 14

Developing a population health approach, 2015–19	 15

An early assessment of GM’s progress on population health  
in 2019	 16

The development of the GM population health model	 18

The impact on population health in GM	 19

Contents � 1

1

2

4

3

Page 77



Contents� 2

Population health in Greater Manchester

 5 1  2  3 4  8 6  7

The ‘how’ of developing a population health  
approach in GM	 21

Our approach	 22

Place: where population health happens	 23

The key enablers for sustaining a population health approach 	 28

Where is GM’s approach to population health now? 	 38

The development of integrated care systems – towards  
population health?	 38

Becoming an ICS 	 39

Financial and other challenges to GM’s progress on  
population health	 40

Staying the course in GM	 45

Meeting the financial challenges through population health	 45

An honest assessment: a journey that is not finished	 46

Lessons and recommendations	 49

Recommendations for the government	 50

Recommendations for the Department of Health and  
Social Care and NHS England 	 50

Recommendations for other systems pursuing  
population health approaches	 52

5

6

8

7

Page 78



Contents� 3

Population health in Greater Manchester

 5 1  2  3 4  8 6  7

Annex: Case studies and their population health  
journeys	 55

References	 67

Acknowledgements	 72

About the authors	 73

Page 79



Key messages� 4

Population health in Greater Manchester

 5 1  2  3 4  8 6  7

Key messages
	• Greater Manchester (GM) has been the ‘poster child’ for devolution in England,  

and alongside it, in the health world, the leading light in efforts in and 
commitment to improving population health. This report dives deep into 
the details of that journey, and shares how GM has approached improving 
population health, the success it has had and the challenges it has faced. This 
is a story that other systems seeking to improve population health can learn 
from and we set out recommendations and principles for these systems. While 
the report does not provide a ‘drag and drop’ toolkit for change, we hope it 
provides inspiration, pause for thought and help for other systems that have 
further to go on their population health journey. 

	• We engaged widely (with more than 40 people) in this research through 
workshops, interviews and three within-GM local authority case studies of 
population health approaches. We also reviewed a wide range of existing 
studies and system documentation about, and from, GM and its work on 
population health.

	• The key learning from GM’s journey for others is the importance of a strong 
and shared vision, committed and distributed leadership, and long-term 
unshakeable commitment over time. Investing in capability and an openness  
to scrutiny, learning and challenge support this.

	• In GM there is a clear demarcation of roles and recognition of the value of 
action at both GM level and local authority level, an intimate understanding 
of the connection between economic goals and population health goals, and 
constant efforts to align them. This has lessons for a government seeking to 
deliver a mission for health, the Department of Health and Social Care and 
NHS England, which have set up integrated care systems (ICSs) as conduits 
for improving population health, and for other ICSs and partners pursuing 
population health approaches.

Page 80



Key messages� 5

Population health in Greater Manchester

 5 1  2  3 4  8 6  7

	• The government needs to ensure that: 
	◦ its health mission has clear delivery plans and is delivered through a 

population health approach that includes actions across the four ‘pillars’ 
of population health (the wider determinants of health, health behaviours, 
integrated care and systems, and the role of the community itself)

	◦ the health mission aligns with its other missions and vice versa (to ensure, 
for example, that the economic growth mission does not inadvertently 
widen health inequalities in population health)

	◦ sponsoring departments work coherently together below the national 
level, including through relationships with combined authorities and 
mayoral roles, and other aspects of devolution as it develops in England.

	• The Department of Health and Social Care and NHS England need to: 
	◦ reiterate that population health is a core goal of ICSs
	◦ ensure accountability systems and supporting tools are focused on 

population health goals
	◦ design system levers that incentivise and reward action on population health
	◦ resist the urge to reorganise system footprints, since long-term goals  

such as population health require constancy and stability.

	• Other ICSs and their partners pursing population health approaches should: 
	◦ develop a widely owned vision and adopt a clear but flexible framework 

or model to help cohere efforts in service of it
	◦ ensure clarity over system-level and local roles and reflect this  

in governance
	◦ constantly learn, develop and build capability for population health
	◦ recognise that health and care system goals are dependent on wider 

action to improve population health
	◦ work coherently to achieve population health and economic goals,  

as they are intertwined and codependent. 

Page 81



Introduction� 6

Population health in Greater Manchester

 1  5 2  3 4  8 6  7

1  Introduction

Greater Manchester (GM) has been the ‘poster child’ for devolution in England, and 
alongside it, in the health world, the leading light in efforts in and commitment to 
improving population health. Population health is now in the health mainstream 
and is one of the core purposes of integrated care systems (ICSs). But this was not 
always the case, and GM has been the pathfinder and the system that has led on its 
approach to population health.

This journey has not been smooth. It is complex and is intimately connected to the 
wider devolution journey that GM has also been on, indeed that is where it started. 
Over a long period of time, formally from 2016 and long before in reality, GM has 
been developing its strategy and practice of population health at multiple levels, 
and in many ways. 

The King’s Fund was fortunate to be asked to help support and assess early 
progress in 2018. Then the Covid-19 pandemic and the structural changes after the 
legislation on ICSs interrupted the journey. GM, like many other systems, currently 
faces severe financial problems in the health and care sector and beyond, and it has 
seen some of its key leaders for population health retire or move on. And we are at 
the start of a new government, with a renewed focus on devolution in England, a 
health mission with a current stated goal of narrowing regional gaps in healthy life 
expectancy, and a desire to put the National Health Service (NHS) and wider health 
and social care system back on track.

This is therefore a potential moment of reflection for GM itself, but also for many  
other systems – whether in some sense to turn back, to focus only on the 
compelling short-term issues of financial balance and waiting times, or to continue 
the commitment to improving the drivers and outcomes of population health. It is  
in this context that this current piece of work sits. 

This report is not an evaluation. Its purpose is to reflect on the journey that GM has 
taken in relation to population health, to understand ‘what has happened’ and ‘how 
it has happened’, and to set out people’s reflections on the journey, drawing out key 

Page 82



Introduction� 7

Population health in Greater Manchester

 1  5 2  3 4  8 6  7

themes and insights. While it does not provide a ‘drag and drop’ toolkit for change, 
we hope this report provides inspiration, pause for thought and help for other 
systems on their own population health journey. 

This report also has messages for the new government in England – that population 
health improvement and a reduction in health inequalities are possible through 
devolution but they will not come automatically. Clear intent and consistency over 
time are required to achieve them.

Structure of the rest of this report

We start by describing how we approached this research (section 2). We then 
set out the key concepts of devolution and population health (section 3). This is 
followed by a brief history of GM’s devolution journey, the development of GM’s 
population health approach and how key indicators of health and health inequalities 
have changed (section 4). We then dive deeper into ‘the how’ of developing a 
population health approach through three place-based case studies and draw out 
key themes and lessons (section 5). We then move forward to the here and now 
and look at the introduction of GM’s ICS, how GM is facing its current challenges 
and the implications for its approach to population health (section 6). Following 
this we look at where we go from here, for GM and more widely (section 7). And 
finally we set out some lessons and recommendations for the government, the 
Department of Health and Social Care, NHS England and other systems as they 
seek to improve population health in England (section 8). 

Page 83



Population health in Greater Manchester

Our approach to this research� 8

 2  5 1  3 4  8 6  7

2  Our approach to  
this research

Our research included a review of existing literature and data, and interviews with 
senior leaders across the Greater Manchester (GM) population health system. We 
also looked in detail at three local authorities within GM as case studies of how 
population health system approaches have developed at ‘locality level’, and their 
relationship with the regional bodies and strategy on population health within GM. 
This included semi‑structured interviews with the following senior leaders in each 
case study site: 

	• an interview with the director of public health for the case study site

	• a group-based interview with five or six senior leaders in each case study site 
with responsibility for the population health approach for their locality.

In consultation with the commissioners of our work, we’ve selected case studies in 
local authority areas to give a mix of settings and experiences, including urban and 
more rural areas, areas with higher and lower indexes of multiple deprivation, areas 
with different health levels and a geographical spread within the confines of GM. 

Following consideration of the 10 metropolitan boroughs within GM, we selected 
the following places for our case study sites: Bury, the city of Manchester and 
Stockport. More detail on the characteristics of these sites and the rationale for 
their inclusion is given in the Annex.

In addition to the case study sites, we ran two workshops with senior leaders  
across GM: 

	• a workshop with all directors of public health in GM and regional leads with 
responsibility for population health

	• a workshop with the Greater Manchester Integrated Care Board’s Population 
Health Committee.

In total we interviewed and spoke to more than 40 senior leaders from across GM.

Page 84



Population health in Greater Manchester

Key concepts: devolution and population health� 9

 3  5 1  2 4  8 6  7

3  Key concepts: devolution 
and population health 

This report is concerned with two key concepts – devolution and population health – 
and, in the Greater Manchester (GM) context, how they have been intertwined. It is 
important therefore to set out some background on both concepts before we move 
on to our findings.

What is devolution?

England remains one of the most centrally fiscally controlled states in the 
Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), with a much 
greater proportion of tax and spending controlled nationally, through Westminster 
and Whitehall, than comparator nations. Devolution, in the English context, is the 
process of devolving powers and the control of budgets (if not how they are raised) 
from central government to regional and local government, principally to entities 
known as ‘combined authorities’. This takes place through the process of a bespoke 
‘devolution deal’, as set out in the box on page 10. 

Page 85



Population health in Greater Manchester

Key concepts: devolution and population health� 10

 3  5 1  2 4  8 6  7

What is a devolution deal?

Devolution deals work principally through combined authorities – joint legal structures 
that partner local authorities in England can set up, with or without a directly elected 
mayor. While most deals ‘go through’ a combined authority due to scale, scope, 
governance and overall coherence, they do not have to (Cornwall County Council holds 
Cornwall’s deal). Combined authorities can become mayoral combined authorities with 
the consent of the constituent local authorities.

Devolution deals tend to cover powers and budgets in the following areas: 

	• transport

	• education

	• training and skills

	• housing

	• economic development

	• planning

	• culture. 

They may also have some element of control over local finances, typically business 
rates. Deals can also include ‘specials’ – in areas that are more specific. The range of  
powers and budgets varies according to the deal (some areas have received more 
than one deal over time). GM’s own ‘special’ has been its greater control over health 
and care spending. 

Devolution should not be seen as a one-off event, but as an evolutionary journey as:

	• more areas become the recipient of a deal over time 

	• areas with a deal receive further deals over time

	• existing deals are developed further, building on and adding to the original powers

	• within the deals, finances, contracts and decision-making have also evolved over 
time as has the relationship with national bodies.

Page 86



Population health in Greater Manchester

Key concepts: devolution and population health� 11

 3  5 1  2 4  8 6  7

What is population health?

A population health approach (Buck et al 2018; Holmes 2022) is one that recognises – 
and maximises – the contributions of the four main ‘pillars’ of population health:

	• the wider determinants of health

	• our health behaviours

	• our receipt of integrated health and social care

	• the communities in which we live and work. 

We know from huge amounts of evidence over time that what is most important 
for a population’s health is principally the wider determinants of health (that is, the 
social, economic and environmental conditions in which we live, such as the homes 
we live in, our household income and whether we have access to green space).  
This is followed by our health behaviours (whether we smoke, drink alcohol to 
excess, maintain a healthy diet and do physical activity). The next most important is 
the health and care services we receive; our genetic inheritance is also important, 
particularly for some diseases and health conditions. All of this takes place in the 
context of the fourth pillar: the communities we live in and the social relationships 
we have, which also have an impact on our health, helping us to stay resilient and  
to recover well from health problems. 

All these factors can vary for individuals. We have more control over some than 
others, and the relationships between them are not precise. They also interact – 
for example, people living in poverty and more deprived places tend to live in 
unhealthier environments, have worse health behaviours and receive poorer 
services (Williams et al 2022).

A population health approach is one that recognises the four key pillars of 
population health and the complexity of how they interact, and critically responds 
to that. Such an approach can be taken at national, regional, integrated care 
system (ICS) and place levels. Figure 1 on page 12 shows how the four pillars 
are interconnected.

Page 87

http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/reports/vision-population-health
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/long-reads/population-health-approach
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/long-reads/what-are-health-inequalities


Population health in Greater Manchester

Key concepts: devolution and population health� 12

 3  5 1  2 4  8 6  7

Taking a population health approach at a systems level means fulfilling the  
following actions:

	• allocating resources and effort towards where they will have the biggest 
effect – for example, systematically shifting resources to the wider 
determinants of health pillar over time, as this is what is most effective  
at driving population health

Source: Buck et al 2018

Figure 1 The King’s Fund’s population health framework

The wider 
determinants 

of health

Our health 
behaviours and 

lifestyles

An integrated 
health and  

care system

The places and 
communities  

we live in,  
and with

Page 88

http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/reports/vision-population-health


Population health in Greater Manchester

Key concepts: devolution and population health� 13

 3  5 1  2 4  8 6  7

	• paying attention to, and expending effort at, the overlaps where the four pillars  
meet (the blue areas in Figure 1), such as at the boundary between the wider  
determinants and an ICS, for example looking at how ICSs and other institutions 
are fulling their roles as ‘anchor’ institutions through procurement that creates 
social value, and being an active employer, helping people farthest from the 
labour market1

	• ensuring partners in the pillars support and work together, making the best use 
of the resources and effort across the system, for the population as a whole, 
not just for their part of it – this is a system leader’s main responsibility

	• designing payments, incentives, accountability and other levers that support 
rather than work against the first three actions:
	◦ this is the responsibility of the organisations that are part of a population 

health approach locally, for example those ‘in and around’ an ICS
	◦ but these organisations also operate in a context that others set – for the 

NHS: NHS England and the Department of Health and Social Care; and 
for other partners: other government departments

	◦ these ‘system overseers’ have a crucial role in incentivising local organisations 
to act in ways that are consistent with a population health approach.

In conclusion, devolution and a population health approach can go hand in hand, 
particularly through their ability to:

	• take more control over and shift resources towards the wider determinants  
of health

	• do so in a way that is likely to improve population health

	• pay more attention to the areas where the pillars of population health overlap. 

GM was the first regional area in England to receive a devolution deal and to be  
able to act on it. Further, unlike other devolution deals, it also received more 
delegated powers of health and care system decision-making ahead of the wider 
move to ICSs. In theory, therefore, GM was a ‘population health system’ waiting to 
happen. How did it get there? We explore this in the next section.

1 Anchor institutions are large public sector organisations that are rooted in place and connected to the communities in 
their local area, such as universities, hospitals and local authorities (The Health Foundation 2021).

Page 89

https://www.health.org.uk/funding-and-partnerships/our-partnerships/health-anchors-learning-network


Population health in Greater Manchester

Devolution and developing a population health approach in GM, 2015–19� 14

4  5 1  2  3  8 6  7

4  Devolution and developing 
a population health approach 
in GM, 2015–19

It is often stated that the spur for devolution for Greater Manchester (GM) was 
the process of investing in key transport infrastructure in the region and the 
co‑operation and co-ordination that GM’s 10 constituent local authorities and the, 
then, Association of Greater Manchester Authorities required (Greater Manchester 
Independent Prosperity Review 2018). This in turn helped GM develop further the 
vision, confidence and coherence to work across the region and for the region, both 
politically and economically. This led to the creation of the Greater Manchester 
Combined Authority in 2011, and with it the governance structure to be in prime 
position to be one of the recipients of the emerging policy of English devolution. 

The Greater Manchester Combined Authority was the first combined authority to  
receive a major devolution deal, announced in November 2014; connected to this  
was a unique deal around the National Health Service (NHS) and social care 
(Alderwick 2022). This included the delegation of planning and decision‑making 
for the £6 billion health and social care budgets to a coalition of public agencies, 
brought together under the Health and Social Care Partnership (Walshe et al 2018).  
In addition, GM had access to a health and care transformation fund of £450 million  
to develop its services (Greater Manchester Independent Prosperity Review 2018). 
This was not additional funding per se, but was GM’s proportionate share of the 
resources committed to the NHS via the government’s 2015 spending review 
(HM Treasury 2015), committed upfront to support transformation (including 
for some national priorities in primary care and mental health), compared 
with incremental shares for other parts of England over the period of the 
spending review. 

Page 90

http://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/economy/greater-manchester-independent-prosperity-review/ipr-2019-the-commission
http://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/economy/greater-manchester-independent-prosperity-review/ipr-2019-the-commission
https://www.health.org.uk/news-and-comment/blogs/understanding-the-impact-of-devolution-in-greater-manchester-on-health
https://www.alliancembs.manchester.ac.uk/news/devolving-health-and-social-care-learning-from-greater-manchester/
http://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/economy/greater-manchester-independent-prosperity-review/ipr-2019-the-commission
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/spending-review-and-autumn-statement-2015-documents


Population health in Greater Manchester

Devolution and developing a population health approach in GM, 2015–19� 15

4  5 1  2  3  8 6  7

Developing a population health approach, 2015–19

By 2015, GM therefore had a number of things in its favour to start seriously on its 
approach to population health, including: 

	• a combined authority to house its deal, which included some of the key wider 
determinants of health, and a wider history of partnership and co-operation 
between local authorities 

	• an additional, unique deal on health and care, and a partnership structure (the 
Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership) to support it 

	• an upfront transformation fund to introduce some of the long-term changes to 
health and care that were needed, in the expectation that this would be paid 
back over time.

In the mix too, and not to be underestimated, was the office of a mayor to help  
co‑ordinate, cajole and advocate, and a lot of political alignment from the 
constituent local authorities. Finally, and perhaps a key underpinning to all of it,  
GM had a very strong cadre and network of experienced leaders across the region 
who had been on this long journey together, in turn supported by analytic and 
wider capability. What this gave GM too was a curiosity and a desire to learn. 

A major ambition of GM’s health and social care devolution from the outset was 
to enable the greatest and fastest improvements to health, wealth and wellbeing 
for the 2.8 million residents and wider population it serves (Walshe et al 2018). And 
the Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership did not hang around, 
committing to a series of life-course population health targets across the strategic 
plan for GM. The dual devolution allowed GM to locate this in a whole-system 
approach, recognising the importance of action on the wider determinants of 
health, and the formal health and social care system, while seeing its communities 
and population as assets for health, not just a collection of health problems. This 
was brought together under the GM Population Health Strategy (Greater Manchester 
Health and Social Care Partnership 2022), supported by a range of analytical 
business cases. 

Page 91

https://www.alliancembs.manchester.ac.uk/news/devolving-health-and-social-care-learning-from-greater-manchester/
https://gmintegratedcare.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/gmhscp-population-health-plan-final-1.pdf
https://gmintegratedcare.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/gmhscp-population-health-plan-final-1.pdf


Population health in Greater Manchester

Devolution and developing a population health approach in GM, 2015–19� 16

4  5 1  2  3  8 6  7

An early assessment of GM’s progress on population health in 2019

In 2018, The King’s Fund published two reports on population health: one on a 
vision for population health (Buck et al 2018), which introduced a framework for  
population health (see Figure 1); and the second one on what England could learn 
from international cities and regions that have made sustained progress on complex 
population health issues, what roles those cities and regions played and what 
enablers helped them do so (Naylor and Buck 2018). During 2018, The King’s Fund 
helped facilitate debate and thinking on GM’s approach to population health and 
was commissioned to write a private report, delivered in 2019, which assessed 
progress to date, drawing from the learning set out above, GM’s own experience 
and wider work. 

The report sought to understand GM’s strengths, and which areas deserved more 
attention. It was comparative in nature, assessing GM against the key roles and 
enablers that other international cities had used, in order to make headway on 
complex population health problems. And it was also qualitative, as for the research 
The King’s Fund interviewed key players in GM’s journey on devolution and 
population health. 

The King’s Fund found that GM was calling on the tools and powers that many 
successful regions and cities internationally were also using,2 and like elsewhere, 
there was a debate around where responsibility and power lay between the regional 
bodies and local ones, and between the combined authority and the Greater 
Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership. There was also a tension in trying 
to resolve the relative roles and decision-making between them. 

Nonetheless, we also found a very strong sense of shared purpose across key 
leaders in GM. A sense of continuity and structures that many other international 
regions and cities did not have (with the possible exception of New York’s Board 
of Health) helped with this. Many leaders, particularly at senior officer level, had 
experience across sectors and over time, resulting in a very strong cohered cadre 
of senior leaders, all committed to the same vision for the health and wellbeing 

2 See Naylor and Buck (2018) for more details but this includes: taking up roles such as co-ordinating city-wide action, 
mobilising the population, and promoting innovation, while using tools such as planning and existing regulatory powers, 
consistent system leadership, ensuring relevant expertise is close to decision-making, and clarity over governance 
structures, supported by the political power of mayors and similar.

Page 92

http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/reports/vision-population-health
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/reports/cities-population-health
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/reports/cities-population-health


Population health in Greater Manchester

Devolution and developing a population health approach in GM, 2015–19� 17

4  5 1  2  3  8 6  7

of the people of GM. However, there was recognition that the job was only half 
done and that: the ‘massive cultural shift’ of the common goal of becoming a 
population health system needed to be embedded across the system in terms of 
action; GM could be inward-looking and needed to learn more from other areas and 
systems; GM could take a stronger approach to the assets in its communities across 
the region, notwithstanding strong approaches in some places such as Wigan 
(Naylor and Wellings 2019); and GM should focus more strongly on fewer projects 
and priorities.

The report made no direct recommendations; however, it considered that GM 
should reflect on several key areas, including: what GM can learn from other city 
regions and Wales3; the differing views on priorities that we heard about; how 
the central role relates to the 10 local authorities in GM; how the Health and 
Social Care Partnership role and the Greater Manchester Combined Authority role 
fit together; harnessing the power of GM’s communities; and opportunities for 
realising the full potential of population health roles across GM. 

However, overall, our judgement was that GM was rightly seen as a leader on 
population health in England and was in a strong position to capitalise on that in 
the future.

GM has many strengths. The approach to population health is more ambitious 
than other cities we have assessed. A shared and consistent narrative is vital to 
supporting and sustaining a population health approach, which by its nature means 
working across complex systems. GM has this shared narrative amongst its senior 
leaders. It also has many of the enablers, and undertakes many of the roles, that we 
see being utilised by international cities who are successfully improving the health 
of their populations. Its challenge now is to develop further but it is in a very strong 
position to do so.
(Baylis and Buck 2019)

3 In the context of the Future Generations Act and legislation on health in all policies, designed to incentivise statutory 
organisations and bodies to take into account the long-run impact of their actions on wellbeing and the impact on health 
of wider policies, see www.futuregenerations.wales/.

Page 93

http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/reports/wigan-deal
https://www.futuregenerations.wales/


Population health in Greater Manchester

Devolution and developing a population health approach in GM, 2015–19� 18

4  5 1  2  3  8 6  7

The development of the GM population health model

Following the 2019 report, Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership 
adopted an adapted version of The King’s Fund’s population health framework to 
help cohere and further drive efforts on population health (see Figure 2). It also 
started to develop thinking on: further key levers for change, including the role of 
leadership for population health and the connection between local and GM‑wide 
leadership; financing mechanisms; and learning from other areas. 

This was connected to GM’s integrated public services and reform agenda, with  
the model for health and care services built on a stronger integrated neighbourhood 
model capable of addressing the root causes of poor population health (Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority 2019).

Source: Greater Manchester Integrated Care Partnership (undated)

Figure 2 Greater Manchester’s population health model

Locally led

GM supported

Nationally enabled

Wider 
determinants 

of health
Behaviours  

and lifestyles

Public service 
reform

Place-based  
and person-

centred 
approaches

A GM population 
health system

Improving health

System 
characteristics 
and functions

Tackling inequalities

Culture and 
leadership

Governance

Data and 
intelligence

Investment

Health 
policy

Healthy 
places

Health 
promotion

Commissioning

Health 
protection

Innovation 
and learning

Mobilising 
people

Page 94

http://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/greater-manchester-strategy
http://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/greater-manchester-strategy
https://fairerhealthacademy.gmtableau.nhs.uk/population-health-model


Population health in Greater Manchester

Devolution and developing a population health approach in GM, 2015–19� 19

4  5 1  2  3  8 6  7

The impact on population health in GM

We have mapped out GM’s policy journey to 2019, which left GM in a strong 
position to move forward, on the eve of the Covid-19 pandemic. Given GM’s status 
as the leading light of devolution and the only area of England with a health and 
care devolution deal as part of it, there is an understandable interest in knowing 
what impact devolution has had. 

While any complex change comes with the usual riders and caveats, it is now 
10 years since the first step in GM’s devolution journey took place, with its first 
devolution deal in 2014. 10 years is starting to be long enough to expect to see 
some objective change that may be consistent with an effect on population health 
itself. The first studies attempting this have now been published, based on work 
that The Health Foundation has commissioned.

The first looked at life expectancy over the period from 2006 to 2019 and was 
published in The Lancet Public Health. The results were highly suggestive, showing 
that compared with a synthetic control group, GM’s life expectancy had diverged 
positively from what would be expected after its devolution settlement, by just 
under 0.2 years excluding London, or 1.2 years including London (Britteon et al 
2022). Further, increases in life expectancy were observed in eight of ten local 
authorities, were larger among men than among women and were larger in areas 
with high income deprivation compared with those with low income deprivation. 
More recent follow-up work (Britteon et al 2024) looked at a much broader set 
of outcomes – 98 measures that aligned with the World Health Organization’s 
Health System Performance Assessment framework (Papanicolas et al 2022). This 
starts to get under the skin of where improvements were driven from. The authors 
concluded that these included improvements in public health, primary care, hospital 
and adult social care services and factors associated with the social determinants 
of health, including a reduction in alcohol-related hospital admissions. In other 
areas, including outpatient, mental health, maternity and dental services, change 
was mixed.

The authors argued that:

Devolution was associated with improved population health, driven by 
improvements in health services and wider social determinants of health. These 
changes occurred despite limited devolved powers over health service resources 

Page 95

https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lanpub/article/PIIS2468-2667(22)00198-0/fulltext
https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lanpub/article/PIIS2468-2667(22)00198-0/fulltext
https://eurohealthobservatory.who.int/publications/i/health-system-performance-assessment-a-framework-for-policy-analysis


Population health in Greater Manchester

Devolution and developing a population health approach in GM, 2015–19� 20

4  5 1  2  3  8 6  7

suggesting that other mechanisms played an important role, including the 
allocation of sustainability and transformation funding and the alignment  
of decision-making across health, social care, and wider public services in  
the region.
(Britteon et al 2024)

As Barrand and Briggs (2024) have said in making sense of the findings:

The study is important for showing that life expectancy improved relative to the 
control group throughout the first 4 years of devolution in Greater Manchester.  
But the nature of this complexity, and the mixed results across the 98 indicators 
used in the study, means we’re still not entirely sure why.
(Barrand and Briggs 2024)

Page 96

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0277953624002454
https://www.health.org.uk/news-and-comment/blogs/devolution-in-greater-manchester-findings-from-a-major-study
https://www.health.org.uk/news-and-comment/blogs/devolution-in-greater-manchester-findings-from-a-major-study


Population health in Greater Manchester

The ‘how’ of developing a population health approach in GM� 21

 5 1  2  3 4  8 6  7

5  The ‘how’ of developing a 
population health approach  
in GM

Because ‘…we’re still not entirely sure why’ (Barrand and Briggs 2024) devolution led 
to improvements in population health in Greater Manchester (GM), this needs to be 
explored further, either through further analytical work, or through more qualitative 
work, investigating how population health ‘is done’ in GM. One element of that is 
looking at the role of the regional bodies in GM: the Greater Manchester Combined 
Authority, the Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership and latterly 
the Greater Manchester Integrated Care System. These bodies play a key leadership, 
facilitation and governance role, among others. But much actual work takes place, 
in place at local authority level, and is mediated between the regional authority level 
and the local authority level.

Nearly five years after our initial private report in 2019, we were pleased at The King’s 
Fund to be asked back to ‘hold up a mirror’ to the system, with a reality check and 
assessment of how the population health system approach has been developing since 
2019, through and beyond the experience of the Covid-19 pandemic, with particular 
emphasis on:

	• the place experience

	• the relationship between that and the regional bodies

	• the creation of the Greater Manchester Integrated Care System. 

Page 97

https://www.health.org.uk/news-and-comment/blogs/devolution-in-greater-manchester-findings-from-a-major-study


Population health in Greater Manchester

The ‘how’ of developing a population health approach in GM� 22

 5 1  2  3 4  8 6  7

Our approach

Our work and findings need to be understood in terms of the complex set of 
relationships in GM (see Figure 3). The wider process of devolution and health 
devolution have been on parallel tracks, meaning complex relationships between 
tiers of government and of the National Health Service (NHS). Our work sought to 
make sense of how these relationships have worked and the challenges inherent in 
them, and how this has an impact on population health.

Note: GMCA = Greater Manchester Combined Authority; GMHSCP = Greater Manchester Health and Social 
Care Partnership; GM ICS = Greater Manchester Integrated Care System; NHS = National Health Service.

Source: Buck D, Jabbal J, Benniche S 2024

Figure 3 The relationship between wider devolution and health devolution in GM

Key
Devolution between vertical tiers of devolution 

Parallel horizontal relationship across tiers

Non-parallel relationship between tiers

Local authorities Local NHS

Wider devolution

GMHSCP and then 
GM ICS

Health devolution

GMCA

Page 98



Population health in Greater Manchester

The ‘how’ of developing a population health approach in GM� 23

 5 1  2  3 4  8 6  7

Place: where population health happens

Much of the emphasis of the commentary on GM in the health world has been 
principally about regional devolution, and on the experience of the NHS. But 
local authorities are particularly important, as they are where much of the direct 
influence over the wider determinants of health actually happens. Yet their 
experience and how they work with the voluntary and community sector and  
others locally have been less focused on to date.

As part of our research, we therefore conducted a ‘deep dive’ into the experiences 
of three local authorities within GM: Bury, Manchester and Stockport. The primary 
purpose of this enquiry was to understand some of the key enablers and challenges 
to the GM population health approach at the ‘place’ level. The three sites were 
selected following discussions with representatives from the Greater Manchester 
Integrated Care System population health team (see the Annex for a summary of 
each of the three sites as individual case studies). We reviewed documents and 
interviewed key leaders in these sites between January and June 2023, through 
two processes: 

	• first, an in-depth semi-structured interview with the current director of public 
health in each site

	• second, a wider group interview with members of the local leadership team 
and selected others from the NHS and voluntary and community sector (the 
precise make-up varied from site to site – the views of the director of public 
health in each site informed who was most important to a population health 
approach, to be invited for interview). 

Below we pick up the key themes across our three sites, and wider themes from 
our sites and from wider conversations with stakeholders, particularly the Greater 
Manchester Public Health Leadership Group4 and the new Population Health 
Committee of the Greater Manchester Integrated Care System.

We start at place level. Generally, senior leaders were comfortable and familiar with 
the population health system approach in GM. Most interviewees reflected that the 

4 Comprising the directors of public health of the 10 local authorities, the director of population health for the GM 
integrated care partnership and representatives from the Office for Health Improvement and Disparities, the UK Health 
Security Agency and NHS England’s regional public health team.

Page 99



Population health in Greater Manchester

The ‘how’ of developing a population health approach in GM� 24

 5 1  2  3 4  8 6  7

GM population health model offered an important starting point, which each place 
could take and adapt for its local population, and that underpinning the specifics 
was a strong vision and commitment to population health approaches. This had 
‘held’ through the Covid-19 pandemic and into wider structural changes, although 
it had been tested through the creation of the ICS from the existing Greater 
Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership (see next section for more details).

However, each place started from a different position, and underpinning this was 
the importance of identity, especially: the identity of the place and the mechanisms 
through which population health was manifested; the identity of professionals 
and how they relate to population health, recognising in particular public health 
professionals as core experts but acknowledging that a population health approach 
needs to be pursued beyond the public health profession; and the different 
cultural identities between sectors, including the NHS and local government, and 
understanding and working through these.

Senior leaders were able to clearly define their place approach to population health. 
Each site had a population health strategic plan, which had developed differently in 
each of the sites. All sites referred to the Marmot review in GM – Build back fairer 
in Greater Manchester: health equity and dignified lives (Marmot et al 2021) – as one 
of the building blocks for their own iterations of their population health strategic 
plans, designed with their local populations in mind. 

The sites had different emphases in terms of population health and the mechanisms 
for improving it. Bury’s vision rested on physical and economic regeneration, which 
connected to supporting better lives for its population. This was codified in its 
‘Let’s Do It!’ strategy (Bury Council 2020). Participants referred to the strategy as an 
approach ‘to all public services working together to tackle poor health outcomes as 
one of those barriers to people accessing the benefits of economic growth’. In Bury, 
health and wellbeing are closely linked in a bidirectional relationship with inclusive 
economic growth. Furthermore, participants spoke of the importance of population 
health being embedded in everything they do at a strategic level, at a leadership level, 
in governance and down to teams, rather than being seen as a separate strategy. 

It is embedded in our whole strategy for the borough, its future, the wellbeing of its 
population and its economy, and our infrastructure for working together across all 
agencies to drive those objectives.

Page 100

https://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/build-back-fairer-in-greater-manchester-health-equity-and-dignified-lives
http://www.bury.gov.uk/my-neighbourhood/lets-do-it-strategy


Population health in Greater Manchester

The ‘how’ of developing a population health approach in GM� 25

 5 1  2  3 4  8 6  7

In Manchester, the emphasis was on continuing to build on the learning during 
the Covid-19 pandemic, with partners within the site actively engaged with local 
communities and neighbourhood teams to improve population health. Manchester 
operationalised this through community ‘sounding boards’ as a way to build and 
maintain trust with communities. These are made up of community leaders, faith 
leaders, community groups and others, who come together to be a sounding board 
for ideas. Interviewees in Manchester noted the importance of the sounding boards. 

…whilst it initially kind of came out of Covid… we’re also using them as sounding 
boards now for a broader approach to addressing health equity. You know, we 
involve those sounding boards in terms of key strategic plans such as Making 
Manchester Fairer. [The sounding boards] are a key part of how we kind of deliver 
some of that work. 

Stockport’s emphasis was different again, underpinned by three pillars that pick 
up on the emphases above: supporting the local economy; getting the community 
involved; and thinking about health and wellbeing, given the experiences through  
the pandemic.

One participant noted:

…we did… a kind of big listening project where we did a whole range of engagement 
with loads of different community partners and people to talk about our priorities. 
And it led to our One Stockport Borough Plan – [and] it makes that connection 
towards our services around health and care, our services around children and 
supporting our most vulnerable, but also the fact we’re really ambitious on 
regeneration, we’re really strong on our economy. And I think what we’ve tried to 
do on One Stockport is really link the forces of [the] public sector through our One 
[Stockport] Health and Care Board, the business sector through our economic 
alliance and the voluntary and community sector through our voluntary and 
community sector forum. 

A strong sense of professional identity was also clear through our conversations 
with system leaders and partners at place level, both its strengths and also some of 
the tensions surrounding it, which interact with cultural identity between sectors, 
particularly the NHS and local government. The public health profession and the 

Page 101



Population health in Greater Manchester

The ‘how’ of developing a population health approach in GM� 26

 5 1  2  3 4  8 6  7

expertise it brings was felt to be particularly important to a population health 
approach. As one participant in Bury noted: 

…we’ve got a brilliant public health function, and that really matters… the 
leadership [is important] and understanding the connection between population 
health and economic ambition and opportunity. 

However, importantly for Bury is the codified nature of its population health 
approach across all system partners and across professional boundaries. As one 
participant explained: 

I think all of that was codified by the Let’s Do It! Strategy, and I think that provides 
a really helpful framework for us in a couple of ways… we’ve got a Health and 
Wellbeing Board, which is great, but we’ve invited the Health and Wellbeing Board 
almost to be a bit of a conscience of the system, to focus on health inequalities. So 
that’s the overwhelming operation of the health and care system in the borough 
but we also sit that alongside the Community Safety Partnership, the Children’s 
Strategic Partnership or the Business Leadership Council and a number of other 
blocks of partnership endeavour, really, across the borough. 

In Manchester, the public health team were seen as key connectors between 
communities and ‘the system’. And those in public health roles thought it was right 
to keep the role of public health professionals front and centre of the population 
health approach, as they were well equipped and trained to lead on this. However, 
participants were clear in conversations that without support/buy-in from system 
partners the site would not be able to continue to make progress as a population 
health system.

The other one is, be honest, things change, instability can happen in any sector with 
senior leaders moving on. But that would always be a risk that the advocates and 
champions of this work, beyond the… you’d always expect the public health team 
and directors of public health to be pushing, but if you don’t have that broader 
partnership support it starts to go away. That’s a risk.

In Stockport, while participants recognised the importance of public health 
professionals’ skills and training to ‘do’ the technical aspects of population health, 

Page 102



Population health in Greater Manchester

The ‘how’ of developing a population health approach in GM� 27

 5 1  2  3 4  8 6  7

the public health team acknowledged that population health can only be ‘done’ with 
all system partners’ ‘buy-in’ and commitment to doing it. As one participant told us:

…there’s the professional element [public health] but there’s the approach 
[population health], which is about systems thinking, connecting things, thinking 
about the causes of the causes, the determinants. Why is that happening? Asking 
why, who’s missing from this service offer, who’s missing from our conversation? All 
of those, sort of, elements. Yes we get trained in that in public health school, but if 
the system is coming to that way of thinking, that’s brilliant.

Although the public health team were seen as important as a catalyst within the 
system to help develop understanding and system thinking, the population health 
approach was considered the most important aspect, and it was recognised that it 
must be ‘owned’ by the whole system and not just public health.5 

The cultural identity of service partners was also a strong theme in our 
conversations – mostly as an enabler to population health system development, 
but sometimes as a challenge too. What was clear was that there were good, strong 
partnerships between services at place level. However, some interviewees felt 
that the cultural differences between the NHS (more top down, and hierarchical) 
and the local authority (more bottom up, and community led) could create barriers 
to a system-wide population health approach. Bury had challenged this head on, 
including through co-location of staff and rolling out strengths-based training for 
staff (for details on strengths-based training approaches, see Social Care Institute for 
Excellence undated), while Manchester continued to work hard for population health 
to be ‘owned’ by all system partners but still experienced some challenges between 
the NHS and local government.

5 See Buck et al (2024) for more on the national context around public health and population health leadership.

Page 103

http://www.scie.org.uk/strengths-based-approaches
http://www.scie.org.uk/strengths-based-approaches


Population health in Greater Manchester

The ‘how’ of developing a population health approach in GM� 28

 5 1  2  3 4  8 6  7

The key enablers for sustaining a population health approach 

Population health is a system-wide approach; therefore, all parts of the system 
should be expected to deliver.

Following a review of the data for this project, including interviews with case study 
participants, workshop discussions and contextual documents, we have identified 
the following enablers for sustaining the population health approach in GM:

	• a clear vision for population health, joint ownership and leadership, and an 
embedded strategy

	• population health and economic ambition – two sides of the same coin 

	• clear governance and accountability for population health – power and 
decision-making at the right level

	• collaborative, cross-system working

	• working with communities.

A clear vision for population health, joint ownership and leadership, and an 
embedded strategy

At its core, population health is an approach that aims to improve health outcomes, 
enhance wellbeing and reduce inequalities across an entire population. This can 
only be achieved with an active commitment and fidelity to a shared strategy. In 
GM, there have been sustained efforts – leading up to devolution and beyond – to 
create a clear vision and shared understanding of population health among system 
partners to achieve improvements in the population’s health. These efforts have 
paid off, as system leaders told us about the importance of a consistent, unified 
vision of population health across all levels of the GM system. The experience of 
the Covid-19 pandemic, since early 2020, re-emphasised this.

I think that shared understanding and principle… and priorities [are] really 
important, how we all come together and recognise our different roles in that, 
but that we’re all going in the same direction… otherwise, we all end up focusing 
on our tiny bit of that system, not on actually, where do we want to go as a 
whole collective?

Page 104



Population health in Greater Manchester

The ‘how’ of developing a population health approach in GM� 29

 5 1  2  3 4  8 6  7

But a vision is not enough. It needs to be translated into an embedded approach.

This feels like the [key difference] to what’s gone on in the past, it just is a different 
level of ownership. And also, workforce and the community elements aren’t 
forgotten here. It’s not, oh, great, the chief executives of all these big institutions 
support it, the VCSE [voluntary, community and social enterprise] and faith sector 
involvement, the community involvement, workforce is well underway. And it does 
feel as though we’ve got something that is a five-year plan, but I think won’t be, as 
we’ve seen in the past, [be] losing kudos or approach.

The emphasis in the previous subsection on place was on how our case study sites 
had embedded population health through the wider determinants of health and 
the role of the local authorities, but embedding was not restricted to that. We also 
heard about the importance of embedding population health priorities into local 
care organisations’ business plans. Having population health priorities included in 
these plans has given prominence and profile to issues that have not traditionally 
been within NHS business plans, as one senior leader noted:

…having things like serious violence within that has really helped to raise the profile 
of some of the other, kind of, topic areas that are not traditionally in that LCO [local 
care organisation] business plan but do hit that wider system. So, that’s been quite 
helpful for us to, kind of, get them embedded within that, so they’re also under the 
local authority plans, they’re already there at the forefront.

Finally, many participants noted that without collaborative ownership and leadership 
of population health, it simply could not be achieved. As one participant noted:

…it’s too often and too easy if you like for people to say ‘population health, that’s 
the public health team’s responsibility’, and absolutely it’s not. It’s much, much 
wider than that. So I think wherever you are in your locality I think one of the 
first things you need to do is create that narrative, create that sense of this is our 
responsibility, and be able to sell the benefits and the positives of creating good, 
positive health for your residents. 

Page 105



Population health in Greater Manchester

The ‘how’ of developing a population health approach in GM� 30

 5 1  2  3 4  8 6  7

Population health and economic ambition – two sides of the same coin

Through our work we heard of the ‘symbiotic’ relationship between population 
health and economic ambition. The ability to understand this relationship and 
to convey its importance to all strategic partners has been a strength of getting 
traction behind the population health model in GM and across our case study sites. 
As one senior leader told us:

Where I think we made a real shift in advance of the devolution… was that, for the 
first time, I think, anywhere, really, there was a real clear alignment between, or, kind 
of, an understanding of the symbiotic relationship between economic ambition and 
population health. Population health is a drag to economic ambition and, therefore, 
doing something about population health is… you get all those people who care 
about economic ambition on your side and on your team advocating for you.

All three case study sites linked their population health strategies to the economic 
ambition vested within their boroughs. In Bury we heard how the focus on the 
regeneration of town centres (in the first instance) was grounded in an economic 
and physical regeneration that ‘connects to and supports better lives for residents 
and work on population health’. Here we heard how regeneration plans (through a 
population health lens) had taken community-based approaches to increasing physical 
activity, addressing mental health problems and tackling long-term health conditions 
where they were most concentrated. This people and community plan, along with the 
economic ambition through the population health plan, was a key factor in bringing 
system-wide partners together to ‘tackle poor health outcomes as a barrier to people 
access[ing] the benefits of economic growth’. This connection between economic 
growth and population health was tangible and explicit, as one participant said: 

I can really, really feel in Bury as soon as you walk through the door: the 
regeneration and the focus on the economy and the local businesses. And I think  
my previous experiences are a health and care partnership, which was very 
cognisant of whatever you do is probably going to have only about 10% impact on 
health and you’re kind of at the top of the triangle and you’re looking to connect 
with the wider stuff. And here it feels completely the other way round that all  
that wider stuff and the strategy and the big-picture stuff that is going to make  
a difference is there in buckets. And the work underneath it then needs to slot in  
to focus on, okay, how are health and care making the most of that and making 
those connections?

Page 106



Population health in Greater Manchester

The ‘how’ of developing a population health approach in GM� 31

 5 1  2  3 4  8 6  7

In Stockport we heard how supporting the local economy was set as one of three 
fundamental ‘pillars’ of the borough’s plan, alongside community involvement and 
health and wellbeing. Senior leaders in Stockport told us how the borough’s strategic 
plan connects services around health and care to a ‘really ambitious regeneration 
[and economic growth] plan’. It does this by linking public services (through the One 
Stockport Health and Care Board), with the business sector (through the Stockport 
Economic Alliance) and the voluntary and community sector (through its voluntary 
and community sector forum). Importantly, this drive towards inclusive economic 
growth came from local communities and businesses as a direct response to the 
Covid-19 pandemic – to build recovery and resilience for future ‘shocks’.

Clear governance and accountability for population health – power and 
decision‑making at the right level

Having distributed joint leadership for a population health system is one building 
block of sustaining a focus on, and improving, population health over time. But 
experience from GM shows that a governance system that can help partners to 
understand their roles and can be held to account by the wider-system partnership 
needs to support this.

…there’s a huge element of creating a narrative locally, getting buy-in and helping 
people to understand what their roles and responsibility are within that population 
health system, how they contribute, but also having a governance system around 
that so you can hold each other to account for your contributions.

At place level, senior leaders told us about the importance of how the various 
governance and accountability structures interacted locally. Having system partners 
represented on the various boards was one enabler. However, it also required 
systems to be clear about where governance between the various bodies interacts 
and overlaps, and what is strictly within the gift, sphere and influence of one group 
over another.

Through conversations we heard that many of the locality boards across GM 
had good system-wide representation of the various partners. Having all these 
partners on the boards was seen as a crucial enabler in promoting population health 
approaches. The box on page 34 gives an example from one case study site.

Page 107



Population health in Greater Manchester

The ‘how’ of developing a population health approach in GM� 32

 5 1  2  3 4  8 6  7

Governance and accountability – Manchester case study site 

In Manchester, senior leaders felt that the population health approach – Making 
Manchester Fairer (Manchester City Council undated a) – is ‘widely owned by the right 
people at the top’ and considered to be ‘the key difference to what’s gone on in the 
past, it just is a different level of ownership’. 

The Making Manchester Fairer strategy is owned by all the ‘key organisations’ in the 
city, which are held to account by local politicians, and the Manchester Partnership 
Board [Locality Board], which reports to the Greater Manchester Integrated Care 
Board and the Making Manchester Fairer Programme Board. 

The Manchester Partnership Board includes representatives from the Health and 
Wellbeing Board, which includes partners from across health and care (including the 
acute trust, mental health trust, the Local Care Organisation), and the voluntary and 
community sector.

The purpose of Manchester Partnership Board (MPB) is to:

	• agree the shared priorities and strategic direction for health and care and public 
health in Manchester

	• ensure integrated and aligned delivery across health and care and public health

	• agree any resource allocation within the scope of responsibility delegated to it by 
another party

	• ensure that all elements of Council and NHS services are aligned with the agreed 
strategic direction

	• act as an interface with the GM Integrated Care Board and Integrated Care 
Partnership (ICP).

(Manchester City Council – undated b)

The Making Manchester Fairer Programme Board includes representatives from 
Manchester Partnership Board and is chaired by the Deputy Leader of Manchester 
City Council (who has responsibility for anti-poverty inequalities) and the Executive 
Member for Healthy Manchester and Social Care, Manchester City Council. The 
Chief Executive of Manchester City Council also sits on the Board and is the Senior 
Responsible Officer for the Making Manchester Fairer Programme. 

Page 108

http://www.manchester.gov.uk/makingmanchesterfairer
https://democracy.manchester.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=391


Population health in Greater Manchester

The ‘how’ of developing a population health approach in GM� 33

 5 1  2  3 4  8 6  7

Beyond the right governance structures and accountability at place level in GM, it 
is important to be clear that powers and responsibilities are distributed optimally: 
between the regional bodies – the General Manchester Combined Authority, the 
General Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership and the Greater Manchester 
Integrated Care System; at place level – the 10 local authorities; and at neighbourhood 
level – other bodies and partnerships, such as local care organisations.

Participants acknowledged the importance of population health models at regional 
level for coherence, to help increase the amount of evidence on what works, and 
of a sustained and stable vision and leadership for population health. This also 
extended to the ‘doing’ at scale, as one participant said:

…there’s opportunities for Greater Manchester to be looking at actually what can 
we do at scale, that if we did this at scale and if it fits with agendas and priorities 
within localities, actually how do we help co-ordinate this work to bring it up to 
what it needs to be?

Many people we spoke to stressed that, in key areas, population health approaches 
undertaken at scale at the GM level could have success, which would not be 
possible through 10 separate local authority approaches at place or neighbourhood 
level. Many people mentioned tobacco as a prime example.

…some of the work we’ve done on tobacco, as an example, was much better 
commissioned once at the Greater Manchester level, and actually sometimes when 
we do things at the Greater Manchester level and don’t worry about whether every 
politician will sign off on it at the local level, it allows us to be a little bit braver as 
well. So there’s real benefits to working all along that continuum from our largest 
geography to our smallest. 

Restricting food advertising on transport across GM was another example given. As 
one participant told us:

[For example] fast-food advertising on transport for Greater Manchester, if we’re 
making those changes there’s no point me trying to do something in Bury because 
people travel across Greater Manchester and that needs to be done everywhere 
across the transport network. So those are the types of things I think we can really 
make a big impact, and that will take collaborative working. But as and when we do 
do things like that, I think that will help.

Page 109



Population health in Greater Manchester

The ‘how’ of developing a population health approach in GM� 34

 5 1  2  3 4  8 6  7

Furthermore, senior leaders felt that the Greater Manchester Combined Authority 
provided the whole system with an influential level of advocacy and support for a 
population health approach, which has to some degree protected it from cuts and 
been important for helping the whole region keep the focus on population health, 
as one participant told us:

…the place where it’s worked really well is where we’ve got advocacy at that GM 
level. We’ve got people working who know other influential people in the GMCA 
[Greater Manchester Combined Authority], we’ve made relationships with key 
people in the mayor’s office, so the mayor’s kept involved. Now, that is something 
that we could not do individually as locality DPHs [directors of public health], 
but we do benefit from. Because obviously the GM political landscape is pretty 
steady and consistent. So I think in that respect having that kind of political – with 
a small p – advocacy role with the GMCA as well… because the GM population 
health team do work really well and closely with the GMCA team. 

Finally, strength was found with regard to having the GM tier trying to protect 
resources for the system-wide population health approach, as one senior leader noted:

…this conversation… about spend on prevention and how we seek to address the 
challenge of increasing our spend on prevention within a massively cash-strapped 
system. I feel that Greater Manchester leadership around that question is probably 
the best approach.

However, things were not always smooth. Interviewees acknowledged and stressed 
the importance of a ‘two-way’ relationship between localities and GM and the 
importance of trust and clarity on who did what.

…sometimes I feel like GM are doing things that I don’t know what’s going on. I 
think there is a real need for the two systems – the GM systems and the locality 
systems – to be better aligned and working closer together. I’m not sure if that’s 
working at the moment… It needs to be together, doesn’t it? 

Another participant commented:

…if there isn’t fundamental levels of trust between the tiers of intervention then 
everybody tries to do everything. The [regional/combined authority] system tries to 
micromanage and the locality or the neighbourhoods try to undertake work that’s 

Page 110



Population health in Greater Manchester

The ‘how’ of developing a population health approach in GM� 35

 5 1  2  3 4  8 6  7

actually been agreed to happen at a higher spatial level, and I think that’s one of 
the real challenges we’ve got at the moment.

Senior leaders we spoke to suggested ways to improve communication between 
place, localities and neighbourhoods and the GM ‘system’. This included improving 
formal mechanisms via clearer governance and accountability structures, and using 
the Integrated Care Board’s Population Health Committee, which could prove to be 
an important vehicle for driving the approach to population health (see more on this 
in Section 7). 

In conclusion, it takes continued work and communication to keep the balance of 
where decisions are made, and where things happen, for population health. GM can 
point to clear successes, but this has needed and will continue to need constant 
attention in GM and, by extension, elsewhere. 

…we’ve got to be constantly asking ourselves the question about which level things 
fit at, because there are some things like the really highly specialised commissioning 
stuff that almost certainly is better done at a large geographical level. But some of 
the other stuff, I think it will move around depending on what the question is. Our 
thinking can shift around. So if you take marketing and media and campaign and 
influencing work, there’s lots of that that’s best delivered by community workers, 
influencers on the ground within communities, community champions, whatever it 
might be, who can really connect with what people’s motivations are, have a really 
meaningful conversation with people.

Collaborative, cross-system working

Much of the above relies on – and is enabled by – good collaborative partnership 
working, particularly at the local level. It is clear that this has been a key feature 
across and within GM over time. But the experience of the Covid-19 pandemic has 
accelerated this, with participants referring to it as a pivotal time.

…the pandemic has really helped the relationship between health and local 
government in Manchester… The city really gelled together and that’s been 
sustained, and so things like the joint work the Council and Manchester FT  
[Foundation Trust] are doing on the North Manchester regeneration is 
[now] possible.

Page 111



Population health in Greater Manchester

The ‘how’ of developing a population health approach in GM� 36

 5 1  2  3 4  8 6  7

Fundamentally, interviewees felt that the pandemic was a catalyst for genuine 
partnership working because ‘organisational hierarchies got put aside and people 
coral together’. But there was a concern that this progress in terms of partnership 
working could be lost given the pressures for the system to ‘return to normal’ and 
within the pressured financial context. 

Working with communities

Through our conversations we also heard about the importance of community 
engagement in developing and maintaining a system-wide population health 
approach. We heard how the pandemic had laid bare the racial disparities in health 
outcomes and structural health inequalities affecting populations across GM and 
the level of mistrust between some communities and statutory bodies. This was 
particularly apparent within some of the more deprived areas of Manchester, 
manifest in low Covid-19 vaccination take-up rates. 

To overcome some of these challenges, parts of the city embarked on a programme  
of vaccination outreach alongside setting up sounding boards. These sounding 
boards brought together community leaders, faith leaders and others to consider  
the reasons for mistrust and low vaccination uptake and to develop community‑based 
solutions to improve trust between communities and statutory bodies. Since the 
pandemic these sounding boards have been retained to further improve trust, 
working on issues such as cancer screening uptake among ethnic minority groups 
within the city. As one of our interviewees told us:

…we’ve got a much stronger neighbourhood focus, we have health development 
co-ordinators in our neighbourhoods… it’s interesting, the Council have invested 
in more community development workers in our neighbourhoods, we’ve brought a 
service back in-house to the Council to strengthen that. Because of that, not just 
because of that, but it’s like… it’s not just, well they’re the people who are going to 
build up trust in the Council, that’s not the intent. It’s more that recognition that 
trust takes time to win back and also a recognition by the Council, which they 
do get, that when they’re not the best placed. It’s true for the NHS as well, when 
they’re not the best-placed organisation. We’re not there yet and we’ve only taken 
some of the learning from the pandemic into it.

Page 112



Population health in Greater Manchester

The ‘how’ of developing a population health approach in GM� 37

 5 1  2  3 4  8 6  7

Senior leaders in Bury told us about the crucial importance of giving communities at 
place level real ‘agency to improve their own lives, their own outcomes’:

…because, in the end, unless inequality is tackled in a way that shifts power from 
public systems into people in communities, population health is not going to shift.

Finally, Stockport has built an ‘ecosystem’ of networks, including groups for lesbian, 
gay, bisexual, transgender, queer and other (LGBTQ+) populations, a race equality 
partnership as well as a food network, which brings people together to tackle issues 
such as food poverty, food sustainability, food waste and overweight and obesity. 
The networks have provided the site with important engagement with population 
groups within the place but also helped local communities think about their role in 
supporting one another’s health and wellbeing.

Page 113



Population health in Greater Manchester

Where is GM’s approach to population health now?� 38

 6 5 1  2  3 4  8 7

6  Where is GM’s approach  
to population health now? 

Greater Manchester (GM) was the trailblazer for devolution and population health. 
However, policy and practice have changed significantly in the past five years, 
and other areas have received bespoke devolution deals, which means they are 
more able to act through the wider determinants of health, to improve population 
health. The Health Foundation has a programme of work looking at this, including 
how devolution can make a difference to health inequalities (the Health Foundation 
undated). See also Goodwin et al (forthcoming) for early findings on this subject.

The main change in health and care policy, however, has been the development of 
integrated care systems (ICSs), a key purpose of which is to help the National Health 
Service (NHS) be a much better partner for population health, especially on the wider 
determinants of health, than it has in the past – one of the chief purposes of GM’s 
‘dual’ devolution. The Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership has 
transitioned from what it was – a bespoke partnership that GM designed – into the 
Greater Manchester Integrated Care System. Wider structures have therefore caught 
up with GM and its approach to population health. In this section we set out some 
of the implications and challenges of this, the wider challenges to GM’s work on 
population health and also the successes that we heard about. So where is GM now?

The development of integrated care systems – towards population health?

After the health reforms of the coalition government, NHS England, which those 
reforms established, sought to move to a more collaborative and integrated approach 
to the provision of services between NHS organisations. At its core, the aim was to 
provide a more integrated experience and better outcomes for patients, responding to 
the fact of an ageing population with multiple health conditions (‘comorbidities’) and 
with more complex and inter-related needs. It sought to do this through two avenues: 
first, through learning from various care pilots, the vanguard programmes and similar, 
and second, through the integration of organisations into partnerships and systems. 

Page 114

https://www.health.org.uk/funding-and-partnerships/projects/regional-devolution-and-health-inequalities
https://www.health.org.uk/funding-and-partnerships/projects/regional-devolution-and-health-inequalities
https://cles.org.uk/publications/


Population health in Greater Manchester

Where is GM’s approach to population health now?� 39

 6 5 1  2  3 4  8 7

This latter integration has been a huge undertaking and started with the development 
of partnership vehicles on large geographical footprints known as ‘sustainability and 
transformation plans’, and later ‘sustainability and transformation partnerships’. 

In June 2022, legislation in the form of the Health and Social Care Act 2022 was 
passed that introduced the current 42 ICSs in England, of which GM became one.  
These systems are intended to better integrate the planning, delivery and 
experience of care for patients across NHS organisations, and through strategic 
partnerships and action between the NHS and other organisations, improve 
population health. They operate through an integrated care board, tasked chiefly 
with integrating the delivery of care services, and an integrated care partnership, 
which is a wider partnership for health. Together, they are tasked with adhering to 
four principles that underpin the whole purpose of ICSs (NHS England 2024):

	• improve outcomes in population health and health care

	• tackle inequalities in access, outcomes and experience 

	• enhance productivity and value for money

	• help the NHS support broader social and economic development. 

Despite inevitable growing pains, population health – and as part of that, a much 
deeper and serious understanding of the need to tackle inequalities in health in the 
population – is a core element of why ICSs have been created. We now have early 
signs, in particular, of how ICSs are thinking through their work on health inequalities, 
and in turn to what extent this is through a population health lens (Buck 2024a).

Becoming an ICS 

In GM, given the head start it had and its experience of working as a de facto ICS, 
the shift to a formal ICS structure should, in theory, have been a cosmetic change 
only. But in practice, it has been more of a challenge.

From being an outlier, GM has become enveloped by the pack, in particular in 
terms of how NHS England manages, assesses and supports ICSs more widely. 
This has meant organisational and cultural change, as a locally evolved partnership 

Page 115

http://www.england.nhs.uk/integratedcare/what-is-integrated-care
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/blogs/integrated-care-systems-tackling-health-inequalities


Population health in Greater Manchester

Where is GM’s approach to population health now?� 40

 6 5 1  2  3 4  8 7

arrangement has been superseded by one that has a stronger national framework 
behind it. Many people have previously summarised GM’s style as working as 
‘10+1’ – the 10 constituent local authorities plus the regional body, the Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority, of which the Greater Manchester Health and 
Social Care Partnership was ‘the one’. 10+1 implies a partnership of equals, not 
a hierarchy, and GM has been careful over a long period of time to ensure that 
decision-making is joint and leadership roles are spread across the partnership. 

We heard in our work that the transition to an ICS, the oversight of NHS England 
and the associated hierarchical management structure, ‘tone’ and culture of the 
NHS were therefore challenging for wider partners in the initial stages. An internally 
commissioned external review in May 2023 suggested that there were problems 
with transparency, including in relation to performance and finances between 
partners, over-complex governance and, aligning with what we heard from leaders 
in some places (see below), the ability to make progress at place level stalling in 
some cases. Finally and most relevantly:

…many partners felt delivering the overarching strategy for the system (to improve 
population health) is conflicting with achieving financial balance and meeting  
NHS targets.
(Dunhill 2023)

Financial and other challenges to GM’s progress on population health

GM is not immune to the challenges of adopting a population health approach, 
and progress has not been linear. Across our work, we found that GM is facing five 
key challenges to its approach, all driven by the financial challenges of a system 
that is running hot and that is reorientating to the presence of an ICS: spending on 
prevention being the first cut and making the business case for population health; 
level of ambition versus key workforce capacities and bandwidth for population 
health; the risk of going back to organisational priorities, not system ones; the 
balance of power between regional partners and place; and some people may not 
be benefiting from economic growth.

Page 116

https://www.hsj.co.uk/greater-manchester-ics/muddle-frustration-and-distrust-at-most-mature-ics/7034906.article


Population health in Greater Manchester

Where is GM’s approach to population health now?� 41

 6 5 1  2  3 4  8 7

Spending on prevention being the first cut and making the business case for 
population health

Unsurprisingly, perhaps, the biggest risk to the population health journey we heard 
about was how to maintain the focus on public sector reform – and as a key part of 
that, population health – in a financially challenged system. We heard about a long, 
proud history of developing good solutions and conditions for the GM population 
health system approach, but there were some concerns that these would be lost 
within the current context and financial pressures. Interviewees noted a concern 
about the loss of learning from population health approaches as the system bows 
to financial pressure. 

System leaders we spoke to told us how prevention is often the first ‘casualty’ of 
budget cuts as outcomes in this area are longer term and the pressure is to focus on 
more immediate issues – for example, achieving NHS targets. As one senior leader 
put it:

The financial sustainability is where I, I think, [we] have most concerns now. And 
I think this will test the rhetoric and the accountability… it feels as though the 
rhetoric around health inequalities, financial, will be tested. And I sense already, 
unfortunately, the easy targets are still prevention where they are, they’re easier 
to cut. 

Leaders told us that it was a constant battle to ‘prove’ that maintaining a focus 
on population health would reduce demand on health and care services in the 
long term. Key to overcoming this challenge is to continue to make the case for 
prevention and developing the case for continued investment – together – at a 
system level (see Section 7). This must be tied with a coherent and enduring shared 
narrative and whole-system leadership for population health.

Through our conversations, we heard about the pressure to demonstrate return and 
value for population health work and the difficulty of doing so. However, positively, 
senior leaders felt that things were getting better and that, by building the evidence 
base, the question was not just about reducing demand and cost for public services 
but also about different ways of working within existing resources.

I think we need to get better at using the funds that we already have differently, 
using our existing staffing and our partners’ existing staffing differently, and 

Page 117



Population health in Greater Manchester

Where is GM’s approach to population health now?� 42

 6 5 1  2  3 4  8 7

understanding how we make sure that our efforts to influence all of that spend and 
those professionals and how they work, we need to have a framework for knowing 
whether that’s effective. We need to have a framework for knowing whether that is 
making a difference and how we should be going about that to make that work as 
effective as we can make it. Because I think it is going to be that broader influencing 
work that shapes what difference we can make over the next few years, at least as 
much as the stuff that we commission and do more directly using the budgets that 
we hold at whichever geographical level.

Level of ambition versus key workforce capacities and bandwidth for  
population health

Alongside the financial challenges is the capacity of key parts of the workforce to 
deliver the level of ambition for population health at place and GM levels.

…we’ve set ourselves a really ambitious joint forward plan but we struggle with 
the capacity to deliver that as well as our role as directors of public health in 
our locality, and that’s not because we don’t want to do it, it’s just because we 
physically haven’t got the capacity to do it. 

Interviewees also feared, given the financial pressures, that capacity issues would 
cause less focus and ‘headspace’ for continuing to make progress on the population 
health approach, as staff are required to deal instead with the immediate pressures 
of the ‘triple deficit’ (the financial deficit, the performance and quality deficit and 
the population health deficit) in GM. 

…so we can’t drop A&E [accident and emergency] waiting times, we can’t drop 
elective care. These are things we have to do. But at the same time, if we just 
continue to focus on those, the prevention side of things is not going to make 
significant impact.

Page 118



Population health in Greater Manchester

Where is GM’s approach to population health now?� 43

 6 5 1  2  3 4  8 7

The risk of going back to organisational priorities, not system ones

Within a financially challenged and heavily scrutinised system, we heard that some 
system partners were drawn back towards their own organisational priorities rather 
than system ones. This was particularly evident with the pressure to reduce demand 
in the health and care part of the system. As one senior leader told us: 

I think under pressure, sometimes that does shift, doesn’t it? Because then your 
priority becomes how do we stop people rocking up at A&E, rather than how do we 
improve the health and wellbeing of our residents and make sure that everybody 
lives a long, healthy, happy life, to the best of their abilities? And that I think is the 
challenge, isn’t it? It’s that we end up focusing on, oh, we need to reduce demand 
for primary care and demand for A&E, but that’s not our priority. Our priority is, 
how do we make the best for our residents? 

The balance between regional partners and place

The financial pressures, and the shifting architecture of decision-making following 
the creation of the ICS in GM, have changed the balance between regional and 
locality decision-making power, and led to a shift in perception from a 10+1 
partnership to a more hierarchical relationship. As a result, senior leaders felt that 
there needed to be greater clarity on the roles and responsibilities of different parts 
of the system and how they inter-relate.

I think that whole thing about locality–GM balance is probably the bit that still 
feels the wobbliest. It’s the bit that… the complexity of it and the sheer amount 
of change that we’ve gone through and continue to go through where I feel we 
have… when things go wrong, it tends to be in that territory, doesn’t it, about that 
relationship between localities and GM? That seems to be the bit where we get stuff 
wrong more than on other things.

Page 119



Population health in Greater Manchester

Where is GM’s approach to population health now?� 44

 6 5 1  2  3 4  8 7

Some may not be benefiting from economic change

Finally, and particularly at a borough level, while the focus on population health 
and economic success as two sides of the same coin was considered a key positive, 
there was also recognition of the challenge of ensuring economic growth reached 
all parts of the population, and did not inadvertently widen health inequalities. As 
set out above, the evidence so far suggests that GM has largely avoided this. But 
there remains the risk that an economic-regeneration and development-‘heavy’ 
approach means opportunities are created for some populations, and not others – 
indeed evidence from other countries suggests that economic devolution can widen 
health inequalities (du Plessis et al 2019). The challenge is to continually ensure that 
all local communities are involved and benefiting from economic growth.

Some senior leaders also felt that there had been a loss of collective ambition 
and loss of confidence about the importance of population health as part of the 
economic ambition. One told us:

I think there’s been a collective loss of ambition and a loss of confidence [over 
the connection between population health and economic ambition] and we’ve 
retrenched a little bit. I would really like to revisit and reunderstand that sense of 
ambition that drove Greater Manchester to the devolution agreement and drove 
Greater Manchester to extraordinary economic performance, but through the lens 
of population health and through the lens of inequality.

Page 120



Population health in Greater Manchester

Staying the course in GM� 45

 7 5 1  2  3 4  8 6

7  Staying the course in GM

Greater Manchester (GM) has been the beacon for others on population health, and 
the evidence suggests it is starting to pay off. Yet the journey has not been smooth. 
Perhaps the single most important lesson for others, and for GM itself, is to stay the 
course and do what it takes to do so. To turn back now, in the face of organisational 
changes and financial pressures, would be the wrong course. This section turns to 
meeting the future, and how GM is planning to stay the course, while not standing 
still on its journey. 

Meeting the financial challenges through population health

GM has severe financial challenges, and this is a threat to the focus on population 
health, as set out in the previous section. But, unlike some other ICSs, GM has turned 
the extensive experience, expertise and analytical strengths it has developed through 
its population health work to make the case that sticking to a population health 
approach is needed to get to financial sustainability in the medium to longer term. 

Modelling undertaken to understand the drivers of the financial pressures in GM 
showed that they included demographic change (including higher projected births 
and inward migration), with many people with preventable multiple long-term 
conditions and deteriorating health unless acted on, cost pressures associated with 
inflation and health demands, and elective recovery following the pandemic.

Key to the financial pressures, which will grow over time, is that around half of 
people in GM have some form of sub-optimal health in terms of a recorded ill 
health condition. Continuing on the current trajectory and taking into account 
the pre‑existing deficit due to an unaffordable model of care have been modelled 
to result in the system deficit growing to £1.9 billion in a ‘do nothing scenario’ by 
2026–7. While provider efficiencies can tackle a portion of this, the big potential 
is in terms of greater investment in population health through: targeted prevention 
and early detection measures; behaviour-change support; proactive care supported 
by population health management; optimising care for specific cohorts, for example 
people with cardiovascular disease or diabetes or people who are frail; and 

Page 121



Population health in Greater Manchester

Staying the course in GM� 46

 7 5 1  2  3 4  8 6

improving care and prevention for the most disadvantaged communities (including 
in relation to substance use, housing, food insecurity and transport). 

An investment in these areas as part of a broader population health approach and 
implementing them at scale is part of the answer to meeting the financial challenges. 

An honest assessment: a journey that is not finished

As part of our work for this report, we discussed GM’s past and future journey 
at this key moment of reflection with key leaders, including GM’s Public Health 
Leadership Group and the Population Health Committee of the Integrated Care 
Board. We asked committee members to score GM on some of the key aspects that 
underpin a population health approach. These were drawn from our experience of 
working on, and supporting, population approaches across England since our Vision 
for population health report was published in 2018 (Buck et al 2018) and bringing 
together some of that learning to support the background work of the Hewitt 
review of ICSs (Hewitt 2023). In the support for the latter we argued that to move 
to become a population health focused ICS required progress and alignment across 
five key areas: 

	• using levers (for example, payment systems that incentivise prevention, 
and shared outcomes frameworks and goals that include all the pillars of 
population health, not just the delivery of care services) 

	• adhering to the system principles that underpinned the creation of ICSs  
and the leadership behaviours that support them 

	• having the level and distribution of capability within the system to  
move forward 

	• fully acting as anchor institutions and using the assets of communities 

	• taking a population health approach to key areas, including multiple  
long-term health conditions and children’s health. 

We asked members of the Population Health Committee to self-assess GM’s 
progress, how far it had come on these big themes and how aligned it was in terms 
of meeting them as a system. 

Page 122

http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/reports/vision-population-health
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-hewitt-review-an-independent-review-of-integrated-care-systems


Population health in Greater Manchester

Staying the course in GM� 47

 7 5 1  2  3 4  8 6

Areas where most progress was thought to have been made were having clear 
systems principles and in terms of capability. On the first, we are in agreement. 
GM has done more to embed a vision, principles and model or framework for 
population health than any other system. This is apparent across its strategies and 
governance, and population health is as present in local case studies. The principles 
are strongly connected to what drives population health at GM and local levels, 
including economic growth and fairness. 

On the second, capability, GM is again making good progress in our view. In 
particular, strongly connected to its work on population health is its approach to  
health inequalities – the GM Fairer Health for All (FHFA) framework (Greater 
Manchester Integrated Care Partnership 2023). This commits to:

…continuing to develop GM as a population health system, including shaping 
an Integrated Care Partnership that takes a population health approach, uses 
population health management, actively values and includes the contribution and 
challenge of public health and sees itself as an active partner in shaping the four 
domains of the GM population health model and the overlaps between them. 
(Greater Manchester Integrated Care Partnership 2023)

As part of this it seeks to: hard-wire equity into decision-making; increase the 
power of communities in decision-making; increase the representation of the 
community in the workforce; introduce proportionate universalism6 in how 
funding is spent; and act more strongly on the social, commercial, economic and 
environmental drivers of health.

And underpinning the Fairer Health for All framework is the Fairer Health for All  
Academy (Greater Manchester Integrated Care Partnership 2024). This brings 
together examples of best practice interventions, stories of change and training 
opportunities related to tackling inequalities across GM. Its key role, however, is to 
develop the internal capability and networks within GM to tackle health inequalities 
and how they present themselves, through investing in leadership development, 
fellows programmes and ‘communities of practice’. The Fairer Health for All 
programme and approach are a key sign that GM is finding the bandwidth, the 

6 That is, in order to reduce health inequalities in practice, interventions and actions should be universally offered but 
with an intensity and a scale that is proportional to the level of disadvantage. See Francis-Oliviero et al 2020 for a review 
and critique of this approach.

Page 123

https://fairerhealthacademy.gmtableau.nhs.uk
https://fairerhealthacademy.gmtableau.nhs.uk
https://fairerhealthacademy.gmtableau.nhs.uk
https://fairerhealthacademy.gmtableau.nhs.uk
https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/52799


Population health in Greater Manchester

Staying the course in GM� 48

 7 5 1  2  3 4  8 6

resources and the space to invest in increasing its capacity and capability to tackle 
the root causes of health inequalities and poor population health. This is part of a 
wider ‘academy’ movement across England’s ICSs. This is a good sign, in our view, 
that population health approaches are here to stay. 

However, the Population Health Committee recognised that there is more to be done 
in other areas, including a deeper population health approach to the prevention, 
delay and treatment of multiple long-term health conditions and children’s health. 
The area that the committee was most self-critical about, however, was action on 
the levers for population health. This critically includes the incentives and rewards 
for focusing on population health. Some of these are in GM’s gift, many are not (see 
Section 8). 

As part of its ongoing journey, GM also needs to keep asking itself questions and 
adapt to change. This includes deeper and ongoing analysis to understand the 
impacts on population health, and to continue responding to wider issues that 
affect population health. On the first, GM needs to revisit the published findings 
set out above on the progress it has made on improvements in health and health 
inequalities compared with other areas. The existing published analysis stops just 
before the Covid-19 pandemic. We know that the pandemic has disproportionately 
affected disadvantaged communities. Further analysis is therefore needed to better 
understand whether devolution and the focus on population health have provided 
any degree of population ‘resilience’ or protection, and whether the impact on 
population health and health inequalities has been sustained beyond the pandemic. 
GM, like other systems and areas, also needs to pay more attention to areas such as 
structural racism and the commercial determinants of health, which are increasingly 
recognised as areas that affect population health.

Page 124



Population health in Greater Manchester

Lessons and recommendations� 49

 8 5 1  2  3 4  6  7

8  Lessons and 
recommendations

It is hard to stick to the course on population health. As we have seen, Greater 
Manchester (GM), the ‘poster child’ for devolution and population health, has felt 
that as much as anyone, despite its consistent efforts over time. We believe there 
are lessons for others from this experience – for national leaders and systems, and 
for other integrated care systems (ICSs) and local partnerships seeking to become 
more population health focused. 

Since the creation of ICSs, there has been consistent central focus and attention 
on finances and service goals, such as waiting times, to the detriment of important 
ambitions such as improving population health. ICSs have also lost capability and 
bandwidth due to funding cuts. This has diverted leadership and management 
attention away from fulfilling the principles underpinning their creation, including 
on population health.

The new government has an opportunity to reset this, and to better support the 
development of population health systems through creating better conditions 
for ICSs, and through ensuring that population health approaches underpin its 
approach to its health mission and connect with its wider approach to devolution 
in England. If the government is to deliver the goal set out in the Labour manifesto 
that ‘Labour will tackle the social determinants of health, halving the gap in healthy 
life expectancy between the richest and poorest regions in England’ (Labour 2024; 
Buck 2024b), thriving population health approaches are a key ingredient to meeting 
that goal, and there is much to learn from GM’s journey so far on the achievements 
already made, and where it will go next.

We now set out our recommendations for the government, for the Department 
of Health and Social Care and NHS England, and for other systems pursuing 
population health approaches. 

Page 125

https://labour.org.uk/change
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/blogs/governments-reducing-inequalities-healthy-life-expectancy


Population health in Greater Manchester

Lessons and recommendations� 50

 8 5 1  2  3 4  6  7

Recommendations for the government

	• Ensure that the health mission has a clear delivery plan and is delivered 
through a population health approach. The core goal of the health mission – 
to halve health inequalities in healthy life expectancy between regions – is 
galvanising. But it will rely on action across government if it is to be achieved, 
through supporting ICSs and others but also through the health mission 
directly. It must therefore include actions across the four pillars of population 
health (that is the wider determinants of health, health behaviours, the role of 
an integrated health and care system and the contribution of the community 
itself), as GM has done at the system level.

	• Ensure that the health mission aligns with the other missions and vice versa.  
The health mission is dependent on the other missions and vice versa. We know,  
for example, that devolution that narrows economic inequalities does not  
necessarily narrow health inequalities. Intent is required, and the government 
should learn from the GM experience on what it takes to follow through on that 
intent over time.

	• Ensure that sponsoring departments work coherently together below the 
national level. Success will require government departments to work much 
more coherently together at subnational level than they have to date, including 
through more unified and aligned relationships with combined authorities, 
mayoral roles and other aspects of devolution and how they relate to ICSs. 
Again, GM provides lessons on this, and the government should reach out for 
its advice. The NHS Confederation has also produced helpful thinking on this 
(Wood 2024).

Recommendations for the Department of Health and Social Care and  
NHS England 

	• Play a full role and cohere with other missions, including the growth mission, 
helping improve economic productivity through its role in keeping people well 
and productive, and through the NHS’s huge role as an economic giant and 
anchor institution. It must not see the health mission as an insular DHSC-only 
concern, and it must act positively to support the delivery of other-related 
missions that are critical for population health. NHS England, as the core agent 
of the Department of Health and Social Care, must also fully engage with other 
government departments and their delivery agents.

Page 126

https://www.nhsconfed.org/publications/prevention-population-prosperity-devolution


Population health in Greater Manchester

Lessons and recommendations� 51

 8 5 1  2  3 4  6  7

	• Reiterate that population health is a core goal of ICSs. This requires consistent 
strong messaging from ministers and the leaders of the NHS that population 
health is a core goal for ICSs. The leadership focus and action are too heavily 
skewed towards waiting times and financial performance, which diverts 
leaders’ attention away from long-term goals for population health.

	• Ensure accountability systems and supporting tools are focused on population 
health goals. The existing accountability structures and focus are too heavily 
weighted towards financial and performance goals. This acts to skew effort, 
and reward for effort, away from the other founding principles of ICSs – 
improving population health and tackling health inequalities – and the wider 
contribution that ICSs make to the economies and societies they are part of. 
This needs to change. DHSC and NHSE must rebalance accountability systems 
and tools towards those goals, for example through specifying that ICS shared 
outcomes frameworks emphasise and include the four pillars of population 
health and the role of the NHS and its partners in delivering them.

	• Design system levers that incentivise and reward action on population health. 
This means alignment on funding and funding mechanisms for population 
health so that, for example: 
	◦ prevention is adequately funded
	◦ leaders and systems are incentivised and rewarded for investing in 

outcomes improvement, rather than process and throughput
	◦ within the boundaries of ICSs (and other partnerships), resources and 

effort can flow where they are most effective and provide value for 
money, including between sectors.

	• Resist the urge to reorganise system footprints. Multiple reorganisations 
have a destabilising effect on long-term effort and goals. GM has benefited 
from having a stable identity over time. For longer-term system shifts, such as 
population health, this is necessary, if not sufficient on its own. 

GM offers many lessons to other ICSs that wish to adopt population health 
approaches. We recognise that none of this provides a ‘drag and drop’ toolkit, as 
every context, and system configuration, is different. And GM has benefited from 
a relatively stable political balance among its constituent local authorities, a strong 
partnership model developed over a considerable period of time and an ICS footprint 
that maps onto its combined authority. However, any ICS and system can take on  
the following recommendations. 

Page 127



Population health in Greater Manchester

Lessons and recommendations� 52

 8 5 1  2  3 4  6  7

Recommendations for other systems pursuing population health 
approaches

	• Develop a widely owned vision and adopt a clear but flexible framework or 
model to help cohere efforts in service of it. This takes time and leadership but 
providing a guiding vision on the direction of travel and purpose, and having 
a clear framework to help identify and map contributions across partners and 
sectors, enabling people to understand everyone’s contributions, are essential. 
Partners from across the system have to ‘believe’ in the agreed aims of the 
population health model, and be willing to come together, work together and 
draw resources, capabilities and workforce together to achieve them. This does 
not imply rigidity – models need to be flexible and adaptable but do need to 
guide the overall approach. 

	• Be consistent in approach over time. A vision and framework will help with this, 
but it also requires coherent leadership, tenacity and commitment. This takes 
time. Progress towards a clear, structured, embedded vision is not linear and 
partners need to develop good collaborative relationships. There has to be a 
willingness and desire to approach the system as a population health one. The 
journey will not be straightforward – many factors will cause turbulence, including 
external challenges (such as a pandemic), organisational change and financial 
challenges. But the lesson is to sustain the approach through a consistent focus 
on population health as a core goal, alongside and interdependent with the wider 
core aims of financial balance and good performance.

	• Ensure clarity over system-level and local roles and reflect this in governance. 
Effort needs to be spent on explicitly developing and clarifying roles between 
system partners, and between the system level, regional level and place, 
particularly recognising local authorities as the building blocks of population 
health. There will be inevitable tensions between tiers and system partners. 
These need to be recognised and explicitly worked through as part of an 
ongoing process. Clear governance and accountability lines between system 
partners need to be agreed, allowing system partners to understand how 
decisions and action are taken. This includes that some things are more 
appropriate and effective done at regional level (for example, in some systems, 
this may involve activities such as tobacco control and the approach to certain 
types of food advertising) but the default is local and place-based action. 
Key groupings, such as directors of public health, and connected networks 
and leadership groups, should be seen as an important bridge between the 

Page 128



Population health in Greater Manchester

Lessons and recommendations� 53

 8 5 1  2  3 4  6  7

different parts of the system. The objective is to ensure places have the 
appropriate level of permission, trust and power to develop an approach that 
best suits their local population, and at the ICS and/or regional level, that 
regions enable places to ‘do’ the work of population health.

	• Constantly learn, develop and build capability for population health. Systems 
need to invest in themselves and in their people, and evaluate and learn over 
time. Progress will not be linear and learning can depreciate. It takes active 
attention and investment in capability to respond to the changing challenges of 
population health. Capability can take many forms, including: 
	◦ analytical power being close to and influencing key decision-makers
	◦ strong relationships with communities to understand their needs  

and strengths
	◦ formal investment in academy and other models that constantly invest 

in the knowledge and capability of people to take a population health 
approach, through their roles.

	• Be open to external bodies and the support they can offer, and develop 
an evaluative organisational culture that focuses not just on processes and 
relationships, but also on the impact on population health outcomes. 

	• Lead and act on the knowledge that population health and health and care  
system goals are intertwined and codependent. Too often, progress on 
population health is seen as a desirable, a luxury, but not essential to a 
well‑functioning health and care system. While this is partly due to the 
behaviours, decisions and processes of the Department of Health and Social 
Care, NHS England and ministers, ICSs are responsible for their own future, 
and the future of their population’s health. Investment in prevention and 
population health is the route to meeting the two goals of having a financially 
well-performing health and care system and one that is preventive and focused 
on population health. The latter must not be sacrificed for the former. This 
requires strong leadership and a commitment to stick to the course when it is 
easier not to.

	• Lead and act on the knowledge that population health and economic goals 
are intertwined and codependent. At system and place levels, there is more 
recognition, including from the past and new government, that economic 
goals and success and population health are intertwined and codependent. 
This is true for individuals (for example, there is a connection between 

Page 129



Population health in Greater Manchester

Lessons and recommendations� 54

 8 5 1  2  3 4  6  7

good-quality work and health) and for places (for example, there is a link 
between regeneration and the health of communities). While there will be 
tensions and trade-offs, economic and population health goals should be 
viewed as symbiotic through long-term co-designed economic and health 
strategies. Systems need to be more cognisant of this than most currently are, 
systematising anchor approaches, but moving beyond them to improve both 
the economic and health status of their populations.

Page 130



Annex: Case studies and their population health journeys� 55

Population health in Greater Manchester

 5 1  2  3 4  8 6  7

Annex: Case studies and their 
population health journeys
Greater Manchester (GM) is a combined authority area in the north-west of England,  
with an overall population of 2.8 million people. It is the largest subregional economy 
in the UK, outside London and the south-east of England. It has 10 constituent 
local authorities, three of which – Bury, the city of Manchester and Stockport 
– comprised the case studies in our research for this report. The GM Integrated 
Care System covers the GM combined authority footprint. The area’s average life 
expectancy is 77.5 years for men and 81.3 years for women, lower than the average 
for England of 79.4 and 83.1 respectively. Healthy life expectancy is also lower 
than that for England, at 61.0 years for men (compared with 63.1) and 60.7 years 
for women (compared with 63.9) (Greater Manchester Combined Authority 2024). 
Deprivation levels in GM vary between and within boroughs, but overall, at the 2021 
census, almost six in 10 children and young people in GM lived in the 30% most 
deprived lower super output areas (LSOAs) nationally (Greater Manchester Combined 
Authority 2023).

We now present our three case studies.

Bury – the story so far 

Bury is a largely urban borough situated in the northern part of GM. With a 
population of 194,606 people, it is the least populated of the 10 metropolitan 
boroughs in GM. Bury’s age structure shows the working-age population to be 
61.6% of the population. People aged 15 and under represent 20% of the population 
and people aged 65 and over represent 18.4% of the population. Life expectancy 
at birth for men is 79 years, slightly lower than the England average of 79.4, and 
82.1 years for women, one year lower than the England average of 83.1. Bury is in 
the 30% most deprived local authorities in England and the eighth most deprived 
of the 10 GM boroughs. In Bury, 10% of lower super output areas (LSOAs) are 
in the 10% most deprived in England (see The Bury Directory (undated) for more 

Page 131

http://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/research/census-2021-greater-manchester-topic-briefings/children-and-young-people
http://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/research/census-2021-greater-manchester-topic-briefings/children-and-young-people
https://theburydirectory.co.uk


Annex: Case studies and their population health journeys� 56

Population health in Greater Manchester

 5 1  2  3 4  8 6  7

background statistics on Bury). Bury was selected as a case study due to it being an 
early adopter of a population health approach and its positive working relationship 
with the GM Health and Social Care Partnership, helping refine the relationship and 
respective roles between place and the regional body.

What defines the Bury population health approach?

The Bury approach to population health is set within the devolution deal 
framework, and leaders of place (usually local councils) have a democratic mandate 
to work with the NHS to innovate and improve the health of Bury’s population. 
Senior leaders told us that paramount to the balance of ‘power’ between the 
devolved region and the place-based local authority is the level of permission 
and trust placed in local leadership (led by councils) to work with the NHS to 
improve population health. In Bury there is a strong link between the population 
health model and recognition that poverty is one of the biggest barriers to people 
accessing ‘good work’. 

The population health approach in Bury is framed within a vision strategy called 
‘Let’s Do It!’, which is set within an ambition for inclusive economic growth. At the 
heart of the vision is to improve health outcomes and deliver economic growth 
(symbiotically). Within Bury we heard how the locus of change and impact is set at 
the neighbourhood level – giving communities and partners the power to improve 
health and economic outcomes. Senior leaders told us about the importance of 
population health being embedded in everything Bury ‘does’ at a strategic level, 
at a leadership level, with regards to governance and to teams too. The borough 
has taken a deliberate approach to developing leadership at neighbourhood 
level – setting the foundations and context for change, and for people to lead on 
a neighbourhood footprint and ‘get on with the work’ (with permission, agency and 
trust). Bury has what senior leaders described as a ‘genuine’ 10-year strategy on 
population health (framed as the wider determinants of health), one that is:

…authentically understood across the system and to a level of maturity that 
everybody can put their own words to it, but is describing the same thing in their 
particular context as a partner.

Page 132



Annex: Case studies and their population health journeys� 57

Population health in Greater Manchester

 5 1  2  3 4  8 6  7

Partnership working

Relationships and partnership working are at the heart of the population health 
approach in Bury. Senior leaders referred to a partnership commitment to, and 
shared view on, population health as the organising principle.

At a place level, you’ve got the joined-up constructs we have to have, certainly 
around the ICS, but we’ve also got other partnerships all connecting in now. This 
‘Team Bury’ concept, where all the partners come together, is a very lively and real 
and vibrant thing, to the extent that we’ve now agreed that, quarterly, we will pull 
together a big group of people, a couple of hundred people now, which is all the 
partners plus some. I was really wary about doing it because I thought the risk 
of a big flop is quite high here. Au contraire, we had another one last week and 
you could feel there are more people coming and the quality of engagement and 
conversation is very real. Whilst there’s a bit of a spectrum, fundamentally, people 
get it in their heart and have a shared view and you don’t get that in many places.

Bury has put in significant time and resources into creating good collaborative 
working practices between staff and organisations. For example, we heard how 
leaders in Bury have created a ‘transformation team’ within the Bury Integrated 
Care Partnership. The purpose of this includes:

…capability building, of operational management level, giving them the right skills 
to do some of this [population health approach] and then creating the time and 
space is something they’re doing in their teams as well. So, by making some of this 
important, around the training, relationship building, et cetera, in that capability 
building, that’s then going through a really good vertical line all the way through, 
kind of, management and leadership structures.

Senior leaders described their approach as a ‘bottom-up approach to population 
health. Rather than a top down, our whole approach in Bury is focused on 
population health’. They acknowledged that this only works if frontline staff know 
each other, are able to work well together and have a knowledge of the residents 
and the neighbourhoods they serve. Senior leaders described the importance 
of leadership and partnership working at the neighbourhood level, to create the 
context for action at that level. They have: 

…joined together the whole of the Council with the whole of the NHS, not just 
those parts of the Council that deal with adult social care or environmental health 

Page 133



Annex: Case studies and their population health journeys� 58

Population health in Greater Manchester

 5 1  2  3 4  8 6  7

and population health, but the whole of the Council. That’s a key distinction. This is 
a partnership with the whole of the Council, not one that’s focused on integration 
of services alone.

Senior leaders across Bury spoke of the importance of bridging the ‘cultural 
gaps’ between the NHS and local authorities for successful partnership working. 
Understanding that problems and solutions are shared has been instrumental in the 
population health system approach in Bury. As one senior leader told us: 

Because I think where we’re at is, all our problems are shared problems. So, the 
elective waiting time isn’t just the NHS’s problem. It’s a shared problem, and 
therefore there’ll be shared solutions, and some of that is about urgent care, yeah, 
but the longer-term solutions to some of these problems are not sat in the NHS 
are they? And I think equally the NHS is also increasingly starting to see that 
employment is not just somebody else’s problem, you know? The NHS employs a lot 
of people, there’s the anchor organisation, so I think we’re getting more to a place 
where these are all our shared issues.

Furthermore, and as part of this, the leadership put together an intensive 
programme of strengths-based training for teams and arranged for some different 
groups of staff to be located in the same place as well. Enabling staff to come 
together and understand each other’s perspectives and ways of working has been 
fundamental to overcoming some of the challenges of bringing different teams 
together. As one senior leader noted: 

I think just knowing each other’s worlds and being co-located with each other 
and particularly the strengths-based training was a really important part of their 
journey. It really strikes me about some of the things that the team leaders were 
saying that were, kind of, district nursing by background, at the time, about 
how much of a difference it had made to them working with social workers and 
understanding the approach that they took to managing user need that was very, 
very different from a health need. I think that was a real turning point around how 
some of the health staff really started to change their perspective on how they 
managed their interactions with people.

Page 134



Annex: Case studies and their population health journeys� 59

Population health in Greater Manchester

 5 1  2  3 4  8 6  7

The experience of the Covid-19 pandemic

The Covid-19 pandemic was described as an ‘accelerant’ to the population health 
journey and partnership working towards it in Bury. As one senior leader noted: 

…it [the pandemic] raised the profile of directors of public health, and the way that 
we work collaboratively. Through Covid-19, it became a real true collaborative 
effort and that’s [how] the ‘Locally led, Greater Manchester enabled and nationally 
supported’ kind of language/phrase really developed… so we all started working as 
one in a way that we hadn’t previously.

The experience of the pandemic also brought into sharp focus the relationship 
between economic growth and health – the idea that ‘what’s best for people’s 
health tends to be best for the economy as well’.

The future for Bury – the impact of the changing architecture

Senior leaders in Bury described high levels of collaboration between the borough 
and the Greater Manchester Combined Authority, collaboration that has grown and 
developed over time. System leaders in Bury referred to it as a system of 10+1 – 
the 10 boroughs plus the Greater Manchester Combined Authority. Underpinning 
this collaboration is a high level of autonomy, trust and permission at a local level: 

…when we had a GM mayor, that was really strong that local authorities are 
autonomous, and each local authority held onto its own local autonomy, but agreed 
to collaborate. And that’s how GMCA [Greater Manchester Combined Authority] 
came about, building on the association of Greater Manchester Authority.

However, there was a sense that, with the formation of the ICS, the balance of 
power/autonomy had become less clear and that this was something that needed 
to be worked through. 

Within local government, they’d had quite a history of working in that way, whereas 
I think before, I think now because we’re going through this thing of the formation 
of the ICS, which is a single GM, yeah, that’s still being worked through as to, well, 
what gets devolved to the locality, what gets done once at GM… in some ways the 
formation of, like the ICS… kind of threw a spanner in the works, because we were 
kind of already doing it. 

Overall, there was optimism about the future, and the continued commitment to 
the GM ‘ways of working’: ‘Locally led, GM enabled, nationally supported.’

Page 135



Annex: Case studies and their population health journeys� 60

Population health in Greater Manchester

 5 1  2  3 4  8 6  7

The city of Manchester – the story so far 

The city of Manchester is a populous city in the central part of GM. Its total 
population as of 2021 is 551,938. Manchester has a considerably younger 
population compared with other GM districts (91.2% of residents are aged 
under 65). Of the lower super output areas (LSOAs) in Manchester, 43% are 
within the 10% most deprived LSOAs in England, making Manchester the most 
deprived of the 10 GM boroughs (Manchester City Council 2019). Life expectancy 
in Manchester is 74.8 years (The University of Manchester 2016), 74 years for men 
and 79 years for women – this is around five years and four years younger than 
the average for England respectively (79.4 and 83.1 respectively) (Manchester City 
Council 2022). Manchester was selected as a case study site for its demographics, its 
challenges and its approach to active learning (particularly from other city regions 
beyond GM) and developing its population health approach.

What defines the Manchester population health approach?

Manchester has a long history in its work and focus on health inequalities, in what 
senior leaders referred to as a ‘relentless focus’. However, we also heard how this 
approach had only been ‘owned’ by the ‘wider system’ over the past few years. 
Manchester has had a Population Health Plan since 2018, which is a 10-year plan 
for the city. We heard how the plan had been ‘really well received’, with high levels 
of engagement and ownership across the system partnership – particularly aided 
by the Health and Wellbeing Board. This broader system ‘ownership of health 
inequalities’ has been integral in Manchester to making ‘population health happen’. 
Building on the momentum of the city’s 2018 Population Health Plan, senior 
leaders were able to shape a borough-based plan following Sir Michael Marmot’s 
review: Build back fairer in GM: health equity and dignified lives (Marmot et al 2021). In 
2022, the city launched ‘Making Manchester Fairer (MMF)’, a five-year strategy to 
tackle health inequalities through the social determinants of health. Senior leaders 
spoke passionately about the strategy and the level of leadership (partnership) 
engagement and ownership for achieving the aims of the strategy as a key enabler 
to a population health approach in Manchester. 

From my experience within the city, I’ve never known a programme [Making 
Manchester Fairer] so widely owned by the right people at the top, [including] the  

Page 136

http://www.manchester.gov.uk/downloads/download/414/deprivation_reports
https://research.manchester.ac.uk/en/impacts/life-expectancy-research-and-map
https://democracy.manchester.gov.uk/documents/s34506/104318%20Marmot%20Report_Building%20Back%20Fairer%20in%20Manchester_V8.pdf
https://democracy.manchester.gov.uk/documents/s34506/104318%20Marmot%20Report_Building%20Back%20Fairer%20in%20Manchester_V8.pdf
https://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/build-back-fairer-in-greater-manchester-health-equity-and-dignified-lives


Annex: Case studies and their population health journeys� 61

Population health in Greater Manchester

 5 1  2  3 4  8 6  7

leader of the Council, the Health and Wellbeing Board [and the] Manchester 
Partnership Board, which is our locality board, as part of our new integrated care 
system arrangement. All key organisations are really… have bought into the Making 
Manchester Fairer programme and plan. 

Making Manchester Fairer is a really good example of how partners and systems 
have come together and everybody’s signed up. And really signed up to it. And it’s a 
key strategy for the city of Manchester, it’s not a, you know, it’s not a local authority 
strategy or a health strategy or another strategy – it’s owned by the system and 
I think that’s really positive and everybody can get behind it. And it’s, you know, 
everybody wants a piece of it, so we have to be… say to people, you know, ‘you’ll 
have to wait to get your turn’, almost. So that’s a real positive I think. And I think 
we’re in a more mature place for that to be able to happen.

I think Making Manchester Fairer is landing so well as a raw programme that 
everyone can get behind. Every corporate department of the Council, our NHS 
anchor institutions, our VCS, it just feels different to things we’ve done in the past – 
where people have said ‘oh this is good, this is really good’ but not put in the  
resource or effort.

Partnership working

Manchester has a good level of partnership working that has been developing over 
the past five years. Senior leaders pointed to the formation of the Manchester 
Local Care Organisation on 1 April 2018 (Manchester Local Care Organisation 2018) 
as a pivotal moment in bringing together partners from across the NHS and the 
local authority to commission services jointly (pre-ICS). Furthermore, it was clear 
through our conversations how partners have come together to work towards the 
key strategy for the city – Making Manchester Fairer. Senior leaders referred to 
the system as ‘fairly mature’ to enable partnership working. This maturity not only 
enables system working but also allows partners to challenge and test the whole 
system when data about progress/outcomes is reflected back to them. 

Page 137

https://www.manchesterlco.org/about-us/


Annex: Case studies and their population health journeys� 62

Population health in Greater Manchester

 5 1  2  3 4  8 6  7

The experience of the Covid-19 pandemic

The pandemic experience has had a long-lasting and deep impact on Manchester. 
Senior leaders told us about the positive impact the pandemic had had on bringing 
partners together for a co-ordinated response to the emergency. We heard how  
relationships improved and grew following this, and how they have been sustained 
beyond the emergency response to continue building a system within a population 
health framework or model. Additionally, we heard how the pandemic had acted  
as a catalyst for greater community engagement and involvement in the population 
health approach in Manchester. This started as an engagement project to improve 
Covid-19 vaccination rates and overcome some of the trust issues with certain 
population groups in the city. This led to the city developing a vaccination outreach  
programme alongside the establishment of ‘sounding boards’, made up of 
community leaders, faith leaders and others, who came together to be a sounding 
board for ideas about what the challenges were and how to increase vaccination 
uptake in different communities. Senior leaders told us that the sounding boards 
were not listening boards, with participants being encouraged to be active in the 
development of solutions. Following the pandemic, the city has maintained and 
expanded the sounding boards under the umbrella term Community Health Equity 
Manchester (CHEN). 

The future for Manchester – the impact of the changing architecture

The pathway towards strong partnership working in Manchester has been in 
development for the past 20+ years, particularly between the NHS and the Council. 
These relationships were strengthened during what was referred to as the ‘CCG 
era’ – where the city created the Manchester Health and Care Commissioning 
Group – a partnership between the Clinical Commissioning Group and the Council. 
Having the director of public health as a member of the executive group of the 
Clinical Commissioning Group was seen as a key enabler in maintaining a focus on 
a population health model and framework in Manchester. Within this framework, 
Manchester established a Local Care Organisation as a formal partnership between 
adult social care services and community health services. At the time of writing, 
the director of public health was the deputy place lead for the Manchester Locality 
Team (reporting to the Integrated Care Board). Senior leaders felt that the director 
of public health having an executive role on the Council as well as within the place 
leadership team was as an important lever in keeping population health at the 
forefront of the city’s approach/strategy. 

Page 138



Annex: Case studies and their population health journeys� 63

Population health in Greater Manchester

 5 1  2  3 4  8 6  7

Under the previous arrangements (particularly through the Clinical Commissioning 
Group) we heard how the public health team was able to protect public health/
prevention budgets from cuts to resources seen elsewhere in England. Having a 
leadership role for public health on the Clinical Commissioning Group helped keep 
the resourcing at a reasonable level, and senior leaders were keen to continue 
with that joint integration – given the changes to governance following the 
establishment of the ICS. Within this context, some leaders expressed concern 
that the pace of change and changes to governance could mean a shift in levels 
of ‘permission and trust’ between place and the Integrated Care Board/Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority.

Stockport – the story so far 

Stockport is a metropolitan district, which sits in the southern part of GM and has  
a predominantly urban population. According to the 2021 census, Stockport has  
a population of almost 294,800 people, with 61% of residents of working age  
(aged 16–64), and a growing ageing population, with 20.1% of all residents aged 
65 and over. Average life expectancy in Stockport is 78.9 years for men and 
83.3 years for women (compared with the England average of 79.4 and 83.1 
respectively). However, life expectancy for men and women in the most deprived 
areas of Stockport drops to 73.6 years and 77.9 years respectively. Healthy life 
expectancy is just over 62 and 65 years respectively for men and women (Stockport 
Metropolitan Council 2023). Stockport’s last Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 
(which is currently being updated) showed areas of severe deprivation, with 14% of 
the population living in the most deprived areas. However, the deprivation is not 
particularly widespread and 28% live in the least deprived areas, making Stockport 
notably polarised (Stockport Metropolitan Council, Healthwatch Stockport, NHS Stockport 
Clinical Commissioning Group 2016). We selected Stockport as a case study partly 
because partnership working and system maturity have been emerging and become 
more structured and integrated since the Covid-19 pandemic. 

What defines the Stockport population health system approach?

The population health system approach in Stockport has been a fundamental 
strategic approach. It was described as an organising principle, which sees ‘health 
and the whole of the population, rather than health care services and the people who 
turn up’. Senior leaders in Stockport have used the population health approach to 

Page 139

https://democracy.stockport.gov.uk/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=226607
https://democracy.stockport.gov.uk/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=226607
http://www.stockportjsna.org.uk/2016-jsna-analysis/socio-economic-trends/
http://www.stockportjsna.org.uk/2016-jsna-analysis/socio-economic-trends/


Annex: Case studies and their population health journeys� 64

Population health in Greater Manchester

 5 1  2  3 4  8 6  7

shift the narrative for all partners involved, away from the location of ‘health’ within 
health services, and towards a vision of ‘health’ as an encompassing term that focuses 
on improving the health of the population of Stockport. In doing so, senior leaders in 
Stockport have worked hard to shift the narrative about illness, morbidity and healthy 
life expectancy. This shift in the narrative towards a population health approach has 
been instrumental in bringing partners together across the whole system to find 
solutions. As one senior leader noted: 

You start to pull apart the fact that you see some behaviours which lead to chronic 
conditions being more common in different populations, in different parts of the 
borough and different parts of the conurbation. And I think that way of thinking 
really opens up the discussion about population health… And you suddenly start 
to realise, if we’re going to approach all of that as population health, then we 
really need to be thinking about all of those things that affect this, and we need 
all of those people round the table if we’re going to make a system that is going to 
address these things – rather than thinking that the hospital will, you know, or the, 
anything with an NHS badge on will definitely sort this out.

Partnership working

Senior leaders we interviewed felt there were high levels of trust and partnership 
working in Stockport. In particular, the population health model was a key enabler 
in bringing partners across the system together to address the issues affecting the 
population and developing collaborative solutions. 

The population health approach helped partners to come together ‘under one 
framework’ with a clear set of goals – taking them out of a more ‘fortress mentality’ 
approach to service development and delivery. Fundamentally, partners have come 
together with the understanding that the population’s health can only be improved 
by a system-wide response to the issues and that the health system is not going to 
‘fix’ health alone. Stockport has developed these relationships over time and set up 
partnership working involving the health and care system, public sector services, 
the voluntary and community sector, and the business community. 

Page 140



Annex: Case studies and their population health journeys� 65

Population health in Greater Manchester

 5 1  2  3 4  8 6  7

The experience of the Covid-19 pandemic

It was clear that, in many ways, the Covid-19 pandemic had been a catalyst to 
developing ‘really strong, unified relationships across the borough’. The experience 
of the pandemic enabled conversations among system partners as it exemplified 
the need for a co-ordinated response across all parts of society to aid recovery and 
build a resilient system for the future. As one senior leader noted: 

…there’s something about the experience of the pandemic which has exemplified 
this and, for us, it was the co-ordination across all areas of society that really aided 
the response. But it’s also enabled then, conversations across all areas of society 
about how important health is and, you know, people’s… it’s such a fundamental 
part of everybody’s daily life, you know, whether that be immediate or longer term, 
that it’s being able to open up conversations in a slightly different way.

The future for Stockport – the impact of the changing architecture

We asked participants for their views on the impact of the changing NHS 
architecture (with the new statutory bodies – ICSs – being established in July 2022) 
on the system approach to population health in Stockport. Generally, senior leaders 
felt that the changing architecture provided Stockport with more opportunities 
than challenges/risks. This was particularly seen as an opportunity for the NHS, as 
local government leaders are likely to bring ‘questions and scrutiny and interest and 
energy and creativity’ in a way that may not always be the case within the usual 
ways of working within the NHS (stymied by bureaucracy and central policy diktat). 
However, the new infrastructure/architecture poses a short-term challenge for 
the system.

…we have to find how all that fits in a melting pot of, then, a Greater Manchester 
infrastructure and a locality infrastructure, or borough infrastructure, and how 
those things all connect together. So there’s a short-term piece of, kind of, 
governance and functions and who does what where, that’s, kind of, in the midst, 
and in this very moment.

Participants felt that the Stockport system had a:

…less-developed infrastructure than some other areas of Greater Manchester 
who’d got further down the integrated route and then have had to, sort of, reframe 

Page 141



Annex: Case studies and their population health journeys� 66

Population health in Greater Manchester

 5 1  2  3 4  8 6  7

that now. And we’ve had less of that integrated work, in the, kind of, governance 
structures already existing, and so we had the opportunity to really… [build on the 
relationships built during the pandemic response].

Having fewer embedded governance structures in place before the establishment 
of the ICS meant that senior leaders could be more ‘creative’ when considering how 
to build their population health system. 

Looking towards the future, senior leaders in Stockport felt optimistic about the 
prospect of a place-based approach to population health going from strength to 
strength. One of the enablers for this place-based approach was having the chief 
executive of the local authority as the place lead. This was seen as a strength for 
the borough, because ‘they [the place lead, as chief executive of the local authority] 
really recognise this synergy, this connection, this opportunity’. Senior leaders 
stressed the importance of getting governance structures ‘right’ and seizing the 
opportunity for improving population health in doing so.

Page 142



References� 67

Population health in Greater Manchester

 5 1  2  3 4  8 6  7

References
Alderwick H (2022). ‘Understanding the impact of devolution in Greater Manchester on health’. 
Blog. The Health Foundation website. Available at: www.health.org.uk/news-and-comment/
blogs/understanding-the-impact-of-devolution-in-greater-manchester-on-health (accessed on 
22 August 2024).

Barrand C, Briggs A (2024). ‘Devolution in Greater Manchester: findings from a major study’. 
Blog. The Health Foundation website. Available at: www.health.org.uk/news-and-comment/
blogs/devolution-in-greater-manchester-findings-from-a-major-study (accessed on 22 August 
2024). 

Baylis A, Buck D (2019). The role of cities in improving population health: Greater Manchester. 
London: The King’s Fund.

Britteon P, Fatimah A, Gillibrand S, Lau Y-S, Anselmi L, Wilson P, Sutton M, Turner AJ (2024). 
‘The impact of devolution on local health systems: evidence from Greater Manchester, England’. 
Social Science & Medicine, vol 348, 116801. Available at: www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/
pii/S0277953624002454 (accessed on 13 September 2024).

Britteon P, Fatimah A, Lau Y-S, Anselmi L, Turner AJ, Gillibrand S, Wilson P, Checkland K, 
Sutton M (2022). ‘The effect of devolution on health: a generalised synthetic control analysis of 
Greater Manchester, England’. The Lancet Public Health, vol 7, no 10, pp e844–e852. Available at:  
www.thelancet.com/journals/lanpub/article/PIIS2468-2667(22)00198-0/fulltext (accessed on 
13 September 2024).

Buck D (2024a). ‘Are integrated care systems making progress on tackling health inequalities?’. 
Blog. The King’s Fund website. Available at: www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/blogs/
integrated-care-systems-tackling-health-inequalities (accessed on 22 August 2024).

Buck D (2024b). ‘Mission possible? The government’s overarching goal for reducing inequalities 
in healthy life expectancy’. Blog. The King’s Fund website. Available at: www.kingsfund.org.uk/
insight-and-analysis/blogs/governments-reducing-inequalities-healthy-life-expectancy (accessed 
on 22 August 2024).

Buck D, Tiratelli L, Gowar C (2024). Public health and population health: leading together [online]. 
The King’s Fund website. Available at: www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/reports/public-
population-health-leading-together (accessed on 8 October 2024).

Page 143

https://www.health.org.uk/news-and-comment/blogs/understanding-the-impact-of-devolution-in-greater-manchester-on-health
https://www.health.org.uk/news-and-comment/blogs/understanding-the-impact-of-devolution-in-greater-manchester-on-health
https://www.health.org.uk/news-and-comment/blogs/devolution-in-greater-manchester-findings-from-a-major-study
https://www.health.org.uk/news-and-comment/blogs/devolution-in-greater-manchester-findings-from-a-major-study
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0277953624002454
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0277953624002454
https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lanpub/article/PIIS2468-2667(22)00198-0/fulltext
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/blogs/integrated-care-systems-tackling-health-inequalities
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/blogs/integrated-care-systems-tackling-health-inequalities
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/blogs/governments-reducing-inequalities-healthy-life-expectancy
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/blogs/governments-reducing-inequalities-healthy-life-expectancy
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/reports/public-population-health-leading-together
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/reports/public-population-health-leading-together


References� 68

Population health in Greater Manchester

 5 1  2  3 4  8 6  7

Buck D, Baylis A, Dougall D, Robertson R (2018). A vision for population health: towards a healthier 
future [online]. The King’s Fund website. Available at: www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/
reports/vision-population-health (accessed on 4 September 2024).

Bury Council (2020). Let’s Do It! Strategy [online]. Bury Council website. Available at:  
www.bury.gov.uk/my-neighbourhood/lets-do-it-strategy (accessed on 4 September 2024).

Dunhill L (2023). ‘“Muddle, frustration and distrust” at “most mature” ICS’. Health Service Journal, 
1 June. Available at: www.hsj.co.uk/greater-manchester-ics/muddle-frustration-and-distrust-at-
most-mature-ics/7034906.article (accessed on 22 August 2024).

Du Plessis R, Milton BS, Barr B (2019). ‘Devolution and the regional health divide: a longitudinal 
ecological study of 14 countries in Europe’. Journal of Public Health, vol 41, no 1, pp 3–9.

Francis-Oliviero F, Cambon L, Wittwer J, Marmot M, Alla F (2020) ‘Theoretical and practical 
challenges of proportionate universalism: a review’. Rev Panam Salud Publica, vol 44, e110. 
Available at: https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/52799 (accessed on 13 September 2024).

Future Generations Commissioner for Wales (undated). ‘Acting today for a better tomorrow’. 
Future Generations Commissioner for Wales website. Available at: www.futuregenerations.wales 
(accessed on 4 September 2024).

Goodwin TL, Eyres T, Tiratelli L, Buck D, Ataderie G (2024 forthcoming). Tackling health 
inequalities through English devolution: Towards a new framework. Centre for Local Economic 
Strategies and The King’s Fund. Available at: https://cles.org.uk/publications/

Greater Manchester Combined Authority (2024). The state of ageing in Manchester [online].  
Greater Manchester Combined Authority website. Available at: www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/ 
what-we-do/ageing/evidence (accessed on 4 September 2024).

Greater Manchester Combined Authority (2023). Census 2021 briefing: children and young people 
[online]. Greater Manchester Combined Authority website. Available at: www.greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/research/census-2021-greater-manchester-topic-briefings/children-and-
young-people (accessed on 16 September 2024).

Greater Manchester Combined Authority (2019). The Greater Manchester model: our white 
paper on unified public services for the people of Greater Manchester [online]. Greater Manchester 
Combined Authority website. Available at: www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/
greater-manchester-strategy (accessed on 4 September 2024).

Greater Manchester Combined Authority (2018). Explaining devolution for Greater Manchester 
[online]. Greater Manchester Combined Authority website. Available at: www.local.gov.uk/
search/all/explaining%2Bdevolution%2Bfor%2Bgreater%2Bmanchester (accessed on 4 September 
2024).

Page 144

http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/reports/vision-population-health
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/reports/vision-population-health
http://www.bury.gov.uk/my-neighbourhood/lets-do-it-strategy
https://www.hsj.co.uk/greater-manchester-ics/muddle-frustration-and-distrust-at-most-mature-ics/7034906.article
https://www.hsj.co.uk/greater-manchester-ics/muddle-frustration-and-distrust-at-most-mature-ics/7034906.article
https://iris.paho.org/handle/10665.2/52799
http://www.futuregenerations.wales
https://cles.org.uk/publications/
http://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/ageing/evidence
http://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/ageing/evidence
http://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/research/census-2021-greater-manchester-topic-briefings/children-and-young-people
http://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/research/census-2021-greater-manchester-topic-briefings/children-and-young-people
http://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/research/census-2021-greater-manchester-topic-briefings/children-and-young-people
http://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/greater-manchester-strategy
http://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/greater-manchester-strategy
http://www.local.gov.uk/search/all/explaining%2Bdevolution%2Bfor%2Bgreater%2Bmanchester
http://www.local.gov.uk/search/all/explaining%2Bdevolution%2Bfor%2Bgreater%2Bmanchester


References� 69

Population health in Greater Manchester

 5 1  2  3 4  8 6  7

Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership (2022). Transforming the health of our 
population: progress and next steps [online]. Greater Manchester Integrated Care Partnership 
website. Available at: https://gmintegratedcare.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/gmhscp-
population-health-plan-final-1.pdf (accessed on 22 August 2024).

Greater Manchester Independent Prosperity Review (2018). The emerging impact of devolution: 
background paper [online]. Greater Manchester Combined Authority website. Available at:  
www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/economy/greater-manchester-independent-
prosperity-review/ipr-2019-the-commission (accessed on 22 August 2024).

Greater Manchester Integrated Care Partnership (2024). ‘Welcome to the Fairer Health for All 
Academy’. Fairer Health for All website. Available at: https://fairerhealthacademy.gmtableau.nhs.
uk (accessed on 27 August 2024).

Greater Manchester Integrated Care Partnership (2023). Fairer Health For All: framework for 
delivery – engagement draft [online]. Greater Manchester Integrated Care Partnership website. 
Available at: https://fairerhealthacademy.gmtableau.nhs.uk (accessed on 13 September 2024).

Greater Manchester Integrated Care Partnership (undated). ‘Population health model: a 
comprehensive, whole system population health approach’. Fairer Health for All Academy 
website. Available at: https://fairerhealthacademy.gmtableau.nhs.uk/population-health-model 
(accessed on 11 September 2024).

Hewitt P (2023). The Hewitt review: an independent review of integrated care systems [online]. 
GOV.UK website. Available at: www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-hewitt-review-an-
independent-review-of-integrated-care-systems (accessed on 4 September 2024).

HM Treasury (2015). Spending review and autumn statement 2015 [online]. GOV.UK website. 
Available at: www.gov.uk/government/publications/spending-review-and-autumn-statement-
2015-documents (accessed on 4 September 2024).

Holmes J (2022). ‘What is a population health approach?’. Long read. The King’s Fund website. 
Available at: www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/long-reads/population-health-approach 
(accessed on 3 September 2024).

Labour (2024). Change: Labour Party manifesto 2024. Labour website. Available at:  
https://labour.org.uk/change (accessed on 5 September 2024).

Manchester City Council (2022). Building back fairer: tackling health inequalities in Manchester 
2022–2027. Manchester City Council website. Available at: https://democracy.manchester.gov.uk/ 
documents/s34506/104318%20Marmot%20Report_Building%20Back%20Fairer%20in%20
Manchester_V8.pdf (accessed on 29 August 2024).

Page 145

https://gmintegratedcare.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/gmhscp-population-health-plan-final-1.pdf
https://gmintegratedcare.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/gmhscp-population-health-plan-final-1.pdf
http://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/economy/greater-manchester-independent-prosperity-review/ipr-2019-the-commission
http://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/economy/greater-manchester-independent-prosperity-review/ipr-2019-the-commission
https://fairerhealthacademy.gmtableau.nhs.uk
https://fairerhealthacademy.gmtableau.nhs.uk
https://fairerhealthacademy.gmtableau.nhs.uk/
https://fairerhealthacademy.gmtableau.nhs.uk/population-health-model
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-hewitt-review-an-independent-review-of-integrated-care-systems
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-hewitt-review-an-independent-review-of-integrated-care-systems
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/spending-review-and-autumn-statement-2015-documents
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/spending-review-and-autumn-statement-2015-documents
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/long-reads/population-health-approach
https://labour.org.uk/change
https://democracy.manchester.gov.uk/documents/s34506/104318%20Marmot%20Report_Building%20Back%20Fairer%20in%20Manchester_V8.pdf
https://democracy.manchester.gov.uk/documents/s34506/104318%20Marmot%20Report_Building%20Back%20Fairer%20in%20Manchester_V8.pdf
https://democracy.manchester.gov.uk/documents/s34506/104318%20Marmot%20Report_Building%20Back%20Fairer%20in%20Manchester_V8.pdf


References� 70

Population health in Greater Manchester

 5 1  2  3 4  8 6  7

Manchester City Council (2019). Indices of deprivation 2019 [online]. Manchester City Council 
website. Available at: www.manchester.gov.uk/downloads/download/414/deprivation_reports 
(accessed on 4 September 2024).

Manchester City Council (undated a). ‘Making Manchester Fairer’. Manchester City Council 
website. Available at: www.manchester.gov.uk/makingmanchesterfairer (accessed on 
5 September 2024).

Manchester City Council (undated b). ‘Manchester Partnership Board: committee details’. 
Manchester City Council website. Available at: https://democracy.manchester.gov.uk/
mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=391 (accessed on 16 September 2024).

Manchester Local Care Organisation (2018). ‘About us’. Manchester Local Care Organisation 
website. Available at: www.manchesterlco.org/about-us (accessed on 29 August 2024).

Marmot M, Allen J, Boyce T, Goldblatt P, Morrison J (2021). Build back fairer in Greater 
Manchester: health equity and dignified lives [online]. Institute of Health Equity website. Available 
at: www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/build-back-fairer-in-greater-manchester-
health-equity-and-dignified-lives (accessed on 4 September 2024).

Naylor C, Buck D (2018). The role of cities in improving population health: international insights 
[online]. The King’s Fund website. Available at: www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/
reports/cities-population-health (accessed on 4 September 2024).

Naylor C, Wellings D (2019). A citizen-led approach to health and care: lessons from the Wigan 
Deal [online]. The King’s Fund website. Available at: www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/
reports/wigan-deal (accessed on 4 September 2024).

NHS England (2024). ‘What are integrated care systems?’. NHS England website. Available at: 
www.england.nhs.uk/integratedcare/what-is-integrated-care (accessed on 22 August 2024).

NHS England (2019). The NHS Long Term Plan [online]. NHS England website. Available at:  
www.longtermplan.nhs.uk (accessed on 5 September 2024).

Papanicolas I, Rajan D, Karanikolos M, Soucat A, Figueras J (2022). Health system performance 
assessment: a framework for policy analysis [online]. World Health Organization website. Available 
at: https://eurohealthobservatory.who.int/publications/i/health-system-performance-assessment-
a-framework-for-policy-analysis (accessed on 13 September 2024).

Social Care Institute for Excellence (undated). ‘Strengths-based approaches (SBA)’. Social Care 
Institute for Excellence website. Available at: www.scie.org.uk/strengths-based-approaches 
(accessed on 5 September 2024).

Page 146

http://www.manchester.gov.uk/downloads/download/414/deprivation_reports
http://www.manchester.gov.uk/makingmanchesterfairer
https://democracy.manchester.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=391
https://democracy.manchester.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=391
https://www.manchesterlco.org/about-us/
https://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/build-back-fairer-in-greater-manchester-health-equity-and-dignified-lives
https://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/build-back-fairer-in-greater-manchester-health-equity-and-dignified-lives
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/reports/cities-population-health
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/reports/cities-population-health
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/reports/wigan-deal
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/reports/wigan-deal
https://www.england.nhs.uk/integratedcare/what-is-integrated-care/
http://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk
https://eurohealthobservatory.who.int/publications/i/health-system-performance-assessment-a-framework-for-policy-analysis
https://eurohealthobservatory.who.int/publications/i/health-system-performance-assessment-a-framework-for-policy-analysis
http://www.scie.org.uk/strengths-based-approaches


References� 71

Population health in Greater Manchester

 5 1  2  3 4  8 6  7

Stockport Metropolitan Council (2023). State of the borough report: business intelligence [online]. 
Stockport Metropolitan Council website. Available at: https://democracy.stockport.gov.uk/
mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=226607 (accessed on 22 August 2024).

Stockport Metropolitan Council, Healthwatch Stockport, NHS Stockport Clinical Commissioning 
Group (2016). ‘Socio-economic trends’. Stockport JSNA website. Available at: www.stockport 
jsna.org.uk/2016-jsna-analysis/socio-economic-trends (accessed on 22 August 2024).

The Bury Directory (undated). ‘The Bury Directory’. The Bury Directory website. Available at: 
https://theburydirectory.co.uk (accessed on 16 September 2024).

The Health Foundation (2021). ‘What is an anchor institution?’. The Health Foundation website. 
Available at: www.health.org.uk/funding-and-partnerships/our-partnerships/health-anchors-
learning-network (accessed on 22 August 2024).

The Health Foundation (undated). ‘Regional devolution and health inequalities’. The Health 
Foundation website. Available at: www.health.org.uk/funding-and-partnerships/projects/regional-
devolution-and-health-inequalities (accessed on 22 August 2024).

The University of Manchester (2016). ‘Life expectancy research and map’. The University of 
Manchester website. Available at: https://research.manchester.ac.uk/en/impacts/life-expectancy-
research-and-map (accessed on 29 August 2024).

Walshe K, Lorne C, Coleman A, McDonald R, Turner A (2018). ‘Devolving health and social care: 
learning from Greater Manchester’. Alliance Manchester Business School website. Available at: 
www.alliancembs.manchester.ac.uk/news/devolving-health-and-social-care-learning-from-greater-
manchester (accessed on 22 August 2024).

Williams, E, Buck D, Babalola G, Maguire D (2022). ‘What are health inequalities?’ Long read. 
The King’s Fund website. Available at: www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/long-reads/
what-are-health-inequalities (accessed on 11 September 2024).

Wood M (2024). Prevention, population health and prosperity [online]. NHS Confederation 
website. Available at: www.nhsconfed.org/publications/prevention-population-prosperity-
devolution (accessed on 27 August 2024).

Page 147

https://democracy.stockport.gov.uk/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=226607
https://democracy.stockport.gov.uk/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=226607
http://www.stockportjsna.org.uk/2016-jsna-analysis/socio-economic-trends/
http://www.stockportjsna.org.uk/2016-jsna-analysis/socio-economic-trends/
https://theburydirectory.co.uk
https://www.health.org.uk/funding-and-partnerships/our-partnerships/health-anchors-learning-network
https://www.health.org.uk/funding-and-partnerships/our-partnerships/health-anchors-learning-network
https://www.health.org.uk/funding-and-partnerships/projects/regional-devolution-and-health-inequalities
https://www.health.org.uk/funding-and-partnerships/projects/regional-devolution-and-health-inequalities
https://research.manchester.ac.uk/en/impacts/life-expectancy-research-and-map
https://research.manchester.ac.uk/en/impacts/life-expectancy-research-and-map
https://www.alliancembs.manchester.ac.uk/news/devolving-health-and-social-care-learning-from-greater-manchester/
https://www.alliancembs.manchester.ac.uk/news/devolving-health-and-social-care-learning-from-greater-manchester/
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/long-reads/what-are-health-inequalities
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/long-reads/what-are-health-inequalities
https://www.nhsconfed.org/publications/prevention-population-prosperity-devolution
https://www.nhsconfed.org/publications/prevention-population-prosperity-devolution


Acknowledgements� 72

Population health in Greater Manchester

 5 1  2  3 4  8 6  7

Acknowledgements
We would like to acknowledge all those who have helped us with this work, 
although the views expressed in this report and any errors are those of the 
authors alone. Our thanks go to: Jane Pilkington, Director of Population Health, 
NHS Greater Manchester, who commissioned this piece of work, and has been 
a long-time champion for the health of the people of Manchester; the GM 
Population Health Leadership group, including its chair, Helen Gollins, Director 
of Public Health, Trafford Borough Council; Warren Heppolette, Chief Officer 
for Strategy, Population Health and Innovation, NHS Greater Manchester; the 
Population Health Committee and its chair, Rachel Egan, Non-Executive Director, 
NHS Greater Manchester; Sarah Price, Director of Public Health, NHS England; 
Andrew Furber, Regional Director of Public Health (North West England), Office 
for Health Improvement and Disparities, Department of Health and Social Care 
and NHS England; Charles Kwaku-Odoi, Chief Executive, Caribbean & African 
Health Network (CAHN); Liz Windsor-Welsh, Chief Executive, Action Together; 
Hashum Mahmood, Senior Policy Adviser, NHS Confederation; all those in Bury, 
Manchester and Stockport who we interviewed and held conversations with 
and who provided material and comments, with particular thanks to the three 
Directors of Public Health at the time of our research who co-ordinated locality 
contributions – Jennifer Connolly (Stockport), Lesley Jones (Bury) and David 
Regan (Manchester); Alex Baylis, Andrew McCracken and Communications 
department colleagues at The King’s Fund; and Ros West, Alison Davies and Tanuj 
Aggarwal, for supporting the smooth running of the project at The King’s Fund 
and Greater Manchester respectively.

Page 148



About the authors� 73

Population health in Greater Manchester

 5 1  2  3 4  8 6  7

About the authors
David Buck is a Senior Fellow in public health and health inequalities in the Policy 
team at The King’s Fund. He has worked on many areas, including: the role of cities 
and regions in population health and health inequality reduction, an assessment of 
the local government public health reforms, the role of health and care services in 
responding to poverty and leadership in public health and population health. He is 
co-author of The King’s Fund report A vision for population health. 

Before joining The King’s Fund, David worked at the Department of Health as 
deputy director for health inequalities. He managed the Labour government’s 
targets on health inequalities and the independent Marmot review of inequalities 
in health. While in the Department he worked on many policy areas – including 
diabetes, long-term conditions, dental health, waiting times, the pharmaceutical 
industry, childhood obesity, and choice and competition – as an economic and 
strategy adviser. He has also worked at Guy’s Hospital, King’s College London and 
the Centre for Health Economics in York, where his focus was on the economics of 
public health and behaviours and incentives.

Joni Jabbal is a Senior Researcher in the Policy team at The King’s Fund. Joni 
contributes to the Fund’s research and analysis on health and social care policy 
and practice. Her recent work includes projects on workforce planning, patient 
experience, digital inclusion in health and care, and health inequalities. 

Joni has a particular interest in incentives and behavioural outcomes in health care 
settings. Before joining The King’s Fund in 2013, Joni worked at the Royal College 
of Physicians, focusing on the impact of the NHS reforms, developing new models 
of urgent and emergency care services, and leading the college’s public health work.

Joni has an MSc in comparative social policy from the University of Oxford.

Safya Benniche is a Global Mental Health MSc graduate with an interest in social 
determinants of health and health inequalities. She has conducted research for 
children’s rights NGOs, and worked on the Paediatrics 2040 project at the Royal 

Page 149



About the authors� 74

Population health in Greater Manchester

 5 1  2  3 4  8 6  7

College of Paediatrics and Child Health. She has experience in writing literature 
reviews and in collecting and analysing qualitative data. Safya assisted with the 
recruitment of participants and project management, and supported the research 
team with analysis.

Page 150



Population health in Greater Manchester

The King’s Fund is an independent charity working to improve health and 
care in England. We help to shape policy and practice through research 
and analysis; develop individuals, teams and organisations; promote 
understanding of the health and social care system; and bring people 
together to learn, share knowledge and debate. Our vision is that the 
best possible health and care is available to all.

www.kingsfund.org.uk   @thekingsfund

 5 1  2  3 4  8 6  7

Published by
The King’s Fund
11–13 Cavendish Square
London W1G 0AN
Tel: 020 7307 2568

Email:  
publications@kingsfund.org.uk

www.kingsfund.org.uk

© The King’s Fund 2024

First published 2024 
by The King’s Fund

Charity registration number: 
1126980

All rights reserved, including the 
right of reproduction in whole or 
in part in any form

ISBN: 978 1 915303 21 9

A catalogue record for this 
publication is available from 
the British Library

Edited by Rowena Mayhew

Typeset by  
Grasshopper Design Company,  
www.grasshopperdesign.net

Page 151

http://www.kingsfund.org.uk
https://twitter.com/thekingsfund?lang=en
mailto:publications%40kingsfund.org.uk?subject=
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk
http://www.grasshopperdesign.net


The King’s Fund
11–13 Cavendish Square
London W1G 0AN
Tel: 020 7307 2568

Charity registration number: 1126980

www.kingsfund.org.uk

Page 152

http://www.kingsfund.org.uk

	Agenda
	4 Minutes of previous meeting
	6a GM Population Health Model
	7a Anti-poverty Evaluation
	7b Drug and alcohol related harm plans
	7c Update on smoking legislation
	8a Bury Homeless Partnership
	Bury Homelessness Strategy 2022 to 2025 - Appendix

	10 GM Population Health Board Feedback
	About this project
	Key messages
	￼ Introduction
	Structure of the rest of this report

	￼ Our approach to this research
	￼ Key concepts: devolution and population health 
	What is devolution?
	What is population health?

	￼ Devolution and developing a population health approach in GM, 2015–19
	Developing a population health approach, 2015–19
	An early assessment of GM’s progress on population health in 2019
	The development of the GM population health model
	The impact on population health in GM

	￼ The ‘how’ of developing a population health approach in GM
	Our approach
	Place: where population health happens
	The key enablers for sustaining a population health approach 

	￼ Where is GM’s approach to population health now? 
	The development of integrated care systems – towards population health?
	Becoming an ICS 
	Financial and other challenges to GM’s progress on population health

	￼ Staying the course in GM
	Meeting the financial challenges through population health
	An honest assessment: a journey that is not finished

	￼ Lessons and recommendations
	Recommendations for the government
	Recommendations for the Department of Health and Social Care and NHS England 
	Recommendations for other systems pursuing population health approaches
	Annex: Case studies and their population health journeys
	References
	Acknowledgements
	About the authors





